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OPERATIONS OF THE CONGRESS: TESTIMONY
OF HON. ROBERT C. BYRD, HON. CHRISTO-
PHER S. BOND, HON. CHARLES E. GRASSLEY,
AND HON. HANK BROWN

TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 2, 1993

U.S. Congress,
Joint Committee on the Organization of Congress,

Washington, DC.

The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 2:12 p.m. in room 106,

Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. David Boren (co-chairman of

the committee) presiding.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DAVID L. BOREN, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA

Chairman Boren. I think we'll proceed. Let me apologize to our

guest today, the distinguished President Pro Tempore of the

Senate. The conference lunches are going a little long today be-

cause the President is a special guest at the Democratic Senate

luncheon today, so they are a bit behind schedule and the other

meetings have gone a little long, so some of our colleagues are not

yet here. But I don't want to continue to detain Senator Byrd, so

I'd like for us to begin.
Let me say that, of course, this is a Joint Committee of both

Houses. It is a bipartisan committee with representation from both

sides of the aisle in equal numbers. We have a co-chair from each

House, Congressman Hamilton serving as the chair from the House

side; I have the privilege to serve as the chair from the Senate side.

We have two vice chairs, Senator Domenici from New Mexico, who
is the Republican vice chair on the Senate side, and Congressman
David Dreier from California, who now serves as the vice chair on
the House side.

I mention that because, as we all know, our distinguished vice

chairman who began with this committee has now left the House,
and Congressman Dreier has been named by the leadership to

become our vice chair. Let me say I look forward to working with

him. This is indeed a bipartisan challenge that we face. It is an
American challenge, and we intend as best we can to do it together
and in that spirit.

So, Congressman Dreier, we are very pleased to welcome you offi-

cially today on your first day as co-vice chair of this Joint Commit-
tee of the House and the Senate.

(l)



OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DAVID DREIER, A U.S.

REPRESENTATIVE FROM CALIFORNIA

Mr. Dreier. Well, thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. Let me
say, as I did the other day, that it's going to be very difficult to fill

Bill Gradison's shoes, but it's a challenge I anxiously look forward
to dealing with.

I am pleased that you recognized the fact that I am from the
State of California. This week, I am proud to say, I am a Represent-
ative from Pasadena, CA, home of the Rose Bowl.

I do believe that as we look forward to these challenges, as Bill

Frenzel said before our committee last week, this clearly is the
most important committee in the Congress this year because the
American people and Members on both sides of the aisle in both
Houses of Congress want to bring about reform. Now, there are dif-

ferent ideas as to exactly what size and shape that reform should

take, but it is clear that the hue and cry is out there.

So I look forward to the challenge of working with my col-

leagues, and I anxiously look forward to the testimony today from
the President Pro Tempore of the U.S. Senate, Senator Byrd.
Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much.
I want to say that we are particularly pleased to have Senator

Byrd with us today. We had invited him to appear at our first day
of hearings, along with Speaker Foley and the majority and minori-

ty leaders of the two Houses. His schedule did not permit him to be
with us at that time.

I would say, Senator Byrd, that that was an historic occasion. I

believe that was the first time—and I hesitate to say this because I

am now addressing the greatest authority on the history of Con-

gress that is among the current membership—but I was told, at

least, that that was the first time that all the leadership, with the

exception of yourself as President Pro Tempore, had appeared
before a Joint Committee at a single hearing since Congress began.
So it was an historic occasion.

Senator Byrd, after service in the House of Representatives,
began his service in the U.S. Senate in 1959. He has, of course,
served in many capacities. He has served as whip. He has served as

majority leader of the U.S. Senate with great distinction. It was a

privilege for this Senator to come to the Senate during the time
that he was serving as our majority leader.

Let me say that in that capacity he played a very important
mentoring role to new Members, including myself, passing on to us
his commitment to public service, his sense of personal ethics and
integrity, and a real challenge to us to try to perform public service

in the highest tradition of this body, and a great respect for this

institution. I think if there is any person who made me feel strong-

ly that each of us who is privileged to serve in the Senate must
assume a responsibility to be trustees for this institution—which,
after all, belongs to the people, not to us—to do our part to be
trustees of the institution, to assure its health, to assure its contin-

ued vitality, to keep its best traditions, and to continue to seek

ways to improve it, Senator Byrd certainly had that impact on me,



and I'm sure he has had that impact upon many, many others who
have passed through that body.
After stepping down as majority leader he became President Pro

Tempore by virtue of having served longer than any other Senator
on the majority side of the aisle. Of course, at that time he also

became chairman of the Appropriations Committee of the Senate.
So he is uniquely qualified to give us a sense of perspective, as

well as a sense of his ideas about the directions that we should
take in terms of the work of this committee.
For several years Senator Byrd presented a series of lectures on

the history of Congress, and the history of the U.S. Senate in par-
ticular, on the Senate floor, later collected together in book form.

Many of us have had an opportunity to profit not only from hear-

ing the lectures, but also having a chance to reflect back upon
much of that material on the history of the Congress by Senator

Byrd.
So, Senator Byrd, we welcome you to this committee. I do want

you to know that I've already seen enough and heard enough from
my colleagues in both Houses and on both sides of the aisle and
from Members of this committee that we take our work very, very
seriously. We are truly committed to try to find the right path and
to make wise decisions and to come forward with constructive rec-

ommendations. We value your thoughts very much. I want you to

feel free to take whatever time you need to present your ideas to

us today, and we welcome you. It is a privilege to have you before
the Joint Committee.

STATEMENT OF HON. ROBERT C. BYRD, A U.S. SENATOR FROM
THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, AND SPEAKER PRO TEMPORE,
U.S. SENATE

Senator Byrd. Mr. Chairman, Members of the committee, thank
you very much for your introductory remarks, and also for your in-

vitation to appear before this committee. I welcome the opportuni-
ty to offer my perspective on the tasks that lie before this commit-
tee, and I shall address my remarks only to the operations of the

Senate, not the House of Representatives.
Last year was called by some the "year of the woman." Others

termed last year a "year of change." Be all that as it may, last

year was certainly the year of open season on Congress. Some of us
who have served here for some time, and all of us who take pride
in our accomplishments here on Capitol Hill, found ourselves won-
dering at the whirlwind of charges and attacks that descended on
our heads.
An historical given is that Marie Antoinette callously remarked

of the starving peasants of France, "If they have no bread, let them
eat cake." That Marie Antoinette ever said such a thing is very
doubtful. In his confessions, published 3 years before Marie Antoi-
nette ever set foot on French soil, Rousseau attributed that remark
to an anonymous person. Other historical researchers assert that
Rousseau was quoting the words of a fictional Italian countess,
taken from an 18th century novel.
Whatever the case, many who witnessed Marie Antoinette's be-

heading in 1793 believed that they were executing a woman who



had indeed uttered the words, "Let them eat cake," and that she

justly deserved beheading.
Guilty or not of crimes real or imagined, we in the Senate last

year found ourselves in a similar situation, charged with transgres-
sions that we did not commit by people thoroughly convinced of the

righteousness and the Tightness of their charges. This situation is a

reflection of popular attitudes rampant throughout the electorate

toward that branch of Government specifically charged by the Con-

stitution with most completely representing and serving the peo-

ple's interest, the Legislative Branch.

Regardless of public distortions of the image of Congress, we who
serve here realize that those distortions are echoes of genuine insti-

tutional problems on which these hearings are seeking to focus.

All of that aside, I believe that the primary problem is a root

problem plaguing the Senate today, what I would term the "frac-

tured attention" of Senators. Countless times, action on the Senate

floor has been slowed or delayed because Senators A, B, C, X, Y,
and Z simply were not in Washington. That absence was not, and
is not, because those Senators were off on vacation or taking their

leisure, necessarily. As the distinguished chairman of this commit-
tee knows too well, Senators are often forced to be elsewhere be-

cause of the need to raise once-unthinkable sums of money, money
essential for running for reelection. The only real solution to that

situation is to put a lid on the amount of money that can be spent
in running for a Senate seat.

Senator Boren has been a leader in the struggle to limit cam-

paign spending, and Senator Boren understands well the need to

enact campaign finance reform. I hope that with a new President

in office, 1993 will be the year for campaign finance reform. In my
view, the enactment of campaign finance reform would be the

single most important step that could be taken toward improving
the operation of the U.S. Senate and its standing in the hearts of

the people.
But I know that Senator Boren's purpose here is to focus on

other types of so-called reform—internal changes, if you will. How-
ever, as so happens in Washington, problems tend to be addressed

through tinkering with process. Over the past dozen years we have
seen the rise of process worship in Washington as a way to deal

with controversial problems: the balanced budget amendment; line

item veto; enhanced rescissions; expedited rescissions—all have
been advanced as automatic solutions to the dilemma of our budget
deficits. In fact, I believe that such process changes would be dam-

aging to the institution's Constitutional purpose and functions.

Further, I believe that relying on process fixes and quick fixes to

solve substantive questions has impeded careful thought and prob-

ing debate about workable solutions. This obsession with process
has also provided many Members with an easy way to avoid

making hard choices. Often, proponents of process fixes insist that

we in the Congress do not have the will to act, and thus we must
be forced to do our jobs responsibly by putting the place on auto-

matic pilot.
Not having the will to act is a buzz phrase that really means not

having the courage to make tough choices. In fact, one reason that

the hard choices are so difficult for Members of Congress is that



the groundwork for acceptance of such choices by the public is

rarely laid by extensive debate in the Congress. The less the Senate

publicly airs the great issues of the day, the more we leave an in-

formation vacuum that will be quickly and willingly filled by self-

serving interest groups, media hucksters, misinformation, cliches,

inane platitudes, and political demagoguery.
Here is the point. Until they are faced directly, problems are

never fixed. In a representative democracy, the people must face

issues and understand them before elected officials can responsibly
act to put into effect acceptable and workable solutions. That is one
reason that dictatorship has been attractive to frustrated citizen-

ries from time to time in the history of the world. Frustrated citi-

zens want action, instant action, on the problems that are frustrat-

ing them. In that passion, too often people have surrendered their

liberties for the sake of just doing something, anything, to solve the

problems.
In our system, the Senate's role as a deliberative body should be

to endeavor to help the people hear all sides so that consensus may
form; yet, as an institution the Senate is more and more ceasing to

perform that deliberative function. It is not the Senate that I once
knew. The Senate has lost its soul.

But the answer is not to be found in tinkering with the process
or in the pursuit of efficiency, whatever that means in this context.

The Senate was not intended to be efficient. Efficiency was not its

raison d'etre. In reality, the Senate will improve as an institution

only when individual Senators become more interested in once

again becoming full-time Senators.
Senators are not celebrities, no matter what we may think of

ourselves as we peer into the mirror. Senators are not movie stars,

and we oughtn't to want to be. Senators' concerns should not be
how many times they can appear on TV. How many of you Sena-
tors have declined invitations to appear on TV?
Moreover, no matter how brilliant they may be, individual Sena-

tors cannot know everything and should not wear too many hats.

All too many Senators have fallen prey to that trend. For a Sena-
tor to give proper time and attention to more than two major com-
mittee assignments is virtually impossible. It can't be done. In my
view, reducing the number of committee assignments that a Sena-
tor can hold to two—or to one— would be useful in the hope that a
Senator might become better focussed on the issues pertinent to his

major committee assignment.
In today's fast-forward world one observes an increasing tenden-

cy to knee-jerk, to take the easy way out, to skim the surface, to

garner only as much knowledge about an issue as is sufficient to

fill a two-paragraph press release. Many Senators have fallen into

this pattern. Indeed, the news media and the public in general
expect, even demand, that Senators be instant experts on any and

every subject. Like a stable of trained ponies, too many Senators

attempt to live up to those expectations and to run from issue to

issue, too often relying solely, or almost entirely, on the judgment
of staff and involving themselves only as a stereo speaker to broad-
cast a quoted line for the 6:00 p.m. newscast or the Sunday newspa-
per. Such a model of senatorship disintegrates into a vicious circle



of frenzied activity that fosters the fractured attention spans to

which I am referring, and little real debate on the Senate floor.

In the days of Webster, Clay, and Calhoun, an era in which the

galleries of the old Senate chamber were crowded to overflowing
with fashionable Washingtonians eager to listen to scintillating

brilliance, that sort of debate took time to prepare—time and

thought and commitment. But Senators, like most people, conduct

themselves today in ways that they perceive to be beneficial to

their interests. I am not sure that the Senators of today clearly

perceive time spent on the Senate floor, debating the issues of the

day, as the best way in which to use their always-limited time.

Senate debate is dying as a legislative art.

I believe that the Congress is held in low esteem today partially

because of this. Any more, one hears little Senate floor discussion

of the great issues of the day. Too often, to the casual observer,

Congress must seem somehow disconnected, irrelevant, distracted,

and self-absorbed.

If there is any one thing we should have learned from the Presi-

dential campaign last year, it is that people will listen to intelli-

gent explanations of matters that they perceive to be important to

themselves. Millions of people want to hear substantive views on

the Nation's problems. Ross Perot, a man derisively dismissed as

looking like a gerbil with a bad haircut, captured the attention of

millions of Americans with a series of "infomercials" that—predict-

ably, by Madison Avenue's wisdom—were nothing short of an in-

somniac's relief. Night after night, more millions followed the Pres-

idential candidates' debates as if they were a second World Series,

as in truth they were, and for many people, a first and only World
Series.

As a result of last fall's Presidential campaign we are a better

Nation because we are a Nation better informed on a number of

difficult issues. I believe that one of the chief responsibilities of

those of us in public life is to keep the citizens of this country
better informed on difficult, sometimes rending, issues—issues that

might demand genuine sacrifice and inconvenience if they are to

be adequately confronted, solved, or dealt with.

Debate on the Senate floor is one of the best ways to achieve that

goal. C-Span televises the floor proceedings of the Senate and the

House, and much could be achieved by a thorough, thoughtful,

week-by-week airing of our difficult national problems. More than

anything else, the American people need to be exposed to the com-

plexities of difficult issues in order that they may know that there

are no easy answers. The American people must understand that

sacrifice is sometimes necessary to achieve a greater good. Ameri-

can voters must be encouraged to examine facts for themselves so

that they will not succumb to the shovel-fed, misleading, or distort-

ed information too often served up by the news media and the pow-
erful lobbying interest groups, information that often runs counter

to the best interests of the very grass roots at which such misinfor-

mation is aimed.
In their own lives, American people need a better understanding

of complicated issues like health care, the deficit, tax policy, envi-

ronmental matters, education policies, and on and on, a necessary



understanding that will permit American citizens to make better

informed decisions in their own lives.

But the Senate cannot inform American citizens without exten-
sive debate on those very issues, and in the Senate, debate cannot
be had without debaters. Simply finding ways to expedite business
does not seem to me to address the Senate's problems. The Senate's

problem is that we no longer inspire and inform the public, or even
one another. Those of us who love the institution know that with-
out that public debate, without that informing deliberative func-

tion, the Senate as an institution will in a sense become irrelevant.

We can hold sessions only from 10:00 a.m. or 2:00 p.m. to 5:00 on

Tuesdays and Wednesdays; strike all the votes for the 6:00 p.m.
hour on one day of the week; speedily pass bills, and become a
model of "well-greased, efficient machinery." But the Senate will

no longer be the Senate, the crucible for representative democracy
that it was intended to be.

We must get back to debate on the floor as a way of involving
the public in national decisions. I believe the Senate has to find

ways, has to explore ways, perhaps, to encourage Senators in that
direction. We need to turn down the background noise and focus on
our real responsibilities.
We were not elected to raise money for our own reelections. We

were not elected to see how many press releases or TV appearances
we could stack up. We were not elected to set up staff empires by
serving on every committee in sight. We need to concentrate, focus,

debate, inform, and, I hope, engage the public, and thereby forge
consensus and direction. Once we engage each other and the public

intellectually, the tough choices will be easier.

We ought to stop trying to substitute process for purpose. The
Senate should again become the forum for public debate that it was
intended to be; else the Senate will be viewed ever more cynically

by the public and will become more and more disconnected from
the people and the problems of the Nation.
To encourage engaging in debate on the Senate floor, I believe it

essential that the Senate be in session 5 days a week, certainly for

the greater part of a Congressional session. There is oversight work
to be done, but when the Senate is not in session, I have found,
most Senators leave the Hill. When they come to expect no sessions

on Mondays and Fridays, they arrange their schedules weeks
ahead to be out of town on those days.

I do not mean to imply that the mere number of hours that we
are in session or that we spend in quorum calls is the standard by
which the Senate ought to be judged, but it is a cinch that when
Senators know there won't be any votes on certain days, you won't
find many of them around to conduct oversight work in committees
or to engage in floor discussion of national issues.

A 5-day Senate floor work week, characterized by the back-and-
forth of spirited Senatorial debate, is a tonic that is important to

the future health of our representative form of Government.
Having been majority leader twice, having been minority leader, I

know how difficult it is for a majority leader and for a minority
leader to accommodate the needs and desires of 99 or 98 other
Members. It can't be done. Members must come to understand that
the quality of life for Senators—and I have said this many times,
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when I was majority leader, much to the dissatisfaction of my col-

leagues who made me majority leader—they must come to under-

stand that the quality of life for Senators must never be viewed as

more important, or even as important, as the quality of work for

the Nation. That's why we're sent here.

Public service has always demanded sacrifice. It goes with the

territory. Moreover, how can we ever ask the American people to

sacrifice if we, who have taken a public oath, do not even want to

spend a full week here in the Senate, doing our work?
I do not mean to say that efforts at reform are invariably futile,

or that no improvements in the system are possible. In fact, I be-

lieve that some improvements are achievable. For one thing, the

committee system should be given a tune-up. As a rule, Senate
committees are too large, and we have too many Senators assigned
to too many committees and subcommittees. The effects of this

multiplicity of too many committees and too many subcommittees
are negative for both the committees and for individual Senators.

The larger a committee, the more unwieldy that committee is. It is

difficult to get quorums to conduct business, and this by itself is a
source of unnecessary delay.

Size compounds the task of committee leadership in other ways,
as well. The more Members there are, the more difficult and time-

consuming it is to develop a consensus and hammer out the com-

promises necessary to shape good legislation and to move it for-

ward.
For the individual Senator, the potential rewards of serving on

multiple committees and subcommittees are apparently too attrac-

tive to decline. As the Roman emperors' generals wanted triumphs,
apparently we Senators want trophies on our letterheads. But as

their portfolios of assignments expand, Members find themselves

increasingly overcommitted and unable to concentrate time and at-

tention on the substance of committee and subcommittee work.

Scheduling conflicts multiply and frustration builds. The effect is

to marginalize the Member's participation in some or all of the

committees and subcommittees to which he or she is assigned. In

turn, this exacerbates the problems facing committee and subcom-
mittee chairmen in exercising effective leadership.
Of course, "hypercommitteeism" is not a new problem. The Leg-

islative Reorganization Act of 1946 recognized that, as did the Leg-
islative Reorganization Act of 1970. The Legislative Reorganization
Act of 1946 reduced the number of standing committees in the

Senate from 35 to 15, but subsequent creation of more panels, espe-

cially the proliferation of subcommittees as happened in that in-

stance when the number of subcommittees was increased from 34

to 44 within the next year, and increases in the size of committees
and subcommittees, have led to a steady increase in the number of

seats Senators must fill and hats they must wear.

Moreover, the lure of additional committee assignments has

proved so great that at the end of the last Congress, nearly half of

the Senators held waivers allowing them to serve on more commit-
tees and subcommittees than Senate rules otherwise permit.

I understand that this committee's agenda also includes the

budget and appropriations process. I know this is an area that at-



tracts a good deal of criticism in the media and is the focus of some
considerable discontent among the Members of both Houses.
As chairman of the Senate Appropriations Committee, I urge the

committee to proceed with caution with respect to any major revi-

sions in the existing process. I am not arguing that no changes are

desirable or possible. Some improvements are conceivable. For ex-

ample, we suffer from entirely too many nongermane and legisla-
tive amendments to appropriations bills during floor consideration.

But again, there are no obvious and easy answers.

Moreover, changes in existing procedures could easily produce
entirely unanticipated and undesirable consequences. Our experi-
ence under the Budget Act of 1974 provides any number of instruc-

tive examples in that regard.
In another area of concern, I believe that the current process for

setting and enforcing rules of conduct for Members of both Houses
needs to be reexamined. Clearly, the concept of ethical behavior is

being redefined by public expectations, rooted in some of the basic

changes that are taking place in our society.
With respect to the Senate, public misgivings about the fairness,

impartiality, and workability of the current ethics process are un-

derstandable. This committee might find it useful in this regard to

consider establishing an Ethics Advisory Board whose membership
would consist of certain former Senators. This Advisory Board
could be given authority to hear cases and allegations and make
formal recommendations to the Ethics Committee. This arrange-
ment would provide the Ethics Committee with the basis for final

actions that have been developed by an impartial but well-informed
external body. There might be ways found to have the Senate itself

vote, in due course, without avoiding a vote, as we all want to do
when it comes to judging our peers.

Additionally, President Clinton has established new ethics rules

for the top political appointees in his Administration. His intention

is to ban these appointees from lobbying their former departments
or agencies for a period of 5 years after leaving the Federal Gov-
ernment. I know that you, Chairman Boren, have introduced legis-

lation which would place a similar ban on Members of the House
and Senate and on officers and employees of the Legislative
Branch.
While the goal of these lobbying restrictions is clear, they will in

fact be very difficult to accomplish. I urge you to take a hard look

at ways to tighten the holes in our own restrictions on lobbying ac-

tivities.

Again, I thank you for inviting me to appear before this very dis-

tinguished panel. As stewards of our own venerable institution, and
unlike poor Marie Antoinette, we are in a position to redeem the

reputation of the institution that we love before the blade falls. But
as we proceed with this critical examination of Congress, I hope
that we will keep our eyes on both the baby—perhaps they are
twins—and the bathwater, and that we will be able to recognize
the one from the other. In our headlong rush to become more "effi-

cient" in the Senate, let us have the wisdom to avoid further sacri-

ficing the very soul and purpose of the Senate.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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[The prepared statement of Senator Byrd is printed in the Ap-
pendix.]
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much, Senator Byrd. We ap-

preciate your comments. Needless to say, on several points that

you made you struck a chord with this Senator, especially begin-
ning as you did with campaign finance reform. Let me say that we
discussed that with the leadership of both Houses. They have as-

sured us that it is a matter to be put early on the agenda. The new
President has said the same thing. So we are likely to see if that

process works, to see if it moves on its own, before we attempt to

take up that matter in this committee. That indicates no lack of

interest in it; in fact, it represents our feeling that it should move
very, very quickly and that we need to get on with that task. If

Congress lags on that task, if it doesn't move forward as we hoped,
then this committee is of course prepared to revisit that issue and
put it back on its agenda here.

At our last meeting we had several Members who did not have
an opportunity to ask questions. We indicated that the chairs and
vice chairs of the committee would defer their questions until

others who did not have an opportunity last time had had their

chance.
Ms. Dunn is one that I have on the list that did not have an op-

portunity to ask a question last time, and therefore we will begin
with her. She will be followed by Mr. Walker, and then Senator
Cohen.
Ms. Dunn. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Senator it is a great honor for me to hear your counsel. I am a

freshman Member of this body, so I am being asked, as a new
member of this committee, to critique procedures that I haven't
even lived with until this time. So for that reason what you say is

of extra value to me.
I come from the campaign trail, having heard many, many

people critical of Congress. I think in some cases they see the work
that we do as being too expensive. They see our process as being
archaic. I want to be able to go back to them by the end of this

year, when this committee produces its report, with information
that we've made substantive change for the better—for the better-

ment of this body and for the betterment of the Nation.
So without taking too much time, because I know the Senators

will have lots of questions to ask you, I would ask your counsel on
what you, with your experience and your sense of history and your
sense of the practical working process, what you think would be

maybe the one or two changes that we could make for the better
and get done through our work and get done through the support
of the Congress.
Senator Byrd. As I intended to emphasize in my prepared state-

ment, as far as the Senate is concerned I think we need to get back
to work and be perceived as working, be in session, and if neces-

sary explore ways to try to get Senators to come to the floor and to

debate. We get paid well. The American people know that, but they
don't perceive us as earning our money. They don't see us at work.

They see us at work for 2 days a week or 3 days a week, and to a
coal miner in West Virginia that seems like a pretty fine job; work
3 days, earn that kind of money. And we don't debate.
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I think one thing, as I've already indicated, that we could do in

the Senate to restore confidence in the institution, to make it not
more "efficient" but more effective and more respected and make
it contribute a real service in these distracting times, would be to

get back to the business for which the Senate was created. That is

my view, based on my 44 years—going into my 45th—of service

here in the Congress.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much.
Let me say that our timing system is not here, but I have asked

staff to give Members a note when they are approaching the 5-

minute limit.

We will turn now to Senator Cohen.
Senator Cohen. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Byrd, as you went down the list of things that we are

not, you indicated that we are not celebrities and we are not televi-

sion stars. I was pleased that you did not exclude that we are not
musicians and that we are not authors. For the sake of this institu-

tion, we are all delighted that you fall in both categories.
I would like to get your opinion as to how you would reconcile

the shrinking of the committee structure. I think that most of us
on this committee would agree that we have too many committees.
How would you reconcile the shrinking of the committees, and yet
not the proliferation of the subcommittees, if we were able to do
that?

Senator Byrd. I believe our present rules provide that no addi-

tional subcommittees may be established without the approval of

the Senate. I don't believe that rule has changed. It seems to me
that if we're determined to reduce the number of committees and
make it possible for Senators to be in fewer places at one time, we
ought to be very serious about how we go about that business and
simply refuse to create more subcommittees.
Senator Cohen. Could I ask you your opinion about eliminating,

or perhaps consolidating, authorizing committees with the Appro-
priations Committee? It has been suggested by some that we abol-

ish the authorizing committees. Others suggest that we abolish the

Appropriations Committee. Frankly, I am prepared to give up my
position on the Senate Armed Services Committee or any of the
other committees on which I serve if the consolidation or elimina-
tion of committees would help to achieve that. But I must tell you,
I find the authorizing committees to become less and less relevant

today. It is very redundant and duplicative. I sit for hours and
listen to testimony being repeated before Senator Stevens and
others, and I don't know that it really serves the overall public in-

terest to go through the process once, twice, and then with House-
Senate three or four times, before we get to conference.
So there are suggestions that we eliminate one or the other or

combine them. Without stating your preference as to whether we
abolish the Appropriations Committee, how would we achieve that?
Senator Byrd. Well, what is it they hope to achieve by that?
Senator Cohen. Eliminating two and three levels of the same tes-

timony before different groups.
Senator Byrd. Well, I think there is a case to be made for that.

But experience has taught us that reducing the number of bills

that the Appropriations Committee produces, turning the appro-
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priations function over to the authorizing committees, doesn't work
insofar as saving the taxpayers' money is concerned.

Let me refer to a bit of history in this regard. The Appropria-
tions Committee of the House was established in 1865. The Appro-
priations Committee of the Senate was established in 1867. In 1877,
the jurisdiction of the House Appropriations Committee over the

funding of rivers and harbors was placed in the jurisdiction of the
Committee on Commerce. In 1880, the jurisdiction of the Appro-
priations Committee over funding of the Department of Agricul-
ture was placed in the authorizing committee, the Committee on

Agriculture. In 1883, the funding for rivers and harbors in the
House was taken from the Committee on Commerce and placed in

the newly created Committee on Rivers and Harbors. Then in 1885,
out of the remaining dozen bills over which the Appropriations
Committee had jurisdiction, six of these funding bills were trans-

ferred to their appropriate authorizing committees.

Now, what was the record that was produced as a result? Within
5 years of the transfer from Appropriations to the authorizing com-
mittees, in the case of rivers and harbors, the funding had in-

creased 60 percent. In the case of agriculture, the funding had in-

creased 100 percent. In the case of the other committees that were

peeled off of Appropriations in 1885, the funding had increased 14

percent, which was double the increase in those departments and
agencies that had been left under the jurisdiction of the Appropria-
tions Committee.
Over the next 30 years, from 1886 to 1916, almost all of the

spending increase that occurred in the operation of the Govern-
ment occurred in those fundings that came out of the authorizing
committees. For example, taking those bills that had been sheared
off the Appropriations Committee in 1885, when six of them were
taken away, the increase over those 30 years was 50 percent faster

than the gross national product. As for rivers and harbors, the in-

crease was 20 percent faster. As for agriculture, the increase was
more than 1,000 percent faster than GNP. And as for those bills

that were left within the Appropriations Committee's jurisdiction,
there was a decline relative to GNP.

In 1916 the Democratic Party, at its national convention, includ-

ed in its platform the restoration of appropriations in Congress to

one committee. President Wilson, in whose second Administration I

was born, recommended in his State of the Union address in 1917
that appropriations be restored to one committee, as existed prior
to 1885.

So here is history. This is experience. It has been tried, and it

failed, because it made bad matters worse. I see nothing today that
would indicate that it would be improved under such a situation.

Now, we do have witnesses who come before the Congress and
make the same speeches perhaps twice or three times. Perhaps
something could be done to relieve that situation, but in my judg-
ment it would not be wise to try to do it by combining the func-

tions of the authorizing committees and the Appropriations Com-
mittee.

Senator Cohen. Thank you for the answers. I was advised by the
chair that my time ran out about 1880.

Senator Byrd. That wasn't fair to you.



13

[Laughter.]
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much, Senator Cohen.
Senator Reid?
Senator Reid. Mr. Chairman, thank you very much.
Would you think it would be a good idea to give the majority

leader power to appoint Members of committees at his sole discre-
tion?

Senator Byrd. I do not think so.

Senator Reid. You think it should be left with a group of Sena-
tors?

Senator Byrd. To begin with, in the Senate, most committees
were ad hoc committees. They were special committees created for

dealing with a particular piece of legislation. In 1816 the Finance
Committee was created. And in the early days when the standing
committees had begun to be created, the membership was ascer-
tained by ballot by the Senate itself. There was a brief period when
the Vice President and the President Pro Tempore appointed Mem-
bers to committees in the Senate. In 1845 it was determined that
the caucuses of the parties would make the selections.
When I was majority leader I wished fervently that I had the au-

thority and power to appoint Members to committees. It would be a

way of exacting from them a greater discipline. But I have often
reflected on this particular question, and it is my observation that
with that kind of power in the hands of a majority leader, some-
thing has to give. Something has to suffer. And that something is

the individual independence of Members of the Senate.
I am not interested—although I think we have a majority leader

who is extremely fair in Majority Leader George Mitchell—I do not
believe that that kind of power should be given to any majority
leader, whether it be Mr. Mitchell or Robert Byrd.
Senator Reid. Mr. Chairman—referring to the Appropriations

chairman—when we started these hearings, I said that I thought
one of the things that we should strive to do is to examine the lead-

ership roles of both the Speaker and the majority leader and, in

my opinion, attempt to give them more power rather than less. I

feel that in my time in the House and in the Senate, the two bodies
have suffered as a result of the two leaders not having enough
power.
You indicated that when you were majority leader, you felt you

should have had the ability to appoint committees. Do you feel that
the leaders suffer from a lack of authority? We won't talk about
the Speaker; let's just talk about the Senate.
Senator Byrd. Well, depending on what we mean by the word

"suffer," as I said, I often longed to have the authority and power
of the Speaker. I might have been another Czar Reid had I had
that power.
We have to remember that the position of majority leader is a

20th century innovation. There were no majority leaders and mi-

nority leaders before 1921 and 1925. Generally, the "leaders" were
the chairman of the Finance Committee and the Appropriations
Committee in the Senate, or the caucus chairmen. But in the 1920s,
the offices of majority leaders—floor leaders, party leaders, majori-
ty and minority—emerged in the Senate. So in a way, it's still an
emerging office. I recognize the short leash that is on a majority
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leader, but there are Senate rules that can be used and ought to be
used and that I used to move the Senate forward.

Now, some Senators may not have liked me very much, and even

my own colleagues on my own side were sometimes upset, but I

took the position that I was not elected to make myself liked or

loved by my colleagues. I was elected leader to lead, and I used
those rules, and they are still there.

I sympathize very much with a majority leader in the Senate.

One of the things that would bring the most relief to the majority
leader and the minority leader—because I've been both—would be

campaign financing reform, because it is almost impossible to

schedule action on bills in the Senate when this Senator and that

Senator and the other Senators have to be in New York or off in

California or somewhere else raising money, or Senators who have
amendments on bills are downtown addressing a fundraiser or in

Virginia or Florida or elsewhere. It's extremely frustrating on a

leader, and I never expect to add to Majority Leader Mitchell's bur-

dens by going to him and asking him not to schedule something on

my account. We Senators ought to have more understanding of the

leader's travails. He's trying to help all of us, and he has a terrible

job. He has the worst job in Washington. He can't fire any of us;

we wouldn't like that, but he is the servant of all of us.

But nevertheless, having said all that, it seems to me there are

other ways of dealing with some of the problems, and the sooner

we Senators come to better understand what our individual respon-
sibilities are, the leader's lot will be made easier. But I suppose
that's wishing for the millennium.
Chairman Boren. Mr. Obey?
Mr. Obey. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Byrd, I want to go back to two issues: one, the authoriza-

tion and appropriation problem, and second, the budget process. I

don't know if you agree with my observations or not; I'd be inter-

ested in knowing.
In my view, I think that one of the reasons that authorizing com-

mittees are so frustrated is because they often aren't able to finish

their bills. They get piggy-backed on appropriations bills as a

result, often at the request of some of those same authorizers.

Often you have just a total lack of agreement between the White
House and the authorizing committee, so a compromise is not

achieved.

My own guess is that a good share of that problem is related to

divided Government, and I think a good share of that will disap-

pear so long as we have the same party in control of both ends of

the avenue. I suspect, frankly, that one of the reasons this commit-
tee is here is because a lot of the symptoms that people saw that

they didn't like in the legislative process were related to the im-

passes created by divided Government. While I certainly think
there are some things that could be done to smooth the edges be-

tween authorizing and appropriating, I think most of the problems
are going to disappear if we have guts enough to force compromise
so that we can get some things done.
What I am more concerned about is the lack of reality in the

budget process. It is my firm belief that for years, in most years,

you couldn't pass a budget resolution that was hones. For example,
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the budget resolution would say, "Well, in the agriculture function
we're going to cut $300 million." You would tell the dairy boys it

was going to come out of grain; you would tell the grain people it

was going to come out of dairy, and people would be using that

money twice to reach agreement. They would pass the budget reso-

lution, and then we would have to deal with the reality afterwards
in the appropriations process and people would get mad at the Ap-
propriations Committee because we deliver reality.

I have been intrigued for a long time with the proposition sug-

gested by Lou Fisher from CRS, that what we ought to do is not to

eliminate the Budget Committee, because they are useful for pur-
poses of scoring and enforcement, but rather to eliminate the re-

quirement for a budget resolution and simply use the determina-
tion of party leadership to make certain that the pieces of the

budget which are produced for action are consistent with fiscal re-

ality, so that you get rid of this idea that somehow the President is

doing something different when he produces his budget and we're

doing something different when we produce our budget resolution.

He makes the argument, and I agree with it, that if the President
submits a budget and the Congress is known to be operating off

that budget, that that forces the White House to be real and it

forces us to deal with that reality and in the process it gets rid of a
lot of the procedural folderol and makes the place more real.

I wonder whether you would be sympathetic or antagonistic to

that suggestion.
Senator Byrd. I would have to study the matter more. I can un-

derstand Mr. Fisher's position to that extent, but I am not sure
that I would agree that we ought to do away with the budget reso-

lution.

The Budget Act probably needs fixing, but I would want to be
sure that we don't make things worse. It does at least provide us
with some discipline.
What was your next question, Mr. Obey? I'm afraid I can't shed

much light on that.

Mr. Obey. That was really the basic question I wanted to ask.

I think Fisher would argue that it provides the appearance of

discipline, but in fact it creates such a lack of real dialogue be-

tween the two Branches that in fact we paper over those differ-

ences in order to get a resolution. In fact, he points out that since
the imposition of the budget process we have had less success in

imposing fiscal discipline than before.
Senator Byrd. Since the 1990 agreement I think we've had some

considerable discipline. I think that we brought out of that 1990
summit agreement some real discipline when we required "pay as

you go" and "hold harmless" domestic discretionary appropria-
tions. There were other features of that agreement that provide us
with the only real discipline that we have in the Senate, where we
now have 60-vote points of order as a result of that agreement.
But as to Mr. Fisher's contention that we ought to do away with

the budget resolution, as I say, I would certainly want to listen to

the arguments, but I would want to listen to the arguments on
both sides.

Mr. Obey. Sure.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman Boren. Thank you, Mr. Obey.
Mr. Emerson?
Mr. Emerson. Mr. Chairman, there are others who have not had

an opportunity to ask a question at all in the course of our hear-

ings, so I would like to defer to them. I do have a couple of ques-

tions, but I would like to let somebody else have the opportunity.
Chairman Boren. All right, we'll come back.

Senator Stevens?
Senator Stevens. Senator Byrd, I've heard suggestions that we

should find ways to limit the length of time that a Senator should

serve on a committee. Do you subscribe to that concept?
Senator Byrd. No, I do not.

Senator Stevens. I have listened with interest to you, my good
friend, and I find that where I'm from leads me to have some prob-
lems about the informational aspect of what's going on here in the

Congress, particularly in the Senate. When I came to the Senate—
several years after my friend did, but 25 years ago—we had the

right to send out newsletters, and sent them out regularly. I come
from a State that is one-fifth the size of the United States. It takes

12 hours to get to the point where I can have the privilege of flying

four or five or six hours, still within my State. And now I find that

I'm going back more and more because there is no information

mechanism. These various places in my State want personal re-

ports because we cannot give the written reports any longer.
Do you feel that part of our reform ought to look to the informa-

tional techniques of the Senate? They don't all have C-Span,
Robert, that's the trouble.

Senator Byrd. That's the trouble in West Virginia as well, and
I'm sorry that C-Span is not carried in more communities and on

more stations throughout the country.
I don't think that there's any question but that the newsletters—

that that "privilege," I'll use that word, has been abused. I also

think there is something to be said for the newsletter. But we are

probably on about the right track now as opposed to 15 or 20 years

ago.
Senator Stevens. I wonder if we shouldn't consider, as part of

this concept, allowing Members to have total discretion on how

they use their allowances. Today we have various pots of money for

clerk hire or travel or communications or other things. My judg-
ment would be that part of the reform ought to be that each Sena-

tor or each Member should be treated as running a small business,

in effect, and allowed to use the total allowances available for their

office in the way they see fit; not for political purposes, don't mis-

understand, but for communication, for transportation, for station-

ery, for facilities, for computers or for faxes. Whatever it might be,

it ought to be an individual judgment. Today they are almost

standardized for each office, and some of them just don't work. I

would like to see that as part of the reform.
Thank you very much. I appreciate your contribution to this.

Senator Byrd. Thank you. And my life in the Senate has been

greatly enriched by the presence in that body of the Senator from

Alaska, Mr. Stevens.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much, Senator Stevens.

Senator Lugar?
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Senator Lugar. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Byrd, it is always a pleasure to listen to you, both in

terms of the content of the present and the history.
I want to raise a different subject which comes from testimony

we've already had on the Ethics Committee and the specific bur-
dens of Senators who serve—and the difficulty of getting Senators
to serve—and the suggestion that perhaps former Senators might
serve, or even a panel of retired Federal judges, or other persons
who have some respect of the public or perhaps some knowledge of

public life. We heard testimony from former Congressman Frenzel
that he would have to be dragged kicking to serve in such a way,
that it would be very hard to recruit people who had retired to do

so, and we should not make that presumption.
As I listened to this, I wondered why we should have an Ethics

Committee at all, and I want to play devil's advocate for a moment.
If Senators have violated the law, whether it be a local law, a

State law, or a Federal law, there are courts of jurisdiction some-
where in the land where Senators could be indicted and a trial

could be held. Some may say that this evades the problem of "con-
duct unbecoming a Senator," conduct as opposed to bribery or vio-

lation of civil rights or many of the allegations that are made, at

least inferentially if not directly of Senators. But I am wondering
aloud why we should be in the business of having these trials or
semi-trials at all, as opposed to referring Senators to the justice

system of the country and saying that Senators, as other mortals,
must follow the law, and if it is alleged that they have not, that

they are subject to prosecution and trial elsewhere.
Do you have a comment on that proposition or on the whole busi-

ness of the Ethics Committee? As we are in the process of reform,
this may be a time to look at that issue.

Senator Byrd. I had the very difficult and unsavory experience
of asking, begging, pleading, and cajoling Senators to go on the
Ethics Committee when I was majority leader and when I was mi-

nority leader. So it is probably one of the toughest assignment for a

majority leader to accomplish, namely, that of coming up with Sen-
ators who are willing to serve. It must be a horrible assignment to

the Senators who do so.

But I think we cannot leave it all up to the courts. We have to

consider that which brings obloquy and scorn upon our institution.

The Constitution gives Senators the power to expel a colleague,
with two-thirds of the Senators voting, but that would seldom
happen, although I've seen it advance to the point where it was
about to happen when the resignation of a Senator occurred.
But I think we can't avoid this cup of sorrow simply because we

would like to and simply because there are courts that would deal
with those who are charged with criminal acts. Some of these acts

don't get into the courts and may not even be indictable. I do think
we have to have such. I think that having some former Members,
carefully chosen, who do not have axes to grind or conflicts of in-

terest, would be a plausible approach.
Senator Lugar. Well, the dilemma, as you have pointed out, is

that the Senate would be reluctant to expel Members not only be-

cause this is a dire penalty, but also there is an assumption that
voters in their States have sent them here, that there is a constitu-
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ency there. Granted, the Senate always takes the prerogative of

being the judge of its Members, but at the same time Senators
would be reluctant to do that, given the democratic process. This is

why I've tried to weigh this situation. Perhaps by inflicting some-

thing less than expulsion we make a point as far as how Senators

ought to conduct themselves, and you're right, there are some acts

that are reprehensible that are not indictable.

Just as I say, musing out loud with the benefit of your historical

memory, given the numbers of charges that seem to be arising

against Senators, the demand of the public, really, for activity by
the Senate which would seem to be intensifying, I wonder if we
shouldn't try to sort out what the democratic responsibility is—the
voters and constituents, to begin with, in sending people here, and
ours in sending them home or off to the courts? We're going to get
into quite a bit of activity with Senators or former people who have
served.

I think at some point this committee will have to try to wrestle
with this and make a recommendation. This is why I've raised it

with you.
Senator Byrd. I hope the committee will make recommendations.

I don't think the process works very well over in the Senate as it is

now operated. When we have three Republicans and three Demo-
crats, we make up a committee. The Republicans try to protect Re-

publicans and the Democrats try to protect Democrats who are

charged, and I think that's quite natural. Unfortunately, it's to be

expected.
I think there is some way this process could be once removed

from the immediate membership, and put the burden—and that's

what it is—on those ex-Members. They have a knowledge of the

Senate; granted, it may be just a cursory knowledge, but they have
a knowledge of the Senate and how it works, and it would take the
burden off sitting Senators.

It seems to me that if that group of ex-Members were to make
recommendations, it would be more likely that we would come to

grips with the matter and have a real bone to chew on, rather than
the way it's done now.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much.
I might say we're running just a little bit behind, but I want to

give the Members a chance—I don't want to detain Senator Byrd
too long, but I want to give those Members who have not had a
chance to ask questions a chance, but if we can move as quickly as
we possibly can.
Senator Lott?
Senator Lott. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I know we are limited

in time. I have so many questions I'd like to ask the distinguished
chairman of the Appropriations Committee, and maybe I'll pursue
some of them on the floor of the Senate as we go along.

Let me ask you a very broad question. I hope you can give me a

relatively short list in your answer, because I have two other ques-
tions I would like to ask you.
We're going to have a lot of hearings, going to look at a lot of

different things, going to hear a lot of very good ideas, but in the
end we're going to have to have a meeting somewhere and we're

going to have to deal with the realities. If at the end of our day we
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report two or three things that we could do that maybe would help
the way we do business in the Senate, from this Joint Committee,
what would you think maybe that would be?
Senator Byrd. The phrase "the way we do business in the

Senate"—if we're looking for a new rule by which we can expedite
business in the Senate, I don't think we need that. The rules are

ample. We have rules now that have been tried for over 200 years.
They originated in the Continental Congress, the Congress of the
Confederation. In my book one can trace rules that we have today
back to the rules of 1789 and prior thereto.

I tell you, the trouble is not the way we do business. The trouble
in the Senate is with people. The Senate has operated for 204 years
and it will be operating 204 years from now. The problem is with

people. There is too much partisanship in the Senate, too much
partisanship. That has been responsible for some of the gridlock.
I'm not blaming one party or the other. We an both be rather ada-

mant, but the problem is not with the Senate rules. And the goal
should not be to expedite business in the Senate. Let's debate more.
That's what I've been saying, let's debate the business more. Let's
talk about it and let's weigh it. We want everything done instantly.

It seems to me that perhaps what we're searching for is some
way to have less debate, spend fewer hours in session, fewer days,
just have all the votes stacked for one particular day, to begin at a

given hour, 6:00 p.m., and have this thing operate like a brand new
toy. But that would be destructive of the purposes and the func-
tions and the objectives and the role of the Senate and would be
destructive of the Constitutional system.

I do hope that this committee will take its eyes off—if I am inter-

preting rightly what I think may be the viewpoint of some on the

committee; I know it's the viewpoint of some in the Senate—I hope
it will take eyes off the objective, if it be such, of finding a way to

expedite the business of the Senate. Neither you nor I spend an in-

ordinate amount of time on the business of the Senate. Let's

produce a better product.
I hope the Senator will not take offense at my tone here, and I

don't mean to be directing my answer to Senator Lott. I am direct-

ing my answer to all those who seem to think that the objective of
this committee should be to find ways to expedite the business of
the Senate, make the Senate more "efficient." Well, let's just make
the Senate a second House of Representatives. Let it be an adjunct
to the House of Representatives. We just don't take the time to
debate in the Senate. We simply take a look at the legislation that
has come over from the House and vote up or down on it, and do
all the votes in 1 day and 1 hour; it would be more efficient and
would expedite the business of the Senate. I could go home and
read Roman history a lot more than I am able to do now, and I

could do a lot of things. So could Senator Lott and others.
Senator Lott. In the time left, the point I'm trying to get to, you

mentioned campaign finance reform. I think in terms of the fact
that we do have too many committees, too many committee assign-
ments, too many subcommittee assignments. That's why we're not
able to really pay enough attention to the real important issues or

spend time on the floor of the Senate. I'm looking at that sort of

thing.
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But also, since I've been in the Senate—and this is only my fifth

year—I have quite often asked the question, "Well, why is it this

way?" And the response I quite often get is, "Well, that's the way
it's always been." But I have learned over a period of time that
that's not the way it always has been, that there has been an evo-

lutionary period. You know the antecedents of the rules, how we
are in the position that we are in now, but I don't understand why
we don't work on Mondays. I don't understand why we have to

work at night when we're not in session during the day. I have a
lot of questions along those lines.

But I'll just ask you one specific question, this question of how
you get Senators to come to the floor and debate. How do we do
that? I think part of the answer is that our leadership, Republican
and Democrat, need to be more aggressive and, not without being
critical of the present or past, be on the floor and serve notice to

us: "If you don't come over with your amendment, we will move
forward." Again, I'm not necessarily looking for efficiency. I'm

trying to find some logical debate. When you're having a debate
and a couple of good points are made between the Senator from
West Virginia and the Senator from Indiana, and then there is this

"time out" which we call a quorum call because we can't get some-

body else to come over and make his remarks because he or she is

downtown or busy in their office—I don't understand that. It's

rude, for one thing. I understand all the prerogatives of the Senate
and how every Senator has certain rights, but when one Senator
abuses 99, I don't understand that.

Senator Byrd. I don't understand it either, but it happens, and it

always has been that way in the Senate. One Senator can abuse
the process and be unfair to his colleagues.
As a former leader, I sometimes hesitate to respond to questions

because, coming from Robert Byrd, former leader, "Well, who is

he? How was it in his day, when he operated in the Senate?" So I

try to be very cautious about that.

But we didn't use to have one week off out of every four. When I

was majority leader the second time I inaugurated that practice
and had them one week out and three weeks in. But I said this:

"We're going to be out one week, but we're going to be in three
weeks. And in those three weeks we're going to be in 5 days. And
on those 5 days you can expect votes any time during the day.
That's my bargain. You get a week off and I get a week off, but the
three weeks that we're here, we're here ready to do business." And
sometimes I had quorum calls at the beginning of the day. We
called them "wake-up calls." But Senators were grateful to have a
week off, and they expected to be in 5 days a week and to vote at

any hour during those days. So it can be done.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much, Senator Lott.

Ms. Norton, any questions?
Ms. Norton. No questions, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much.
Mr. Emerson?
Mr. Emerson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator with reference to your emphasis on the need to be more

deliberative and the colloquy you've just had with Senator Lott, I

appreciate very much what you're saying about 5-day work weeks.
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I don't know why we don't have them in the House, as well. I have
thought a long time about how we might try to fix that.

So the question I want to ask of you is one that has more to do
with your position as an historian and a long-time legislator than
as a Senator per se, but how can you make that work? Can we
have mandatory attendance in Washington? Can we force Senators
and Representatives to be here?

I have also thought that we need to be more deliberative, the
House as well as the Senate. Could we not have periods of time in

which committees would meet and we would have mandatory at-

tendance at committee meetings, and shut down the House? Don't
let the House meet this week while committees are meeting, and
next week, let's have the House meet to consider what the commit-
tees are reporting up, and shut down the committees. Would any-
thing like that work, or would a combination of anything like that
work?

Senator Byrd. Well, there is a great gulf between the ideal and
the real. It's great in theory. In the classroom in political science,
it's a great idea. Yes, let's have 2 days a week for committee meet-

ings, 2 days a week in session. Let's be a week in session and a
week out for committee meetings.
As one who has been majority leader and minority leader and

majority leader again, I can tell you it won't work. If I wanted to

have committees meet, I made sure we were in session, and I made
sure also that the threat of votes was there. It's the only way it

will work. If the threat of votes isn't there, Senators won't be
around. There might be a few of them; Senator Reid will be

around, Senator Domenici, Senator Boren. I might be.

[Laughter.]
Senator Byrd. But I might not be.

But yes, absolutely, there is a way, and I just stated it. You have
us in session under the threat of votes, and you tell us, "Don't
come to me asking not to have votes, because I'm giving you a
week off out of every four. So don't come asking me please not to

have votes. We're going to have votes. That's your side of the bar-

gain. We'll have votes. You may not like me for it, but you'll have
your chance when I have to run again for majority leader."

Finally on this question, the object is not—I don't want to be
misunderstood—the object is not just to have a good report card on
the number of hours we're in or the number of days we're in or the
number of votes we cast. The object is to get our work done. And
what is our work? It is not all just that which is visible out there
on the floor, but the oversight of committees. But committees

simply will not be here to meet if the Senate is not in session and
there is a possibility of votes. I can't get a corporal's guard of Sena-
tors together when we are out for a week, when we're out of ses-

sion. Many times as President Pro Tempore or as chairman of the

Appropriations Committee or just as a Senator who is interested in

a certain piece of legislation, I can't find other Senators around to

come over to my office and sit down with me and have a cup of
coffee and discuss our opposition to the line item veto or enhanced
rescissions or expedited rescissions. They're just not around. That's
the only way.



22

So sometimes we have to deal with people on their terms, and
those are the terms: we're going to be in session, we're going to get
our work done, and if you folks on the minority won't let me have

my bill, I'll find a way. I'll find a way to get the bill out.

I was told by Richard Russell that there's always another rule.

You know, one rule, there's another rule.

[Laughter.]
Senator Byrd. You know, it can be done. But the emphasis I am

trying to make is not on trying to show people that we are here

working, earning our money. The emphasis I want to put on this is

the need to do our work, the need to inform the American people,
the need to debate these issues so that the American people will be
better informed so that they will be prepared to accept the pain
and sacrifice that we may ultimately have to offer.

Mr. Emerson. Thank you very much. I would like to pursue this

at great length, but I know we can't. Maybe I could take you up on

your comment and come over and have a cup of coffee one day and
talk some more about it.

Senator Byrd. I would be delighted. I don't watch TV, except
sometimes when Ms. Eleanor Holmes Norton is on. I watch some of

the news and take a lot of that with a grain of salt, but I don't

watch the so-called "movies." I watch Alistair Cooke's pieces; they
are some great pieces. Newton Minna told me not to do that 25

years ago.
Another thing, I don't play golf. That's no reflection on those

who play golf. I don't spend my time watching ball games because
when you've seen one, you've seen them all.

[Laughter.]
Senator Byrd. That's right. I enjoy watching a ball game, but

when it's over, what do I have to show for my time?
So I've got the time. You come over and we'll find the coffee.

Mr. Emerson. Thank you.
Senator Byrd. Mr. Chairman, the question was raised here about

appropriations.
Chairman Boren. Yes.
Senator Byrd. There seems to be a thought abroad in this coun-

try that the Appropriations Committees of the Congress are respon-
sible for the deficits and the huge debt. I'd like to take another 5

minutes and try to debunk that idea, so I will ask Mr. English, if

he will, to step over to the charts.

Chairman Boren. Very well. That's fine.

Mr. English?
Senator Byrd. When you hear suggestions that by merging the

appropriating and the authorizing committees—and I've already
addressed that question—that we might somehow save monies, and
when you hear it said that Congress appropriates every dollar, that

Congress is at fault because the President can't spend a dollar if

the Congress doesn't appropriate it, I think this chart will be useful

in showing just how well the Appropriations Committees have hus-

banded the funding for domestic discretionary programs and
projects over the years.
On the chart that is to my left, which is titled "Cumulative Real

Increase or Decrease to 1981 Baseline," we will find that over the

years 1981 to 1992, accepting the blue bar line at the bottom as the
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baseline—in other words, last year's appropriation plus inflation—
we find that entitlements grew over that period of 1981 to 1992,
above baseline, above inflation, $983 billion. Entitlements.
Now, while I'm on that chart on entitlements, why then do we

want to talk about a line item veto? Or enhanced rescissions? The
place to cut off the flood is at the authorizing faucet. Let the Presi-
dent veto some bills that create new programs. That is the upper
faucet, and if that faucet is cut off, the flood never reaches the
second faucet, which is the appropriations faucet.
We are all guilty of passing these bills, lining up behind the

President in the Oval Office and receiving a pen, creating a new
program. But when it comes to funding it, that's something else.

And in so many instances, we on the Appropriations Committee
have nothing to do even with the funding. That's the bar we're
talking about, entitlements. They're going through the roof. De-
fense in that period, 1981 to 1992, grew over baseline $679 billion.

What happened to that poor little runt puppy, domestic discre-

tionary? Over that period it was $430 billion under baseline, under
inflation. Domestic discretionary: education, parks, rivers and har-
bors, you name it. In the period 1945 through 1992, taking into con-
sideration regular, annual, supplemental, and deficiency
Senator Reid. Mr. Chairman?
Chairman Boren. Yes, Senator Reid?
Senator Reid. Mr. Chairman, the one figure that I left off, espe-

cially for those people in the country who are watching these pro-
ceedings, that wasn't mentioned is international, and that's foreign
aid. Is that right?
Senator Byrd. Yes. It almost kept up with baseline during those

years.
Senator Reid. Whenever we go home, of course, foreign aid is the

first thing people criticize. During the last 10 years that was a net
loser, is that right?
Senator Byrd. It lost about $14 billion over a 12-year period.
Senator Reid. Pardon me for interrupting.
Senator Byrd. Now, take the total of all the requests that all of

the Presidents sent to the Congress during the period 1945 through
1992, and take the appropriations by the Congress in all the regu-
lar appropriation bills, the supplemental, deficiencies, and so on,
and this chart shows that over that period Congress appropriated a
total of $200 billion less in totality than the several Presidents re-

quested in that period.
So I don't think it can truly be said that Congress is the big

spender. We didn't spend as much as the Presidents requested.
This is the whole theme. This is the total budget, shaped like a

pie, the composition of the 1993 CBO January baseline. You will

see, beginning at the 1 o'clock position, net interest took 13.2 per-
cent of the total; Medicare, 5.4 percent; Social Security, 22.9 per-
cent; deposit insurance, 3.2 percent; "all other," 8.2 percent; man-
datory entitlements, 15.2 percent. Now we get down to the sole
area in which the Appropriations Committee has jurisdiction and
choice: Defense, 19.2 percent, and domestic discretionary, that little

runt puppy that we looked at a moment ago that was over $400 bil-

lion below the baseline, 12.7 percent, less than the interest on the
debt.
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So we find that even though in 1932 the Appropriations Commit-
tees had jurisdiction over more than 90 percent of total funding,

today the Appropriations Committees have jurisdiction over 31.9

percent of the total budget.
So what we're showing here is that more and more, as the juris-

diction over appropriation of funds is taken away from the Appro-
priations Committees of the Congress, more and more the deficits

have grown and the debt has grown through these instruments of

backdoor spending, in large parts, mandatory entitlements. The
Appropriations Committees don't have jurisdiction over them.
Mr. Chairman, I thank you.
Chairman Boren. That's a very interesting point. We have just a

couple more questions.
But in essence, we're really on autopilot in terms of most of the

spending, and we have put in place statutory authorizing language
at some point that becomes automatically implementing each year
regardless of how much money we have. That's really what you're

saying, isn't it?

Senator Byrd. Yes, and the authorizing committees have jurisdic-
tion over these entitlements. They create them, and the thing is on
automatic pilot from then on.

Chairman Boren. Right.
Senator Byrd. And therein lies the tale.

Chairman Boren. We turn to Senator Domenici for a brief ques-
tion, and then I have one last brief question and we will then turn
to our next witness.

Senator Domenici?
Senator Domenici. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Byrd, I need not place in this record words expressing

my admiration and respect for you. I think you know that, and I

cherish your friendship. I am kind of a new kid on the block, even

though I've been here 20 years, when I speak to you. And I under-
stand that.

However, I think a point you made that is most critical to

reform, the most critical remark, is the two words, "fractured at-

tention." In fact, if we could set a goal for this committee, al-

though—as you said—the "ideal" versus the "real" are going to

have a chasm, but if we could set "fractured attention" and the
diminution of that for our Members, we would probably have a

very good goal.
There is no question that we have too many things to do, and we

choose to do more and more, and our attention gets fractured.

While I am convinced that legislatures usually finish business in

the waning hours, and my reading of history is that they all do so

clearly the waste time until the ax is upon them, nonetheless it

seems to me that in our body we choose to take on new things for

some reason. I tend to think that it is because there is less and less

meaningful participation in the real business, which is committee
business, oversight, and floor business. There seems to be less par-

ticipation for some reason, and I think maybe the way we do busi-

ness has a little bit to do with that. I'm not sure of that.

I do not agree with you that full debate on the floor is a major
solution to this problem. Frankly, we're not going to get major
debate until we get less fractured attention, because the truth of
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the matter is that there is a reluctance to go to the floor and
debate because staff does a lot more for Senators in these issues
than we would like to believe. And to go down and thoroughly
debate would be a redirection of energy for a long time in getting
ready for the issues and being prepared, and I think that would be

good. But I don't think it will happen until we find ways to coerce,
if you will, an activity on the part of our Members to be more
zeroed in on legislation and oversight and less on other things.

I'm not sure how to do that, but I submit to you that the Appro-
priations Committee, which has been your home and about which
you are tremendously well acquainted, not only historically but
now, is very different from serving on other committees when it

comes to duplication of jurisdiction. Whether our subcommittees in

Appropriations are joined together substance-wise by a thread that
is common and good, they are both joined in the House and Senate
with the same subject matter. The Subcommittee on Energy and
Water has the same jurisdiction as Energy and Water over there.

I might suggest to you that that is an absolute Godsend when it

comes to serving on the committees. But I submit that when you
have an energy bill, you have seven or eight committees in the
House with pieces of it, three or four here, and that tends to put us
in a position where it's very hard to be attentive. Frustration sets

in. Willpower is kind of wilted, as I've said before, because it's not
that you want to expedite things, but it is handled in a rather

strange way.
So I would hope that as we move through this, we might find

where there is duplication of duplication, and that we make a little

more sense out of jurisdiction among the authorizing committees—
at least in our body, but hopefully in the other body, because I

think "in one and not the other" adds to the frustration.
You should know that I am not here to expedite legislation. I

think our founding fathers did a great job in making our Congress
conservative. It's not easy to get legislation through. You have to

get it through both. There is a filibuster rule here, and then you
have to agree in conference, and I am totally supportive of that.

But I think to get our attention focused, there has to be more
opportunity to see daylight at the end of your actions than is

extant now.
I leave that, and ask for your thoughts.
Second, I think we are charged with doing things too frequently

on the same subject matter. I know I've spoken to you and you
don't agree, but I really don't think we ought to have appropria-
tions every year in their totality. I think there is reason to have
most appropriations done in one year and have it suffice for two,
and then having sessions of Congress with oversight in the second

year. I think that would also focus attention and would make ever-

ybody's oversight potential attentive and probably encourage that
more.

If you have comments on either of the two, I would appreciate it.

But I will spend time with you as we move through to get your
views on subjects so that we can get some things done.
Thank you very much.
Senator Byrd. Well, Mr. Chairman, I think this is one of the

finest minds in the Senate. It's Senator Domenici's mind that I'm
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talking about. He's an enquiring, hardworking, diligent, intelligent,

persevering, tenacious, highly able Senator.

I don't agree with his suggestion that we have 2-year appropria-
tions. In the first place, that would increase the number of supple-
mentals. In the second place, we don't spend an inordinate amount
of the Senate's time on the 13 appropriations bills and supplemen-
tals; we get those done expeditiously. Thirdly, I think that over-

sight would suffer a great deal if we were to cut that work in half,

so to speak. I think that if we have 2-year appropriations, the bu-

reaucrats downtown—and I don't use that term in a pejorative

sense; we have to have bureaucrats, just like we have to have poli-

ticians—but the bureaucrats in the Executive Branch would be

very much less likely to follow and carry out the intent of Congress
if they knew that they weren't going to have to come back for 2

years.
I think that we must have annual appropriations. It's a part of

our oversight responsibilities. We can keep up with the depart-
ments and agencies and determine whether or not they indeed are

carrying out the will and the intent of the Congress. That require-
ment of having to come back and ask for more appropriations is a

way whereby the Congress can get its grievances addressed. This

system has worked very well. I know that there are those who find

fault with the system in that regard.
The other item which you may have alluded to, or someone did,

namely, that the Appropriations Committee is doing the work of

the authorizing committee—just imagine what it would be like of

the Appropriations Committee didn't act but once every 2 years.
And the Appropriations Committee in many instances, I have to

say, is the only real oversight instrumentality that is working.
There are those who complain that the appropriations bills contain

authorizations. Well, many agencies of the Government would be

shut down if the appropriations bills didn't carry the authoriza-

tions, because in all too many instances the authorizing committees
don't do their work, for this reason or that or the other.

But along this line, and without taking more of the committee's

time, I will ask that there be included in the record an additional

statement by me which refers to a Budget Office report entitled,

"Unauthorized Appropriations and Expiring Authorizations." That
annual report is required under section 221(b) of the Budget Act
and is intended to help Congress use the early months of the year
to adopt authorization legislation that must be in place before the

13 regular appropriations bills can be considered.
If we peruse that report we will see a list of unauthorized fiscal

year 1993 appropriations for programs under the jurisdiction of

various authorizing committees which would not have been funded
had the Appropriations Committees not proceeded to fund them. I

just call attention to a couple.
For example, there is an item for the Federal Maritime Commis-

sion's manpower, education, and training; operating programs; se-

curity; support capabilities; and Ready Reserve Force, under the ju-
risdiction of the Commerce Committee.
There was a 1993 appropriation of $128.5 million for the Federal

Communications Commission.
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There are programs under the jurisdiction of the Energy and
Natural Resources Committee, an appropriation of $275 million in

1993 appropriations for nuclear waste cleanup and expenses of the
Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

International narcotics control—the last time it was authorized
was in 1991.

The Department of Energy Administrator and FERC—the last

time they were authorized was in fiscal year 1984.

The Waste Water Treatment Facility construction grants, the
last time they were authorized was fiscal year 1990.

International security and economic assistance, the last time it

was authorized was fiscal year 1987.

Department of Justice activities, the last time they were author-
ized was in fiscal year 1980. We don't want to see the Department
of Justice shut down, and yet there has been no authorization since

fiscal year 1980.

National Cancer, Heart, and Lung Programs, fiscal year 1990.

These are several items, and I will ask that this be included in

the record
Chairman Boren. Without objection.
Senator Byrd. I won't go into that further, but those who read

the record will find in this report ample evidence that if the Appro-
priations Committee didn't carry the authorizations, much of the
Government would not be able to continue to operate.
[The referenced report, submitted by Senator Byrd, is printed in

the Appendix.]
Senator Byrd. I thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Boren. Senator Byrd, let me just ask one brief, last,

concluding question.
I have not been looking at my colleagues' notes, but I also wrote

at the top of my list, and circled them from your comments, the
words "fractured attention." I think you are absolutely right about
that. We at the end of the day have rushed from one thing to an-

other, and then when you sit down and take stock of what you've
really accomplished and what you've really thought about and
what input you've really had into a major problem that is of con-

cern to the country, at the end of the day with all of that busy
work you have a feeling that you haven't had much input into it or
had much effect on a major problem.
You mentioned, and I agree with you, our purpose is not efficien-

cy for the sake of lessening the time, for example, that we devote.

It is trying to reorder our time so that it is spent on worthwhile
matters, and then improving our work product; in other words,
coming up with real solutions to problems for the American people.
I do think that this fracturing does have something to do with how
many committees. We did a study, and the average Senator serves
on 12 committees and subcommittees, not to mention task forces. I

just looked at the list of task forces that several of my colleagues
serve on, and they probably serve on an average of 10 more task
forces. So it's hard to even get Senators together for very long in

one room to talk about a meaningful problem. If you want to talk

about how to control the deficit or how to improve the educational

system, you can't get Senators to sit in a room. You can't get 10

Senators in a room for an hour, even, to talk about something of
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major importance to the country because they are having to run to

this committee and that committee and so on.

I think we find that we create a lot of make-work for ourselves.

People running for leadership positions and otherwise are wanting
to gain support as committee chairmen, authorize more and more
subcommittees, and every time there is a subcommittee there are
two or three staff that go with that subcommittee to justify their

existence. They come up with ideas for hearings or pieces of legisla-
tion. Constituents get alarmed about those subjects that are under
discussion. They write letters, which means we have to have more
staff to answer the letters written about the unnecessary legisla-
tion introduced by unnecessary staff and subcommittees that cer-

tainly shouldn't exist, and then we have to attend the hearings be-

cause our alarmed constituents now want us to be there to keep
this from moving forward, and so on. Round and round we go and
where we stop, nobody knows.

Plus, we have the Executive Branch; even if they are inclined to

sit down and deal with Members of Congress and try to have input
and a partnership with Congress, they have great difficulty in

doing so. You can't simply have Mr. Rayburn and Mr. Johnson
come and sit down as they did with Mr. Eisenhower. If you just
want to have the chairmen of the committees and the subcommit-
tees of jurisdiction over a certain issue, you may have 30 or 40 or

50 around the breakfast table. So you cannot have input, a real

say, from Congress on policy.
So I very much agree with you.
Now, let me ask a political question. I said at the very beginning

of this that I wish we could reduce the number of committees and
subcommittees down to maybe 50 and have an absolute rule that
no one serves on more than two. We now have 299 committees and
subcommittees, I believe; you probably know that figure better

than I, but somewhere in that range, near 300 in both Houses put
together.
Do you think, politically, that it is easier—we have to decide how

we approach this—in order to get results, for us to come in with a

pretty broad sweep? In other words, we could come in and tinker
with this over a multi-year plan and say, "Let's try to get rid of 10

subcommittees and committees this year, and let's try to scale

people down to four or three," or I guess maybe we could say from
12 to 8 assignments or something. Or do you think it would be just
as easy to come in and say, "We're going to prune 100 committees
and subcommittees out. We're going to say to the Senators that

they can't be on more than two, no matter what," and sort of call

for shared sacrifice"? I sort of lean to that view. And then if you
pick out a few, they are going to say, "Why did you pick out mine
and not his or hers?" And then you focus the interest of the Ameri-
can people on the need to do something fairly sweeping, and I

think their interest is very important to us being able to get some-

thing done.
I would value your thoughts about if, indeed, we want to do

something about that. I think it would also improve debate and
focus of attention on these issues of real importance that you've
talked about. Do you think we ought to try for a rather sweeping
approach in terms of pruning out unnecessary committees and sub-
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committees and unnecessary assignments, or limiting assignments,
or do you think we ought to take an incremental approach? Which
do you think would have the greatest chance of success politically?

Senator Byrd. I don't think taking the incremental approach is

the right way to go. It's going to be a tough job in any event, but I

do think that if this committee makes a strong recommendation,
that in itself will add strength to the idea. You have some momen-
tum here. You've had all the leaders over and they've pledged their

support. I think it gives the leaders backing.
I know that it's extremely difficult. I had the Stevenson commit-

tee back when I was majority leader the first time, in 1977, which
came up with the idea of abolishing some committees. We did abol-

ish the Committee on Post Office and Civil Service, the Committee
on the District of Columbia, the Committee on Nuclear and Space
Sciences—I'm not sure that was the title of it, but we abolished

some committees, and we abolished some of the joint committees.

But in any event, if this committee makes that recommendation,
it will lend a lot of emphasis and momentum and strength to the

effort. For example, it puts into the hands of the majority leader

and minority leader some additional force. It's hard for the majori-

ty leader to try to confront this issue without such momentum and
assistance as would be given by this committee. I know that a

couple of years ago the majority leader tried to make that fight in

the Steering Committee. He bore those scars for quite a while

afterwards. He had had the temerity to suggest that Members not

have three committee assignments, that they ought to come off,

that two committees are enough. If this committee can accomplish

that, its time will have been well spent. I think that that, in itself,

will give Senators more time to do other, more important things.

Entirely too many Senators have waivers. They say, "Well, give
me a waiver just this time because I'm running in this next elec-

tion, and let me serve just these 2 years on this additional commit-

tee." But once the election is over, they don't want to get off.

I have to say to you, Mr. Chairman, in light of man and God,
that I have put Senators on committees more than once in order to

get their votes for an office in the leadership. Having served in the

Senate leadership for 22 years in one office or another, I have re-

sorted to that instrumentality in order to get votes. I've put people
on the Intelligence Committee or this committee or that commit-

tee

Chairman Boren. We don't want to get into too many examples.

[Laughter.]
Senator Byrd. But it's the human and political thing to do, and I

can understand how any Senator would do that in order to win.

That didn't do the Senate any good, for me to put people on three

committees.
So there are times from time to time when we have to take a

new look, and that's what you're doing now. It was done in 1946; it

was done in 1970; it was done in 1977, but each time these commit-
tees come back. They have ways of being rejuvenated.

Don't put it off. Don't try to do it incrementally. Do it all at

once, and give those leaders the strong backing of this committee
in doing that.
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Chairman Boren. Thank you very much, Senator Byrd. I appre-
ciate all of your words and I appreciate your encouragement to us
to be bold and to really do what we think is right, particularly on
this issue. I will say to my colleagues that this Senator, as one
member of this committee, is certainly going to allow my col-

leagues on the committee— and hopefully my colleagues on the
floor—an opportunity to vote on a proposal that I would have to

define as sweeping, to try to do exactly that, so that we can end
this "fractured attention."

Thank you very, very much for being with us.

By the way, I would commend to my colleagues the reading of

the chapter in Senator's book on the history of the Monroney-La-
follette Committee, the 1945 Joint Committee, whose structure we
have patterned ourselves after. I think it would be very interesting

reading for all.

Would you have any objection if we put that chapter into our
record?
Senator Byrd. No. I would explain that excerpts from that chap-

ter on the 1946 act and excerpts from the chapter in volume 2 con-

cerning the 1970 act are appropriate excerpts, if you would wish to

include them.
Chairman Boren. We appreciate that very much and would like

to include them, and without objection will include those, and will

include those excerpts when they are furnished to us, for the
record.

Senator Byrd. Very well.

[The referenced excerpts, submitted by Senator Byrd, are printed
in the Appendix.]

Senator Byrd. And if the chairman will allow me, I have a brief

paper on tax expenditures and the role that they play in increasing
deficits.

Chairman Boren. Right.
Senator Byrd. Inasmuch as we have talked a great deal, and

there continues to be a great deal of discussion throughout the

country concerning the Appropriations Committee and its way-
wardness in creating the deficits and enlarging them, I would like

to point out that a good many of the deficits have been increased

by virtue of committees other than the Appropriations Committee,
and tax expenditures is one very prolific area in which to rum-

mage.
Chairman Boren. Absolutely. We will also be happy to receive

for the record your statement and report on tax expenditures, be-

cause that is something that we certainly should focus our atten-

tion upon, as well.

Senator Byrd. I thank you and the Members of the committee,
and I apologize to those witnesses who have been kept waiting by
virtue of the time that I have taken.

Senator Domenici. Mr. Chairman?
Chairman Boren. Senator Domenici?
Senator Domenici. Might I say to Senator Byrd, the presentation

you have made on appropriations, you have done that before. You
have done it in an abbreviated manner today because of your defer-

ence to us. I would add that if you look at the Bush 4 years and
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take your rationale, clearly we did not, on discretionary appropria-

tions, spend more than he asked for. In fact, we spent less.

But I think we ought to say, not because we're trying to blame

anybody, that the entitlement jurisdiction committees, the manda-

tory committees, spent $74 billion more than he asked for by not

reforming entitlements as he suggested. So every time we find

something amiss, there is somewhere else we can look. I hope that

when we're finished we have a way to put responsibility more di-

rectly where it is so that we aren't all blaming, and saying, "If I

were only there, I would get it done." I think that's part of what's

wrong.
Senator Byrd. Yes. And on the chart which showed the period

1945 through 1992, and the total Presidential requests and the

totals appropriated by the committee, we have found that only in

six of those years during that period did Congress appropriate more
monies than the Presidents requested.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much, Senator Byrd.
I am going to ask our colleague, Senator Bond, to come forward

at this time.

Senator Bond, I apologize that we have gone on so long, but it's

an indication, I think, of the interest we had in the words of this

witness, and also the interest that we have in our subject matter in

this committee.
As one of the co-chairs of this committee, I am elated at the in-

terest which the Members of our committee have in the subject
that we're discussing, and I think if anyone had any doubts that we
intend to do something rather than just hold hearings, that we
intend to act, I think that if they've been observing the tenor of the

questions that have been asked and the attention paid to the sub-

ject matter by Members of the committee, they understand that we
mean business. We are going to be willing to move forward, I hope,
in a very, very constructive way at the right time after we have
obtained as much information as we possibly can

It's a pleasure to have you with us. I'm going to say, we will re-

ceive your full statement for the record, and you may abbreviate it

in any way you see fit. I want you to feel free to take as much time

as you want, and I will say to my colleagues also that we have two
others of our colleagues who will follow Senator Bond, so we will

try to hold our questions to those that we feel a burning urge to

ask.

Senator Bond first came to the Senate in 1987. He is a member
of the Appropriations Committee, the Banking, Housing and Urban
Affairs Committee, Budget, and Small Business.

I might say it was my particular privilege to know him at an ear-

lier point in his life when he served as Governor of Missouri. He
entered that office just a year before I became Governor of Oklaho-

ma. We had the privilege of serving 3 years together as neighbor-

ing Governors. We had no border skirmishes or any kind of mili-

tary confrontations during that period of time; in fact, it was a

wonderful time of cooperation and really pooling our thoughts, and
it was a relationship then that I valued very much, just as I have

been privileged to have that same kind of relationship with Sena-

tor Bond since he came to the Senate.
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We welcome you, Senator Bond, and would be happy to receive

any suggestions which you have to make to us.

STATEMENT OF HON. CHRISTOPHER S. BOND, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM THE STATE OF MISSOURI

Senator Bond. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, Senator

Domenici, distinguished Members of the panel.
I would have to say that listening to the proceedings over the

last several hours has probably been one of the most informative

and instructive functions that one can perform around here. It is

indeed a pleasure to work with you again, Mr. Chairman, after the

years that we worked together and took on a number of—at that

time—unpopular causes, in which we gained the acquiescence of

the National Governors Association and thereafter the Congress.
We won't go into those at this point, but let me just say for the

record that I am very excited and a very enthusiastic supporter of

this committee. First, in its concept, I thought that you and Sena-
tor Domenici had the right idea, and when I saw the composition of

this committee I felt that this was the best opportunity to do some-

thing about the reform of Congress.
I listened to the people in my State this year and they had two

very important messages. They said, number one, "We believe

something needs to be done about Congressional reform," and
number two, "We don't believe it's going to get done."

I have to say that this committee, with the kind of support and
the kind of membership you have and the testimony that you have
had before you, is most likely to get something done.

Having said that
Chairman Boren. Senator Bond, I hope you will go back and tell

them that it's either going to get done or they're going to have an

adequate number of roll call votes by those people they sent here,
and they will be able to determine whether or not those people

they sent here were willing to support reform or not. So I think

we're going to perform a service one way or another. I hope the

knowledge that my colleagues have, that they are going to be held

accountable, will cause us to get the job done.
Senator Bond. Speaking of being held accountable, I am deeply

grateful for the opportunity to appear before you today; but had I

had my druthers, I certainly would not have followed the distin-

guished historian, scholar, President Pro Tempore, and chairman
of the Appropriations Committee. I find myself in the position that

Abraham Lincoln described of a man tarred and feathered and
ridden out of town on a rail who said, "Were it not for the honor of

the thing, I would rather have walked."

[Laughter.]
Senator Bond. From my humble background and experience

with this body, being in the U.S. Senate for 6 years and a slightly

longer time associated with the legislative process in the States, I

have several ideas which I have included in a letter sent to you
and Senator Domenici. I will make that available to Members of

the committee for such use as you should choose to put it to, and I

would focus primarily on just two ideas that I have worked on and
discussed at some length.
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First, I think the time has come to reform the way the Ethics
Committee does business. I think Members of Congress can and
must be held to the highest standards; but like any individual in
our society, Members ought to have the right to defend themselves
against any charges, and they ought to be sure that they will get a
fair hearing. They need it, we need it, and the people of this coun-

try demand it.

I think that the conclusion we must reach is that we have to
have a new mechanism. Thus I propose that we seriously consider

replacing the Ethics Committee's finder of fact function and give it

to a panel of retired State or Federal judges. This panel, the Inde-

pendent Ethics Commission, would be made up of judges, one ap-
pointed by the majority leader and one appointed by the minority
leader and, in the manner of arbitration panels, the third judge se-

lected by the two. They would handle all requests for review of al-

legations and make informal preliminary inquiries. If as a result

they determine that a formal investigation is warranted, then they
would have the authority to proceed. If a formal inquiry is re-

quired, the Commission could hold hearings, issue subpoenas, take

testimony under oath, or hire an outside counsel as needed. They
would have the authority to appoint a Special Counsel, but would
be required specifically to state the scope of the inquiry.
At the conclusion of this effort the Commission would be re-

quired to submit to the full Senate a report on findings of fact,
their conclusions, and their recommendations on any appropriate
sanctions. After submission of the report to the full Senate, any
Member could then introduce a resolution proposing the Senate
adopt the report, with or without modification.

Now, I think this structure would retain the power of the Senate
to discipline a Member, but would take away any political pres-
sures from the preliminary inquiries and the actual proceedings.
Perhaps even more importantly, it would protect the legitimacy of
all decisions, particularly those in which no violation is found.

Today if the Ethics Committee were to return a decision not to

pursue a case, that no sanctions were warranted, the cry of "white-
wash" could be heard, even if the decision is correct. This, then,
might lead to pressure for action on the next case, with political

maneuvering and posturing to look tough. Thus justice in one case
could lead to a political outcry generating injustice in a future
case. And because the number of complaints filed is increasing,
some of which may be politically motivated, divorcing the politics
from the charges and the inquiry and investigation can only help
the process be fair to all.

I believe very strongly that the innocent should not be held hos-

tage to the guilty, but that the guilty should receive their just pun-
ishment.

Having served on the impeachment panel considering the im-

peachment of Federal Judge Alcee M. Hastings, I can appreciate
how difficult it is to devote the time and energy to hear the facts,

pore over the documents, and render a decision. While that case
was complex, with an extraordinarily convoluted paper trail, the
other business of the Senate did not slow down or pause as the
work went on. Thus the pressure we faced to hurry along was in-

tense.



34

But in our case, we were not attempting to judge a colleague
with whom we work every day. We were not subject to pressures of

partisanship or leadership. We were not lobbied by outside groups
trying to influence the decision. Thus while it was difficult, it was
not impossible.

Unfortunately, like it or not, I fear that the Members of the
Ethics Committee today face an impossible situation where they
are required to hear charges against Members with whom they
serve without reflecting or in any way referring to any case, past
or pending. I believe, as a matter of practical common sense, one
can assert that if you're going to have to work with a colleague yes-

terday, today, and tomorrow, collaborate with them, confer with

them, depend on their vote, ask for their help, you are going to

face a very difficult time making a judgment on the ethical or legal
action that colleague has taken. Like it or not, for the judgments of

the Senate to be seen as legitimate in a future case, whether those

judgments be punishment or no action, I think this reform of the

process is warranted.

Second, very simple and straightforward, something that I bring
from State government, I suggest we have a mandatory adjourn-
ment date and enforce it. The enforcement mechanism would be to

withhold the pay of the Members of Congress when the expiration
date passes, and pay is only reinstituted when Congress adjourns. I

think October 15 would be an appropriate day, and I would give
the President the power to keep Congress in past that date or call

a special session if events warrant, or if there is a war.
I firmly believe that the very best ideas we get up here come

from back home, from the States. The more time we can spend at

home, the more we can listen, the more responsive we're going to

be, and the better understanding we're going to have of the impact
of the laws on the people we serve. And, having spent a good bit of

time just this past fall in my home State, I found it not only re-

warding and enjoyable, but very productive. My State legislature,
and I believe many other State legislatures, have imposed this dis-

cipline. If we can impose some discipline on the scheduling of bills

and the handling of budgets and appropriations, I believe that Con-

gress and the country would benefit. I think giving Congress an op-

portunity to spend more time on oversight of the programs we
fund, as well as additional time for meetings, listenings, in-State

hearings, could be very profitable. I would hope the committee
would review this idea.

I thank you very much for your time and I wish you the best on
what I think is a vitally important mission.

[The prepared statement of Senator Bond is printed in the Ap-
pendix.]
Chairman Boren. Senator Bond, I thank you for your comments.

You and I are in very close agreement about the ethics proposal. In

fact, I am preparing to introduce a proposal that would pretty
much track what you said, except that I would expand it and not

just have former judges. I would maybe have a panel of seven: one
former Member, one former judge, and one public citizen appointed
by each party, and then a seventh drawn by the six, so that you
have a completely bipartisan approach.
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But again, having someone outside the Congress—I think this is

the fundamental point, someone who is not sitting as a peer, to

find fact. And then we can perform our Constitutional function
once the facts have been found and the recommendations made;
then our Ethics Committee and the full bodies of the House and
Senate can act upon our Members. But that finding of fact and de-

termination, I think it will always be subject to question by the

public as to whether or not we can be truly objective about our
own peers with whom we must work each day, and I think you are

right. It defies human nature to believe that we can. Judges dis-

qualify themselves in cases in which they have very close personal
relationships with those who appear before them, and yet we are
asked to be finders of fact in regard to cases regarding Members
who might have life or death power over projects in our States or

bills we want to pass, or who simply might be very, very close per-
sonal friends because of the longtime working relationships.

I applaud your suggestion and hope that several of us can pool
our best thoughts and come forward with a proposal that tracks

your mechanism.
I might say that Speaker Foley before this committee on the first

day of our hearings indicated his willingness to look at that ap-

proach, perhaps even to look at a joint committee approach, but

certainly the concept of some external mechanism, he felt, should
be something that we should consider. So we have had some good
encouragement, both from Members of this committee and from
the leadership as well, that we should take a serious look at this

proposal.
Senator Bond. Mr. Chairman, I find your reasoning very compel-

ling. I would say that I introduced a bill on this precise subject in

the last session. Although I don't want to give him any blame for

it, the distinguished former Senator from New Hampshire, Warren
Rudman, consulted with me and advised me on a number of errors

that I committed in the first draft, so my proposal, which is in bill

form, has at least had some criticisms from Senator Rudman.
Chairman Boren. Very good. He was a witness for us also last

week and had some additional comments about separating factfind-

ing and punishment mechanisms and preliminary investigation
mechanisms.
Mr. Allard?
Mr. Allard. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I just wanted to let you know, Senator Bond, that I appreciated

your comments on limiting the length of the session. As a State

legislator I had introduced a resolution as a Constitutional

change—I am from Colorado—that limited the session to 120 days
a year, because we were becoming more and more thought of as

professional politicians and not individuals who had to go back and
live with the laws that were passed.

I think it helped the process because it set specific deadlines. The
legislature as a body had to go back and set deadlines for when
they were going to report something out of the House and when
they were going to report something out of the Senate, and then
when they were going to come to final resolution and adjourn. One
thing we always found was that those hard decisions are never
made until they are bumping up against an absolute deadline, and
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it does force legislators to make tough votes and not to put those
off. So I do appreciate your comments on that.

The other thing that you talked about a little bit was ethics.

There are a lot of things that I think can be done, and certainly

your comments on ethics are something that we need to also bear
in mind there.

So I just wanted to share with you some of those thoughts and
thank you for testifying.
Senator Bond. Thank you, sir.

Chairman Boren. Thank you very much.
Mr. Dreier?
Mr. Dreier. Has Mr. Emerson had his turn?
Chairman Boren. We have had rounds before, but you have not

had a chance to ask a question today.
Mr. Dreier. Well, there is an important reason for that, Mr.

Chairman. It's the fact that I've been sitting over in the Rules
Committee. I apologize to Senator Byrd and my colleagues on the
committee. We were doing something that the Senate is already
taking up. We're looking at the family leave and the motor/voter
bill to deal with in the next couple of days, so I apologize for miss-

ing much of the testimony.
But I would like to follow on with the line that was raised by our

friend from Colorado, Mr. Allard, and say that it seems to me that
Howard Baker has consistently talked about having what would

really be a parttime legislature. I think that this concept, of forcing
Members to actually get out there and deal with these issues, is

critically important. I would strongly support the idea of setting a
date.

We always have target adjournment dates. I have a little calen-

dar that was put out by our Whip's office that says we're going to

adjourn by such-and-such a date, but everyone knows that it's a

meaningless date. I think that the concept of actually putting a
date there would require us to really move on a wide range of

items.

So I congratulate you for that, Senator, and look forward to

working with you on it.

Senator Bond. Thank you, sir.

Chairman Boren. Thank you very much.
Mr. Emerson?
Mr. Emerson. Well, Senator, I compliment you on your sugges-

tions in the arena that has just been discussed here. You know, I

think for a long time there was a law on the books—it may still be
there—that says that Congress must adjourn by such-and-such a
date unless by law they otherwise provide.
Senator Bond. July 31, I believe, isn't it?

Mr. Emerson. And we, every year, by law otherwise provide.
I agree with you. I think your experience as a governor, working

with the legislature—I know we had a 90-day session and a 6-

month session; those kinds of time frames do sort of serve as a forc-

ing mechanism to get things done. I strongly believe we would be
well advised to try to meet a half year. Maybe in this modern era a
half year is not enough, but within my lifetime in Congress, there
were periods when Congress only met a half a year, and things
seemed to function a lot better than they do now. I think maybe we
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need to resurrect that idea, and I commend you for your sugges-
tion.

Senator Bond. Thank you, sir.

Chairman Boren. Thank you very much.
Senator Domenici?
Senator Domenici. Thank you much, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Bond, I greatly appreciate not only your testimony

today, but your enthusiastic support for reform. Needless to say, if

we do something meaningful we're going to need support from
people like you, and because you've taken time to testify and pre-
pare your remarks, I am very hopeful that we can stay in touch
with Senators like you so that your support today won't wilt as we
move through this very arduous process.

Having said that, Senator, it seems to me that kind of a bomb-
shell waiting to explode is the lack of oversight by the Congress on
activities of the Federal Government which we have created,

passed laws about, or appropriate regularly. Just as an example,
the savings and loan crisis cost us a huge amount of money, bil-

lions and billions. I think that real, bona fide oversight might have
helped.

I think there are many programs and projects of the Federal
Government that are wasteful, that are waiting around to be ex-

posed because they are not working. I think there are guarantee
programs that are literally explosive. I think we've got programs in

VA housing and FHA housing that until recently were totally out
of focus with modern administration—long delays and lack of
records—and that's just a few things that I know about. I think
there are scores of them.

Frankly, I believe that so long as we have the structure that
we've got—and as our good chairman of Appropriations indicated,
"fractured attention," which is principally devoted to where we can

get some press; as we fracture it, we fracture it on the side of "how
can we make something newsworthy," and oversight is not always
newsworthy. It surely would be if we were busy at it in the right

way.
Second on that score, I think people know that I am not a fan of

the GAO at this point because I think they ought to be audited

also, and they ought to have peer review if they're going to be such

great, great paragons of telling everybody how to do things. We
ought to know that they're not partisan. We ought to know they're
professional, and we ought to know that they're using our money
right.
But it seems to me that we are more and more delegating over-

sight to them. We find a problem and we say, "GAO, study it."

Then it is reported, and whoever asked for it, if the report is politi-

cally sexy, they claim victory, and hardly anything is done.
Do you have any thoughts based on your time here as to how we

might cajole, coerce, whatever it is, committees and Senators into

doing more oversight in a regular way other than the small
amount that appropriators do, which seems to be about all we do in

a very major way?
Senator Bond. Senator Domenici, I couldn't agree with you more

on the need for oversight. It's obvious. Some of the things that you
have already suggested literally spun out of control. The savings
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and loan crisis was such a one. It got so far out of control that I

joined with Senator Dodd and other colleagues on the Banking
Committee to come back and set up an outside group, the Savings
and Loan Commission, which is only now—because of resistance
from the Administration—working on what went wrong, to give us
a full report on what mistakes were made in hopes that we may
avoid them.

Now, I hate to have to go to an outside commission, but I think
that was the only way we could gain public credibility, because the

Banking Committee and others had lost credibility on that issue.

I could not agree with you more on the state of the General Ac-

counting Office. I have had more than several run-ins with the
General Accounting Office where their reports are made as direct-

ed, where their workmanship is sloppy, and I have been a strong
supporter, with Senator Reid, of having a review, an audit. If this

committee wished to take that on, I believe there are consider-

ations in the Rules Committee. I think that going to the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants to get an anonymous
group of leading auditors, CPAs, not connected or readily identifia-

ble with any particular accounting firm, who would go in and thor-

oughly review the work of the GAO, could be helpful.
But to go back, oversight is the role of the committees, both the

authorizing and the appropriating committees. I have great confi-

dence that the new subcommittee on Appropriations of which I will

be the ranking member has followed that oversight responsibility

carefully in the past, and I will try to continue your high standards
of oversight on Treasury and Postal. But I think it is inherent in

the responsibility of both the authorizing and the appropriating
committees. Whether this committee could require a report with
authorizations—I know private sector entities which provide fund-

ing always require a report back on the use of that funding. It is

possible that some form of reporting back on a regular basis could
be imposed; or, as has been tried in many States, a sunset provision
on agencies and programs which says, "This agency terminates
unless and until it is reauthorized and refunded by the Congress at

a date certain." You could stagger the dates of sunset as we stagger
authorizations now.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much, Senator Bond. I want

to thank you again for taking the time to appear before us. We
thank you for your encouragement and your suggestions and we
look forward to working with you, not only on the issues that you
have discussed today, but other issues related to reform as this

committee prepares to bring its recommendations to the full

Senate.
Senator Bond. Mr. Chairman, I thank you and the Members of

the committee. I wish you well.

Chairman Boren. Thank you very, very much.
I am going to ask our colleague, Senator Grassley, to come up to

the witness table at this point.
Senator Grassley, we very much appreciate your taking the time

to come before this committee. Our task is a very important one
and we are very much aided and helped in this task when we can
hear firsthand from our colleagues. We have received many letters

with suggestions; we are going to put all those into our record, but
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we especially appreciate it when our colleagues take the time and
demonstrate the interest to come and visit with us in person.
Senator Grassley entered the Senate in 1981. It has been my

privilege to serve with him both on the Agriculture Committee,
where he is a very valuable member and brings great personal ex-

perience to the work of that committee, and also on the Finance
Committee where we have also worked together on a number of
issues. We heard earlier today from Senator Byrd as he looked at
the history of the institution about the increase of partisanship in

the Congress and the damage that it's done, and that we've not
often enough found ways to work together. Let me just say to my
colleagues, particularly those from the House, that this Senator
has always found that even though we are of different parties, that
has never prevented Senator Grassley from working with me and
with others. He has always tried to put the national interest first

and he has been a real example to all of us in regard to the biparti-

sanship with which he has approached his job as a Senator. I ap-
preciate that.

Senator Grassley, we welcome you before this committee and we
would listen with interest to the suggestions that you have to make
to us.

STATEMENT OF HON. CHARLES E. GRASSLEY, A U.S. STATES
SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF IOWA

Senator Grassley. As an example of you and I working together,
today we have put in a bill to reinstitute the tax deductibility of

interest on student loans. I thank you for your leadership in that
area and for working with me on that.

Mr. Chairman, thank you for your kind remarks, other Members
of the committee, both Senators and Congressmen. Thank you for

the hard work that you are doing for the people of the country and,
most importantly, for your colleagues, with this extra assignment
that you have. It is very important and I look forward to working
with you and the progress and changes that will be made.
Of course, I thank you for this opportunity for my presentation.

The issue of Congressional reform is, in my opinion, of the highest
importance so that we maintain the integrity of our democracy.
Congress, of course, is the people's branch of Government; yet the
American people hold our institution in low regard compared to

the other two Branches of Government. Obviously, the polls show
that. It is our responsibility and this committee's purpose to put
our house in order—both chambers, that is—in order to restore

confidence and trust of our citizens in their Government.
Our work must not only be comprehensible to the public, but our

work must also demonstrate accountability to the people. Their pri-
orities must be our priorities. Their goals and aspirations of their

Government must be our goals and aspirations. We must use our

power wisely and use it on behalf of the public. We must constant-

ly remind ourselves that we derive all of our authority from the
American people. Of course, that's the genius of our Constitutional

system.
I am particularly pleased that this committee is soliciting col-

leagues' views on Congressional reform. Let me tell you about the
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little bit that I've been involved in this issue. I haven't made any
Congressional friends with my efforts to get Congress to follow the

laws that we pass for all other Americans. The best thing I can say
about the annoyed reaction of my colleagues, such as a Senator
who told me he hoped that I would be the first to be sued under
the civil rights violations, is that the attack has been bipartisan. Of
course, that's appropriate, because the issue is not a partisan one,

especially not with the American people who are outraged when
they learn that Congress exempts itself from the laws it expects ev-

eryone else to live by.
The need for full Congressional coverage was one of the very few

issues that President Clinton, President Bush, and Ross Perot

agreed on during the last campaign. I think President Clinton

summed up the problem quite nicely in an interview when he said

this: "It is wrong for Congress to be able to put new requirements
on American businesses and employers, and then not follow that

rule as employers themselves. They exempt themselves historically
from all kinds of rules that private sector employers have to follow,

and I think," President Clinton said, "that one of the things that

happens to the people in Government is that they forget what it's

like to be governed. They don't have any idea of what it's like to be

on the receiving end of a lot of these rules and regulations and re-

quirements."
Of course, I was pleased to hear this, and at that time I wrote

then—Governor Clinton and asked for his support in getting Con-

gressional coverage. I have not heard back from him, but I am con-

fident that he will stick to his position on this important matter.

The President is right when we exempt ourselves from all kinds of

rules. Under my amendment to the 1991 Civil Rights Act, the

Senate is now covered under the civil rights laws, but we still

exempt ourselves from the Fair Labor Standards Act, the National
Labor Relations Act, the Social Security Act, the Equal Pay Act,
the Freedom of Information Act, OSHA, the Privacy Act, and

many other laws of general applicability.

Congress' unwillingness to taste its own legislative medicine, let

alone swallow that medicine, is certainly not what the framers had
in mind. Federalist Paper 57, written by James Madison, says
about Members of Congress being covered by law—or more impor-

tantly, about how Congress itself will work as a great institution—
it says "It can make no law which will not have its full operation
on themselves and their friends, as well as the great mass of socie-

ty. This has always been deemed one of the strongest bonds by
which human policy can connect the rulers and the people togeth-
er. It creates between them that communion of interest and sympa-
thy of sentiments of which few governments have furnished exam-

ples, but without which every government degenerates into tyran-

ny. If the American Constitutional spirit ever be so far debased as

to tolerate a law not obligatory on the legislature as well as on the

people, the people will be prepared to tolerate anything but liber-

ty." And I think Madison was right. The citizens of our Republic
are not willing to tolerate Congress refusing to live by the laws
that it passes. That is why in 1991, in the face of strong public

scrutiny in the wake of banking scandals as well as another contro-

versial Supreme Court confirmation, the environment was ripe,
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and the Senate was finally willing to pass my amendment requir-
ing Senatorial adherence to civil rights laws, including the laws

prohibiting sexual harassment.
Prior to that date my efforts in this area had been sternly re-

buked. My amendment to an earlier civil rights bill failed. My
amendment to the Americans With Disabilities Act was dropped in

conference, and I wasn't even allowed to offer my amendment to
the family leave bill when the Senate debated it in 1991. Now, this

very day I am happy to say that the bill that the Senate is discuss-

ing on family leave does include coverage of the Senate.

However, the adoption of the Civil Rights Amendments of 1991
does not mean that the job is done. Under current coverage, and
despite the spotlight on it, the Senate still doesn't subject itself to

the same enforcement mechanisms that the private sector faces. In
lieu of a jury trial it substituted an efficient Office of Fair Employ-
ment Practice with review by the Ethics Committee, and then the
Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. I was only willing to

accept this compromise because it provided at least some judicial
review.

As this Joint Committee examines these issues, along with the
Senate Task Force on Congressional Coverage, I would ask this

question for consideration: why shouldn't Congress be subject to

the same processes—a lengthy, expensive jury trial in Federal
Court—as private sector employees? Surely the answer is not that

Congress thinks itself above the laws. Could it be that an independ-
ent inhouse arbitrator, subject to House review, and only limited

judicial review is a more efficient, reasonable, and intelligent way
to resolve employer/employee disputes? If it is, and it could be that
it is, then we should alter the civil rights laws and the labor laws
to impose on the rest of the country, as employers, the same proce-
dures Congress is willing to subject itself to.

If Congressional offices are routinely in violation of OSHA, what
credibility can we have in mandating onerous administrative and
other penalties for private sector employees who have offices as
crowded as ours are?
The willingness of Congress to follow the laws it passes will be

evidence of our respect for and connection to the American people.

Congress should not be a privileged elite which will follow its own
set of rules. The people will continue to see us as out of touch if

that's the route that Congress chooses.
We need to swallow our own medicine with the long lawsuits

with expensive lawyer meters running and the unfriendly atmos-

phere of witness stand and the onerous administrative penalties
and proceedings. Otherwise, we should stop prescribing it for the
rest of the country.
The second point that I would like to bring before the committee,

one that will be addressed in more detail when the Joint Commit-
tee considers the committee system, is this. As Members of Con-

gress, we are caught on the horns of a dilemma. On the one hand
we are expected to be generalists, voting on legislation ranging
from tax laws to foreign affairs to agricultural policy. On the other

hand, we are supposed to gain expertise in certain areas to ensure

manageability of the legislative process and to match the level of
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the expertise of the Executive Branch and the independent agen-
cies on particular issues.

We achieve our expertise in particular areas primarily through
service on the legislative committees. Under our current committee

system, with a few notable exceptions—such as the Intelligence
Committee and the House Budget Committee—Members generally
serve for as long as they want. The committee assignments fre-

quently align with the organization and responsibilities of Federal

agencies. As a result of fulfilling the oversight responsibilities,
Members become intimately involved with outside groups whose in-

terest in the regulatory agencies' treatment of often-technical sub-

jects greatly exceeds the general public's interest.

To address these problems I introduced in the 102d Congress to

limit a Member's service on committees to 8 years. They would be

eligible to return to that committee after serving elsewhere for 4

years. Rotation would be phased in to preserve a level of continuity
and experience among Members. Additionally, the service of com-
mittee chairmen would be limited, obviously because of the limita-

tion on committee membership. I have not yet reintroduced this

proposal in the 103rd Congress because I seek to work with this im-

portant committee on our mutual endeavor to reform Congress.
However, I may reintroduce the committee term limit proposal
later on if necessary, and I would think that this is something that

if the issue of term limitations ever comes up in Congress, ought to

be a proposal to be discussed at that point so that we don't, in a

sense, throw the baby out with the bathwater. That tends to be

part of the end result of term limitations.

There are other benefits to limiting committee service, as well.

First, we could more effectively control wasteful spending. Today,
many Members seek committee assignments where they can influ-

ence areas of particular importance to their home States. In this

way they can steer funding to their constituents. If Members had
to rotate their service, it would likely impede their ability to shift

porkbarrel spending to their own States. Instead, spending would
be based on national interests rather than the cloud of longevity of

a particular Member.
Second, by moving to different committees Members would gain

expertise in many different areas of policy rather than only a few.

This would allow Members to approach problems with insight from
other areas that can share in a variety of assignments.

I might say parenthetically at this point that I served 4 years on
the House Banking Committee. I would never want to go back to a

banking committee, necessarily, but let me tell you, it was so help-
ful to me in so many subject areas that I've had to discuss in other

committees or generally in the years that I haven't been on the

House Banking Committee. I think every Member ought to serve

on a banking committee for a short period of time because it really

gives you a lot of insight into a lot of areas of Government you
wouldn't otherwise get.

I think by having knowledge regarding a larger area of public

policy areas, Members will become better legislators. A Member
knows little more about a committee's domain after 20 years than
he did if he or she served on that committee for only eight.
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In the atmosphere of distrust, disillusionment, and disgust that
the public today feels towards Congress, many citizens have decid-
ed that they favor term limits on Congressional service, and I be-
lieve that term limits on committee service will go a long way to-

wards meeting that concern that led such an overwhelming propor-
tion of our population to favor that amendment.
The relationship among committees, agencies, and special inter-

est groups is one of the most effective ways incumbents can en-
trench themselves in Congress. In that way, legislators often come
to represent special interests more and more and the public inter-
est less and less, and I say that even in light of the fact that I, to
be intellectually honest, have to say to you that the public interest
to some extent can be defined as an accumulation, the total global
special interests put together. But it's how much attention you
spend to the narrow special interests as opposed to the national in-

terests, and I think we tend to focus more upon that national inter-
est with committee assignments that are more general in nature
and of shorter tenure.

Let me briefly touch in two paragraphs on one last point, and
that is the confirmation process. I am a member of the Judiciary
Committee and have been involved in some very controversial

ones, a fair number of controversial nominations, but it's some-
thing that involves every committee.

I don't think the process is working. Confirmation hearings are

inconsistent, repetitive, and too often destructive of the nominee.
That may be more important with some recent Supreme Court
nominees than it would be Cabinet and other people generally, but
I think it can be said of a lot of them.
And, of course, without stating it, the public has a right to know

that an individual is fit for this high office to which he might be

appointed. But I think the system has run amok.
Now, I should have answers for you. I don't. But we need to

think about this issue and bring more order to the process. I hope
that this is on your agenda. As I refine my thinking on this subject
I will be glad to share my views.
So again, Mr. Chairman, thank you for not only this opportunity

to appear, but your extra service to the people of your State and
your country as you serve on this committee. I welcome any future

opportunity to testify on other specific areas that you will be tack-

ling, such as the budget process, the committee system, enhancing
public understanding, and staffing. And I will be pleased to answer
any questions. You don't have to have any, but if you do, I will be

happy to answer them.
[The prepared statement of Senator Grassley is printed in the

Appendix.]
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much, Senator Grassley.
Have you submitted to us some additional areas, either by letter

or otherwise, that we need to look at specifically in terms of lack of

coverage by Congress of laws under which—you mentioned
OSHA—under which our constituents must live?
Senator Grassley. I'll be definitive in a letter to you, and I can

be. I think we can be very precise on that.
But basically, the big areas are the ones I listed here. There were

basically 18 areas of law, of which I think we've covered 5, and
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with the passage of the family bill, we might cover—well, that

really doesn't cover one of the 13 remaining because that's a new
area, but at least we aren't adding to the list.

Chairman Boren. Right. Well, we would value that and would
like to solicit you to do that so that we could have that before us as

we go on. A number of Members of our committee have expressed
interest in this subject and a determination to make us, to the
maximum extent possible, live under the same laws and rules that

we impose upon our constituents. I think all of us here from time
to time have heard the comment that "if you people had to come
back and live under the laws that you're making us live under, you
might have a different view of some things." I think that's a very
important point.
Let me turn to Mr. Allard. Any questions?
Mr. Allard. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I have one question on full Congressional coverage. There are

those who don't support full Congressional coverage, and their

answer is that it's a separation of powers between three Branches
of Government, the Legislative, the Executive, and the Judicial.

Then the solution is proposed that you set up an agency within the

Congress to handle compliance with those laws.

Now, my personal feeling is that we still have a situation where
we are treating the elected Representative different from the aver-

age person on the street, but I would be interested in hearing your
comments on that particular issue.

Senator Grassley. Well, I believe I partly addressed it on the

subject of whether or not under the civil rights laws we ought to be

sued, and I made the point that if it's OK for Congress to have this

sort of redress for our employees, then maybe we ought to give the

same sort of redress to the average citizen as well as the busines-

sperson involved.

My feeling is this, that the speech and debate clause doesn't

cover these situations. It's nothing for us to be concerned about. If

it is, then obviously we ought to adjust anything that makes it very
difficult for us as employers to meet the law because of Constitu-

tional requirements. We shouldn't set up a special system for us;

we ought to allow the same system for the rest of the country.
That's how I would solve that problem.
Chairman Boren. Senator Domenici?
Senator Domenici. I have no questions. I just want to thank Sen-

ator Grassley for his genuine interest. Hopefully, as we move
through we will stay in touch and come up with some reforms that

you can support. Those that you have testified about today are seri-

ously under consideration. A number of Members have raised

them. We thank you for your leadership in all of those areas.

Senator Grassley. Thank you very much.
Chairman Boren. Vice-Chairman Dreier?
Mr. Dreier. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
And thank you, Senator Grassley, for your very helpful testimo-

ny.
Let me first thank you for underscoring that very important

57th Federalist. There are more than a few compilations of the

Federalist Papers that tragically leave out the 57th, which I think
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is one of the most important— not just because of this issue, but

clearly the issue of compliance with laws is very important.
I don't want to try—and there's no way I could possibly—to

outdo you, but I have at a number of these hearings raised an issue

which came to my attention when, during the last fall campaign, I

referred to the fact that we as the Congress need to be required to

live within the laws that are imposed on the rest of the people. I

was at an event and talked about it, and my father stopped me
afterwards and said, "Oh, no, David, you shouldn't just require
that Congress live within the laws that you all impose. You should

require that Congress live for one year with any regulation that is

proposed to be imposed on the American people, and only after you
all in Congress decide it's a very worthwhile, helpful, beneficial

regulation, then you should impose it on the rest of us."

Would you like to respond to that, Senator?
Senator Grassley. Of course, I've been a longtime advocate of

something that wouldn't be Constitutionally permissible since the

Chadda case in 1983, but I have been an advocate of at least great-

er Congressional review of those regulations before they go into

effect, and have a one-House or two-House veto of them. But
under the presentment clause of the Federal Constitution, it has to

be a joint resolution which is submitted to the President for his sig-

nature, which basically that if we're going to hold our ground, we
would have to have a two-thirds vote in support of our feeling that

it was not a correct regulation.
But as a practical matter, my answer to that constituent is this—

I suppose two answers. Number one, an admittance on my part is

that we probably delegate too much regulation writing. We aren't

specific enough in our writing of Congressional intent, so it gives a

great deal of leeway to the Administration in the regulation writ-

ing. We ought to be more precise, which would then curb that

power that they have, which power is generally to do their own

thing and to find a way of frustrating the will of Congress. That's

probably an editorial comment, but I believe that's the strong feel-

ing I have.
The other one is, strictly to that constituent of yours—your

father, I guess it was
Mr. Dreier. He's not a constituent.

Senator Grassley. OK. In that specific case I suppose the precise

answer is that supposedly we are living under the regulations
when we live under the law. The only extent to which that

wouldn't be true is the extent to which the regulation is ultra

vires, and we don't do anything about it, or the citizen doesn't do

anything about it through the courts. But assuming it is Constitu-

tional, within the statute and everything, then we're living under

it as well.

I suppose a specific example of that would be the issue of sexual

harassment, which wasn't a specific statement in our amendments
to the Civil Rights Act in 1991; but because EEOC has issued regu-

lations on that, and since Title VII is applicable to the Congress of

the United States, it is my judgment that we are affected the same

way on that issue as private citizens are, private employers are.

Mr. Dreier. Let me just raise one other point, Senator.
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I don't want you to feel that we have completely addressed the

issue of compliance with the family and medical leave bill. We just
had a battle up in the House Rules Committee over this issue be-

cause, while we are required to live within most of the constraints

of that law, we will unfortunately not allow our employees to sue,

as they can in the private sector. So there is not identical compli-

ance, as I think there should be.

Senator Grassley. I don't know this to be a fact, but even for the

Senate I imagine it probably follows the same remedies for this as

we have under the Civil Rights Act, which is through the Fair Em-
ployment Practices Office of the Senate.

Mr. Dreier. Thank you very much for your helpful comments.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much, Senator Grassley, for

taking time to come, and also for appearing out of order. We have
run behind schedule, and we appreciate very much your being with
us.

I am going to ask our colleague, Senator Brown, if he would
come forward at this time and be our concluding witness today.
Senator Hank Brown came to the Senate 2 years ago from the

House of Representatives after service there. He serves on the

Budget Committee and Foreign Relations and Judiciary. Let me
say he has already established himself as a serious and hardwork-

ing member of the Senate. We are glad that he has come over to

join us.

We would welcome your comments and your suggestions to this

committee.

STATEMENT OF HON. HANK BROWN, A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE
STATE OF COLORADO

Senator Brown. Mr. Chairman, let me add my thanks to the

committee. For you all to sit through all of this testimony shows

great fortitude on the part of all of you, and I recognize all of you
as having been leaders in this area for a long time.

I think the service that you are doing on this committee will be
of immense benefit to the country. I want to leave for your record,
if I may, a variety of comments in a number of areas, but simply
focus primarily on one area.

Chairman Boren. Without objection, we will put your full state-

ment into the record.

Senator Brown. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I suppose the process that I have found over the years to be the

most admirable, the most workable, the most effective, is what I

think of as the legislative process in my own mind. That's a bit dif-

ferent than what we do in either the House or the Senate. That

legislative process I think of and describe as legislators sitting

down, talking over a problem, looking at the amendments, sharing
ideas, voting them out, and generally putting something together.

I think it would be fair to say, at least in the State legislature
where I served a number of years ago, that 95 percent of what we
worked on was nonpartisan, and perhaps even a higher degree on
that. It was nonpartisan partly because of the climate of that legis-

lative body, but partly because we sat down together and worked
on things, heard the same testimony, and talked things over, all
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things that simply do not happen in Congress. We did not give lec-

tures to witnesses and then leave because of the press of time. We
did not have proxy voting. We had to sit and listen to each other.
We had to listen to the descriptions of what we were talking about.
What often happened was that someone would say, "Look, that's
the dumbest idea I've ever heard of, and here's why." And often-
times—not always—oftentimes you would have bruised feelings,
but oftentimes somebody would say, "Well, you know, maybe
you've got a point there. We'll work it out."
That whole exchange very seldom happens, and it normally hap-

pens in this process—I think in both the House and the Senate—
when individual legislators sit down and talk to each other, but

very seldom in committee.
What's the solution? If I could simply recommend one thing to

you, it would be to eliminate proxy voting, and make the other rule

changes that are necessary to make the system work. Obviously
you can't eliminate proxy voting if you have three subcommittees
going at the same time. You can't eliminate proxy voting if you
have votes on the floor at the same time. You can't eliminate proxy
voting if you end up having committees meeting in a wide variety
of different locations.

What's the answer? Limit Congress to two committees. By "Con-

gress" I mean both the House and the Senate, a maximum of two
committees. Is that doable? Yes. Eliminate most of your subcom-
mittees. Is that tough? Yes. You face an awesome task. I fought a
little bit on reducing committee staff over the years that I was in

the House and the Senate and I have some feel for what a warm
reception those proposals will get.

[Laughter.]
Senator Brown. But there is no question that we'll come up with

better legislation if you can reduce the number of subcommittees,
if you can reduce the number of committees, and limit Members to

two committees, and then do schedules. And by "schedules" I mean
nothing more complicated than A committees and B committees; A
committees meet on Monday and Wednesday, B committees meet
on Tuesday and Thursday. It could be anything. It could be that A
committees meet in the morning and B committees meet in the
afternoon. But simply scheduling those committees is very simple,
very easy, and it virtually assures that there is never a conflict be-

tween those two committees. It means everybody in the Senate and
the House gets an A committee and a B committee—and I'm not

referring to our versions now of A and B committees, but simply
committees that are on an A schedule and a B schedule.
But if we will do that scheduling, if we will reduce the number of

subcommittees, we can virtually eliminate the things that have
driven us to proxy voting. I know there will be some concerns
about eliminating proxy voting, and it does serve some other pur-
poses. But in terms of the quality of legislative work, that single
reform would make a world of difference. It would make it phys-
ically possible for people to be there. As a matter of fact, it would
make it mandatory that they be there if their vote is going to

count. People would actually hear each other's arguments. My
guess is that sometimes even the change of the vote is based on
other people's arguments.
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My experience here in 12 years, and the 4 years in the legisla-

ture, is that I often found someone from the other side of the aisle

had some pretty good ideas. I often found my colleagues on my side

of the aisle had some pretty good ideas. Occasionally I even found
that by talking together, we could work things out and come up
with a much better solution. That simply doesn't happen as long as
we have proxy voting.
One other thing I would add to your burden of consideration

today, and that is this. I believe there is an enormous value in de-

veloping a nonpartisan staff—or perhaps I should say, going back
to a nonpartisan staff. Is it difficult? Yes. Should we entirely elimi-

nate partisan staff? Probably that's not realistic. But it seems to

me quite realistic that a portion of the functions handled by each
committee could well be handled by nonpartisan permanent staff.

That gives a whole different flavor to the kind of work we're on,
and is much more likely to help people work together to develop
common facts.

Let me give you just one simple example that we live with every
day. We end up having a baseline budget done by OMB; baseline

budget estimates done by CBO; an appropriations system that
works on different budget categories. If you think back to the Bibli-

cal stories of the Tower of Babel, where we were all cursed with
different languages, that inability to use a common language and
communicate with each other leads to countless arguments on the
floor that are ludicrous. Grown men and women simply don't need
to talk different languages when we're trying to solve common
problems.
That same example, obviously, can be solved if we develop a

common format, if we develop categories in our appropriations
cycle that correspond to our budget cycle. Those are not problems
beyond the grasp of mankind. They are easily solvable, but they
lead to a common language.

Likewise, I think a nonpartisan staff would be most helpful in

developing a common language for developing things. Not giving
up principle, not giving up your perspective or objective, but devel-

oping a way to communicate with each other that can be so help-
ful.

One other thing I mention because it is so minor that I can't

help but think it might be solvable, too. As I understand Senate
rules, dissenting views or separate views can be submitted on every
committee we have, with the exception of the Appropriations Com-
mittee. For some reason, no one seems to know why, separate
views are not allowed on appropriation matters that come to the
floor. We have talked to the Rules Committee. They said it hap-
pened some 20 years ago and they can't remember the reason why
they made the rule change. We talked to the Parliamentarian; they
say yes, it might have been a couple decades ago, and the Parlia-
mentarian doesn't understand the reason why dissenting views or

separate views aren't allowed on appropriation bills. There may
well be a ringing, valid reason for that, but it strikes me that sepa-
rate views on appropriations have merit and might be allowed.
Mr. Chairman, the only other things that I would mention are

things that you've already heard about, perhaps ad nauseam: term
limitations, having us live by the rules that everyone else lives by.
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But if we can eliminate proxy voting and do the kind of things that
make that possible, I believe we would have a Congress that would
work much better together.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much, Senator Brown.
I find myself in agreement with what you said, beginning with

nonpartisan staff. We did that during the 6 years that I chaired the

Intelligence Committee, so I know at least one Senate committee
has operated on that basis. We had only two Members of our entire

staff designated as partisan. There was a majority staff director

and a minority staff director, really the personal assistants to the
vice chair in the case of the Republican staff member, and to

myself in the case of the Democratic staff member. And we're

doing the same thing in this committee. In 6 years I never asked a

single member of our committee staff whether they happened to be
a Democrat or a Republican. Our General Counsel, for example,
was one of the top three staffers on our committee, and to this good
day I couldn't tell you which party he belonged to.

Now, that requires a real understanding and comity between the

ranking majority and minority Members of the committee. For ex-

ample, I never sought to hire a committee staff member that Sena-
tor Cohen or Senator Murkowski, who served with me during that

6-year time, did not join with me in feeling that they were quali-
fied. We did not try to push people into the staff that we didn't

both think were well qualified to serve, because otherwise you
might then have the minority with no representation. In other

words, you might have a chairman who would say, "I'm going to

hire 20 staff Members and they are all going to be absolute parti-
san Democrats, and we'll have no minority staff."

So as you said, I think it requires a real mutual respect, which is

absolutely fundamental and which really must be restored. I can

only tell you that I think the resulting work of our committee was
a thousand percent better than it would have been if we had had a

partisan staff, because many times the divisions on committees are
driven by staff who are looking after political agendas of a party—
or individual Members, in some cases—instead of the agenda of

building a consensus and doing what's right for the country.
So I agree with you very strongly, and as I say, there are exam-

ples. We can cite that example in the Senate and show that it can
work. Frankly, we hoped that someday someone would look at

what we had done and say, "Let's try to make our other commit-
tees the same way."

I agree with you about proxy voting as well, and I do think that
the only way that will work obviously, is if we have a significant
reduction in the number of committees and subcommittees. I chair
two subcommittees. I would be happy to give up those chairman-

ships tomorrow for the sake of reducing the number of subcommit-
tees substantially in the House and the Senate.
So I think you have made some very good points.
The other thing I would hope we would do, and I think this

would come more if we were all in the same room listening to each
other, I wish we would write our amendments out. One of the

things that shocked me when I came here was not only that Mem-
bers didn't sit there and work on bills together, but they came in

and out, left proxies, and so on; but also, as we didn't, as we did in



50

the State legislature, have to put our amendments in writing. I can
remember when I first came here actually offering a written

amendment, getting it voted on—which was sort of unusual, to

offer a written amendment in committee—and then having the

committee staff totally redraft it to change the effect of an amend-
ment that the committee had adopted in writing. I was told by the

committee staff, "Well, we're not used to have amendments offered

in writing, and therefore we always thought we had editorial dis-

cretion to change the language of an amendment." They changed it

so drastically that even though I won the vote, I lost the drafting.
We finally did get that straightened out.

Senator Brown. If I could share a story in that regard?
Chairman Boren. Absolutely.
Senator Brown. Several years ago I served on the Ways and

Means Committee in the House, and the question of how you tax

partnerships had come up, once they were publicly traded. I had
become active on that, and had worked a little with the staff on the

wording of it, and we had gotten some language passed in commit-
tee that dealt with it in a certain way.
When it came out in the bill, which we saw later—as you know,

Ways and Means doesn't always make the copy of what they've
done available, even after it is passed, for some time period—when
it passed on the floor, the language that the staff had put in the

bill had exactly the opposite effect of what we had gotten passed in

committee. That went into law, and then the Treasury Department
wrote regulations, and the regulations of the Treasury Department
were exactly opposite of what Congress had passed—thankfully,
from m> point of view, similar to what I had gotten passed in com-
mittee.

[Laughter.]
Senator Brown. It shows extraordinary flexibility in the system,

but I think the integrity of the process suffers.

Chairman Boren. It certainly does. I finally did go to a meeting
of the staff which was redrafting my amendment, which would
have been voted on in writing, and first was told that I really
didn't belong in a meeting of the staff where they were actually

writing the legislation, being a mere Senator, having been elected

by the people. I did produce a copy of the Constitution, which did

set forth our lawmaking authority, since we are elected by the

people. But it still took the intervention of the chairman, finally, to

come and explain that I might be right in terms of what our re-

sponsibilities were.
But you are absolutely right, there has been too much looseness

in the process, and part of it is because we do not sit down together
and reaily legislate together. I really have had only one experience
since I've been here that I thought worked that way. We wrote the

Farm Credit Act together, Democrats and Republicans on the Agri-
culture Committee five or 6 years ago when the system was about
to collapse, very much like the S&L situation. I might say it turned
out much happier. We had very small losses compared to those in

other sectors and banks and S&Ls, but the Members actually sat

there—we had over 90 percent attendance for over 80 hours of

actual meeting. We wrote all of our own amendments ourselves

while we sat there. We voted on all of them in writing. A few times
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we even solicited advice from the public who had been sitting in

the sessions, because they were all open meetings. I thought that

was very unique, to let the people have a little input when we were

legislating.
But I think that when we were through all of us had a sense of

exhilaration; not that we thought that we had a perfect bill, but

that we had really legislated and we had really done something
that we all thought we were coming here to do in the first place.

But it stands out in my mind because it was such a rare experi-

ence.

I think what you have described for us is, unfortunately, a very
true experience and not at all unusual. I hope that the suggestions

you have made will be listened to, and I hope that when we do give

our colleagues a chance to vote on reducing these committees and

subcommittees so that we can in fact be able schedule our time so

that we can be expected to be at meetings and not vote by proxy
and the rest of it, that we will be able to make headway and suc-

ceed.

Senator Domenici?
Senator Domenici. Mr. Chairman, I want to share your enthusi-

asm for the participation of our Senator from Colorado as a Sena-

tor. I truly believe you have been an extraordinary Senator for the

short amount of time you have been here, and I hope that our

system doesn't wilt that, but rather continues to permit you to

grow in your participation, because I think you have a very, very

good approach to Government and you deserve to be heard.

In that regard, let me say without dealing with specifics that I

have found from time to time that you, as a Senator, have gone to

great ends to work on projects that are not necessarily in your
committee jurisdiction because you feel very strongly about it, and

I gather because you sense—again, without any criticism on any
committees—you sense that the kind of work that you want to do

is not getting done by the committees and you want to make a

point.

Now, in our U.S. Senate, that is always a Senator's privilege; in

fact, it's one of our great luxuries because of the freedom we have

on the floor, with the nongermaneness approach, and a lot of other

things, and full debate.

But I think part of it on your part must be out of frustration

that committees are not, in your opinion, doing their work to the

full extent that they should and could, for a variety of reasons. The
leader of the Appropriations Committee has used two words that I

think are very important. He has said, "We are suffering from

fractured attention." I think that's true. I think the multiplicity of

committee work, of assignments, undertaking this and that and the

other, our attention is fractured.

But aside from that, would you care to just discuss the effective-

ness that you see here in our committees in both oversight, appro-

priating, and legislating, without my asking you to be specific

about things, unless you want to? But would you give us your gen-
eral sense, having been here for just 2 years?
Senator Brown. I suppose none of us can separate our experi-

ences. Having served in the State legislature for 4 years and the
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House for 10 years, the Senate experience seems to blend with
that.

But I simply don't know a Member, either Democrat or Republi-
can, liberal or conservative, that thinks that the deficit that we're

running up is anything but a disgrace. They don't mean that as a

personal criticism of individuals, but I don't know of anyone who
serves in either the House or Senate that isn't absolutely horrified

by the results of what we've done to our country.
That requires fundamental redressing. Obviously, some of those

things go beyond this committee. Some of it, though, I do think is

fairly described by the chairman of the Appropriations Committee
in talking about fractured attention. I think part of it is contribut-

ed by the fact that we have not set forth limits on ourselves. I

think part of it is set forth by this babble that has been imposed on
us by budgeting in one set of areas, and having the appropriation
bills be in a different format. We do take care of that, of course,
with some suballocations, but those are less than perfect.

Part of it, though, I think, is addressed by the fact that we as a

body—and when I say "we," I mean the U.S. Congress—have

simply been unable and unwilling to live with a single budget. In

the 12 years I've served in Congress, the Congress has not in a

single solitary year kept spending within its own budget. As all of

you know, there hasn't been a single year where we have cut

spending over what it was the prior year. That's never been the
case in the last several decades. It's always been an increase, and
we've never had a year where we've kept spending within that.

One year we came close but didn't quite make it.

Those are perhaps more fundamental and tougher decisions, and
I know all of you have addressed those with various proposals in

terms of Constitutional changes and perhaps even format changes
so that we speak the same language in budgeting and appropriat-
ing. But ultimately, I think it is party a reaction to the conflict be-

tween the Legislative and Executive bodies. I do find it absolutely

amazing that the Executive is allowed to play the games they do
with the budget estimates, and I just would share this one view.

In Colorado we never had a year where we didn't balance the

budget, and the big difference was that we started off with very
conservative estimates of economic behavior. The reason we did is,

we wanted any error to be an error that brought in more revenue
or less spending, not an error that could lead to a deficit.

Every year that I've been in Congress for the last 12 years, I

think our estimates have been fairly described, at the minimum, as

optimistic and at the outside, highly creative. We simply start with
the opposite approach.

Budget-wise, I think one of the solutions is to mandate on our-

selves cautious, conservative economic assumptions which will lead

to meeting our objectives. I think the Senator from New Mexico re-

members that we addressed this last year in the Budget Committee
where we literally passed in the Budget Committee a recommenda-
tion that we move to the Blue Chip 50 economic assumptions, to be
used for the budget. That was dropped in conference, as I recall,

but ultimately some addressing of the difference between the base
in Congress and the base in the White House in doing estimates is

important. Moving to common estimates in terms of forecast is es-
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sential if you're going to have a common language, and moving to

realistic economic assumptions is critical, as well.

Chairman Boren. Thank you very much.
Mr. Allard?
Mr. Allard. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
First of all, I would like to welcome my Senator from Colorado,

and I would just like the chairman to know that Senator Brown
was an advocate of reform before it was so politically popular to be

an advocate of reform. It's something that he's always worked hard

for and gained a lot of respect because of his efforts in that area.

I would first of all like to make a little bit of a comment and say
that I appreciate his comments on eliminating proxies, and I appre-
ciate your comments in support of that. I just came from a budget

meeting over in the House, and as most budget meetings go, I

made an amendment on eliminating the proxies. It didn't pass, but

the argument was made that "Well, let's wait and see what the

Committee on Organization of Congress does, and we'll support
that." There was a lot of support on both sides of the aisle to elimi-

nate proxies. If we look at some of the committees that are really

important, Appropriations and Rules, they don't have proxies. This

committee doesn't have proxies.
The point I made in the Budget Committee was that if you want

to view yourself as an important committee, you ought to do away
with proxies; that way your Members will be there, they will be lis-

tening, and they will be voting. So I just wanted to add that for the

record.

The other thing, I wanted to pull on your experience a little bit,

Senator Brown. You served in the Colorado General Assembly and
served in the House and the Senate and you've seen how we do

things in the State legislature. Obviously, we seem to be able to

consolidate services between the House and the Senate in the Colo-

rado General Assembly. Do you see areas here in the Congress that

would be nonpartisan areas where we could combine functions on

both the House and the Senate, and perhaps be able to eliminate

some staff, and maybe even some committees?
Senator Brown. Well, I think there are areas. There is no ques-

tion that they are controversial because they step on toes and they

step on existing staff, because consolidations will mean that fewer

people are needed.
But the Joint Tax Committee probably is a good example where

you can have a joint effort in a critical area. I think I would go

further, though. I think there is the potential for further combina-
tion of the staff of Finance and the staff of Ways and Means in

terms of a core nonpartisan professional staff. That sort of consoli-

dation, particularly if you're able to achieve a symmetry in com-

mittee organization between the House and the Senate, is a poten-
tial as well.

I say that gingerly because somehow working out corresponding

responsibilities between Energy and Commerce in the House and
the 72 committees in the Senate that attempt to cover Chairman

Dingle's responsibilities will be difficult. But I think developing a

symmetry of committee assignments would facilitate a portion of

the staff in those committees being nonpartisan. And frankly, I



54

think it would go a long way toward getting the House and the
Senate to work together in that regard.
So I think committee areas are particularly fruitful, where you

can move in that regard.
I do hope that this Congress will look—and I suspect it's beyond

this committee's focus—will look at reducing the number of staff.

The study by CRS shows that our staff for the U.S. Congress is now
nine times bigger than the staff of any country in the world. Again,
those are not my figures; those are our own staffs figures.
To some extent, my guess is that that is not only beyond any

reason or any justification, but to some extent I think it's self-de-

feating, that the extent of staff we've developed has gotten in the

way of good legislation. That doesn't mean they aren't bright
people or capable people. I think what we've done is almost put
hurdles or blocks in the path of good legislation by that, and I

think the focus on nonpartisanship is of value. But I also think a

simple effort to reduce staff can yield some results there, as well.

Mr. Allard. Senator Brown, I'd like to thank you for your com-
ments. They have been very helpful to the committee. I'm glad you
took time to come down here and be with us this evening.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much.
Let me say, Senator Brown, the number of staff is very much in

the jurisdiction of this committee. It is something we're going to

look at. I have said that I hope we can reduce by 25 percent over
the next 4 years, at a minimum. Again, as with the number of sub-

committees and their proliferation, I think in may ways we are cre-

ating work for ourselves. I have to have more staff because you
have more staff who are cranking out proposals about which I get
letters that I have to answer, and on and on and on. We are creat-

ing work for ourselves, and certainly there is a minimum level of

staffing that is necessary, given the complexity of our jobs and the

hope we have that the people will let us know how they feel, and

having their letters answered, and the rest of it.

But I agree with you, we've gone beyond either the economic rea-

sonable level and also the reasonable level in terms of increasing
our own efficiency and the ability to do our jobs.
Vice Chairman Dreier?
Mr. Dreier. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Let me join in the accolades for my friend, Senator Brown. I had

the privilege of playing a role in electing him president of the
freshman class back in our organizational meeting in December of

1980, so it's a great pleasure
Senator Brown. That's a long time ago, isn't it?

Mr. Dreier. Yes, that's exactly right. But that's when we were
elected, Hank.
So I am very pleased to see you here with, I believe, a great op-

portunity to bring your understanding of both Houses of Congress
to this committee, and that's something that I think is very help-
ful.

I serve on one of the two committees in the House which do not
allow proxy voting, the Appropriations Committee and the Rules
Committee. I serve on the Rules Committee. Also, I am very happy
to say, Mr. Chairman, that we don't have proxy voting on this

Joint Committee on the Organization of Congress. I, too, hope that
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we will be able to implement that throughout all the committees.

As we have discussed, by virtue of doing that, we automatically

will be able to bring about a reduction in the number of commit-

tees on which Members serve, and by that, the size of the staff.

So I think that they all really go hand-in-hand. One of the things

I think we ought to consider, and I'd like your thoughts on it, in

the House—I don't know if it works the same way in the Senate—

we have Members who will just break their necks to make sure

they get to a procedural vote on the House floor because they want

to have a 96, 98, 99 percent attendance record. We all know the

very distinguished gentleman from Kentucky, Mr. Natcher, who

with four decades of service here has never missed a recorded vote

on the House floor. And yet, with proxy voting even, with attend-

ance in committees, we don't have it reported very widely.

So one of the things I think we ought to consider, and I d like

your thoughts on this, Hank, should we have the attendance tor

committee hearings and committee markups and all printed in the

Congressional Record to try to give it the same kind of visibility

that we do these procedural votes which are recorded on the House

floor? Because we all know that the real work takes place in com-

mittee, and often there are just procedural votes down there, and

people seem to be more concerned about making a vote on the

House floor which may be of little or no consequence because it s a

procedural matter, and ignoring some of the work in committee,

which really potentially has a much greater effect.

Senator Brown. I think the point you make is very sound. 1

think of the things that came out of the Ways and Means Commit-

tee in the House, that normally the Rules Committee did not grant

the opportunity for people to address with amendments.

Literally, the votes in committee decided the legislation, at least

insofar as the House of Representatives was concerned. The Senate

is in a little different shape in that regard. To some extent, as you

know, that's true on other legislation, the way the House operates.

Oftentimes the critical votes will be in the committees.

I think that would be of value, having that information avail-

able, regardless of what other rules changes you make. But it does

strike me that one factor is terribly important here, and that s it

you move to giving committee votes that kind of visibility, or if you

ultimately eliminate proxy voting, it's very critical that you devel-

op some sort of schedule. The schedule seems like such a simple

idea and such an easy idea, but it's totally critical, I think, to

making it possible for people to be at the committees.

I have often wondered why in the world Congress never adopted

that, because it would be so easy to simply lay out the general time

periods in which the various committees would meet, and thus ad-

dress the conflict that takes place.

But if it becomes physically possible for people to be in those

committees, it seems to me it's only reasonable for voters to expect

their Representatives to be there.

Mr. Dreier. And it would seem to me that if, on top of that, we

eliminate proxy voting, rather than constantly wanting to serve on

another committee, another subcommittee, Members who know

that their attendance is going to be printed in the Record and that

they won't have proxy voting will say, gosh, rather than serving on
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12 or 13 subcommittees as it is in the Senate, and 7 or 8 as it is in

the House, Members will say, "Hey, I have to work specifically on
this area, so I'm not going to be able to just record my attendance
and then rush off to another hearing."
Senator Brown. I think you're right. That totally changes the

dynamics of it. All of a sudden people are focused on getting their

work done in the committee they're at rather than accumulating
staff or having proxy votes recorded in a large number of commit-
tees.

Mr. Dreier. Thank you very much. It was very helpful testimo-

Chairman Boren. There will be far fewer unnecessary commit-
tees and far fewer unnecessary meetings of unnecessary commit-
tees if we go to what you're suggesting, because Members are not

going to want to have their absences laid forth and they're not

going to want to miss voting on crucial matters if we do away with

proxy voting. So we will have fewer committees, fewer meetings,
and really be able to concentrate our time on what's important, if

we could move in this direction.

And scheduling 50 or 60 committees between the two Houses
would be a lot easier than scheduling 299 committees and subcom-

mittees, which we now have.
Thank you very, very much, Senator Brown, for being with us.

Senator Brown. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Boren. I have a statement from Senator Coats that,

without objection, I will enter into the record.

[The statement of Senator Coats is printed in the Appendix.]
Chairman Boren. Let me say to my colleagues that our next

meeting will be at 10:00 a.m. this Thursday, February 4, on the

House side, 2172 Rayburn House Office Building. We currently
have 35 House Members who have asked to testify. We will be

hearing them in panels, and we will be beginning them at 10:00

a.m. next Thursday.
We stand in recess until that time.

[Whereupon, at 5:47 p.m., the joint committee recessed, to recon-

vene at 10:00 a.m. on Thursday, February 4, 1993.]
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Before the Joint Committee on the Organization of Congress

I appreciate your invitation to appear here today. I welcome
the opportunity to offer my perspective on the tasks that lie
before this Committee, and I shall address my remarks only to
the operations of the Senate, not the House of Representatives.

Last year was called by some "the year of the woman." Others
termed last year "a year of change."

Be that as it may, last year was certainly "the year of open
season on Congress."

Some of us who have served here for some time — and all of us
who take pride in our accomplishments here on Capitol Hill —
found ourselves wondering at the whirlwind of charges and
attacks that descended on our heads.

An historical "given" is that Marie Antoinette callously
remarked of the starving peasants of France, "If they have no
bread, let them eat cake!"

That Marie Antoinette ever said such a thing is very doubtful .

In his Confessions , published three years before Marie
Antoinette ever set foot on French soil, Jean Jacques Rousseau
attributed that remark to an anonymous "great princess." Other
historical researchers assert that Rousseau was quoting the
words of a fictional Italian countess taken from an eighteenth
century novel.

Whatever the case, many who witnessed Marie Antoinette's
beheading in 179 3 believed that they were executing a woman who
had indeed uttered the words "let them eat cake," and that she
justly deserved beheading.

Guilty or not of crimes real or imagined, we in the Senate last
year found ourselves in a similar situation -- charged with
transgressions that we did not commit by people thoroughly
convinced of the righteousness of their charges.

This situation is a reflection of popular attitudes rampant
throughout the electorate toward that branch of government
specifically charged by the Constitution with most completely
representing and serving the people's interests.

(57)
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Regardless of the public distortions of the image of Congress,
we who serve here realize that those distortions are echoes of
genuine institutional problems on which these hearings are
seeking to focus .

All of that aside, I believe that the primary problem — the
root problem -- plaguing the Senate today is what I would term
the "fractured attention" of Senators. Countless times, action
on the Senate floor has been slowed or delayed because Senators
A, B, C, X, Y, and Z simply are not in Washington. That absence
is not because those Senators are off on vacation or taking
their leisure. As the distinguished chairman of this committee
knows too well, Senators are often forced to be elsewhere
because of the need to raise once unthinkable sums of money —
money essential for running for re-election. The only real
solution to that situation is to put a lid on the amount of
money that can be spent in running for a Senate seat. Senator
Boren has been a leader in the struggle to limit campaign
spending, and Senator Boren understands well the need to enact
campaign finance reform. I hope that, with a new President in
office, 1993 will be the year for campaign finance reform. In
my view, the enactment of campaign finance reform would be the
single most important step that can be taken toward improving
the operation of the U.S. Senate and its standing in the hearts
of the people. But I know that Senator Boren 's purpose here is
to focus on other types of so-called reform — internal changes,
if you will. However, as so happens in Washington, problems
tend to be addressed through tinkering with process . Over the
past dozen years, we have seen the rise of "process worship" in
Washington as a way to deal with controversial problems. The
balanced budget amendment; the line-item veto; enhanced
rescissions; — all have been advanced as automatic solutions to
the dilemma of our budget deficits. In fact, I believe that
such process changes would be damaging to the institution's
Constitutional purpose and functions. Further, I believe that
relying on process fixes and guick fixes to solve substantive
questions has impeded careful thought and probing debate about
workable solutions. This obsession with process has also
provided many members with an easy way to avoid making hard
choices. Often, proponents of process fixes insist that we in
the Congress do not have the will to act, and thus we must be
forced to do our jobs responsibly. Not having the will to act
is a buzzphrase that really means not having the courage to make
tough choices. In fact, one reason that the hard choices are so.

difficult for members of Congress is that the groundwork for
acceptance of such choices by the public is rarely laid by
extensive debate in the Congress. The less the Senate publicly
airs the great issues of the day, the more we leave a vacuum —
an information vacuum that will be quickly and willingly filled
by self-serving interest groups, media hucksters,
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misinformation, cliches, inane platitudes, and political
demagoguery .

Here is the point: until they are faced directly, problems are
never fixed. In a representative democracy, the people must
face issues and understand them before elected officials can
responsibly act to put into effect acceptable, workable
solutions . That is one reason that dictatorship has been
attractive to frustrated citizenries from time to time in the
history of the world. Frustrated citizens want action —
instant action — on the problems that are frustrating them. In
that passion, too often, people have surrendered their liberties
for the sake of just doing something — anything -- to solve the
problems .

In our system, the Senate's role as a deliberative body should
be to endeavor to help the people hear all sides so that
consensus may form. Yet, as an institution, the Senate is more
and mora ceasing to perform that deliberative function. It is
not the Senate that I once knew. It has lost its soul. But the
answer is not to be found in tinkering with process or in the
pursuit of "efficiency," whatever that means. The Senate was
not intended to be efficient. Efficiency was not its raison
d'etre. In reality, the Senate will improve as an institution
only when individual Senators become more interested in once
again being full-time Senators . Senators are not celebrities .

Senators are not movie stars. Senators' concerns should not be
how many times they can appear on TV. Moreover, no matter how
brilliant they may be, individual Senators cannot know
everything and should not wear too many hats . All too many
Senators have fallen prey to that trend. For a Senator to give
proper time and attention to more than two major committee
assignments is virtually impossible, In my view, reducing the
number of committee assignments — to two, or to one — that a
Senator can hold would be useful, in the hope that a Senator
might become better focused on the issues pertinent to his major
committee assignment. In today's "fast-forward world," one
observes an increasing tendency to "knee jerk," to take the easy
way out, to skim the surface, to garner only as much knowledge
about an issue as is sufficient to fill a two-paragraph press
release. Many Senators have fallen into this pattern. Indeed,
the news media and the public in general expect — demand —
that Senators be instant experts on any subject. And like a
stable of trained ponies, too many Senators attempt to live up .

to those expectations and to run from issue to issue, too often
relying solely on the judgement of staff and involving
themselves only as a stereo speaker to broadcast a quoted line
for the six-o'clock p.m. newscast or the Sunday newspaper. Such
a model of Senatorship disintegrates into a vicious circle of
frenzied activity that fosters the fractured attention spans to



60

Page 4

which I am referring and little real debate on the Senate floor.

In the days of Webster, Clay, and Calhoun, -- an era in which
the galleries of the Old Senate Chamber were crowded to
overflowing with fashionable Washingtonians eager to listen to
Senate brilliance — that sort of debate took time to prepare —
time and thought and commitment . But Senators , like most
people, conduct themselves in ways that they perceive to be
beneficial to their interests. I am not sure that the Senators
of today clearly perceive time spent on the Senate floor
debating the issues of the day as the best way in which to use
their always-limited hours. Senate debate is dying as a
legislative art, and I believe that the Congress is held in low
esteem today partially because of this. Anymore, one hears
little Senate floor discussion of the great issues of the day.
Too often to the casual observer, Congress seems somehow
disconnected, irrelevant, distracted, and self-absorbed.

If there is any one thing we should have learned from the
Presidential campaign last year, it is that people will listen
to intelligent, explanations of matters that they perceive as
important to themselves. Millions of people want to hear
substantive views on the nation's problems. Ross Perot — a man
derisively dismissed as "looking like a gerbil with a bad
haircut" -- Ross Perot captured the attention of millions of
Americans with a series of "infomercials " that predictably, by
Madison Avenue's wisdom, were nothing short of an insomniac's
relief. Night after night, more millions followed the
Presidential candidates' debates as if they were a second World
Series, as in truth they were. As a result of last fall's
Presidential campaign, we are a better nation because we are a
nation better informed on a number of difficult issues.

I believe that one of the chief responsibilities of those of us
in public life is to keep the citizens of this country better
informed on difficult, sometimes rending issues -- issues that
might demand genuine sacrifice and inconvenience if they are to
be adequately confronted, solved, or dealt with. Debate on the
Senate floor is one of the best ways to achieve that goal.
C-Span televises the floor proceedings of the Senate and the
House, and much could be achieved by a thorough, week-by-week
airing of our difficult national problems. More than anything
else, the American people need to be exposed to the complexities
of difficult issues in order that they may know that there are

'

.

no easy answers . The American people must understand that
sacrifice is sometimes necessary to achieve a greater good.
American voters must be encouraged to examine facts for
themselves so that they will not succumb to the shovel-fed
misleading or distorted information too often served up by the
news media and the powerful lobbying groups -- information that



61

Page 5

often runs counter to the best interests of the very grass roots
at which such misinformation is aimed. In their own lives, the
American people need a better understanding of complicated
issues like health care, the deficit, tax policy, environmental
issues, education policy, and on and on — necessary
understanding that will permit American citizens to make better
informed decisions in their own lives. But the Senate cannot
inform American citizens without extensive debate on those very
issues, and, in the Senate, debate cannot be had without
debaters .

Simply finding ways to expedite business does not seem to me to
address the Senate's problem. The Senate's problem is that we
no longer inspire and inform the public. Those of us who love
the insritution know that without that public debate — without
that informing, deliberative function — the Senate as an
institution will, in a sense, become irrelevant. We can hold
sessions only from 10 a.m. to 5 on Tuesdays and Wednesdays,
stack all votes for the 6 p.m. hour on one day of the week,
speedily pass bills, and become a model of well-greased
machinery, but the Senate will no longer be the Senate — the
crucible for representative democracy that it was intended to
be. We must get back to debate on the Floor as a way of
involving the public in national decisions. I believe the
Senate has to find ways to encourage Senators in that direction.
We need to turn down the background noise and focus on our real
responsibilities. We were not elected to raise money for our
own re-elections. We were not elected to see how many press
releases or TV appearances we can stack up. We were not elected
to set up staff empires by serving on every committee in sight.
We need to concentrate, focus, debate, inform, and, I hope,
engage the public and thereby forge consensus and direction.
Once we engage each other and the public intellectually — the
tough choices will be easier. We ought to stop trying to
substitute process for purpose. The Senate should again become
the forum for public debate it was intended to be, else the
Senate will be viewed ever more cynically by the public and will
become more and more disconnected from the people and the
problems of the nation.

To encourage engaging debate on the Senate floor, I believe it
essential that the Senate be in session five days a week. There
is oversight work to be done, but, when the Senate is not in
session, most Senators leave the hill. When they come to expect,
no sessions on Mondays and Fridays, they arrange their schedules
weeks ahead to be out of town on those days . I do not mean to
imply that the mere number of hours we are in session or that we
spend in guorum calls is the standard by which we should be
judged. But it's a cinch that when, Senators know there won't
be any votes on certain days, you won't find many of them around
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to conduct oversight work in committees or to engage in floor
discussion of national issues. A five-day Senate floor work
week, characterized by the back-and-forth of spirited Senatorial
debate, is a tonic that is important to the future health of our
representative form of government. Having been leader, I know
how difficult it is for a majority leader to accommodate the
needs and desires of 99 other members. It can't be done.
Members must come to understand that "quality of life for
Senators " must never be viewed as more important than the
"quality of work" for the nation. Public Service has always
demanded sacrifice. It goes with the territory. Moreover, how
can we ever ask the American people to sacrifice, if we who have
taken a public oath do not want even to spend a full week here
in the Senate doing our work?

I do not mean to say that efforts at reform are invariably
futile or that no improvements in the system are possible. In
fact, I believe that some improvements are achievable.
For one thing, the committee system should be given a tune-up.
As a rule, Senate committees are too large and we have too many
Senators assigned to too many committees and subcommittees. The
effects of this multiplicity of committees are negative for both
the committees and for individual Senators . The larger a
committee, the more unwieldy it is. It is difficult to get
quorums to conduct business, and this by itself is a source of
unnecessary delay. Size compounds the task of committee
leadership in other ways as well. The more members there are,
the more difficult and time-consuming it is to develop a
consensus and hammer out the compromises necessary to shape good
legislation and to move it forward.

For the individual Senator, the potential rewards of serving on
multiple Committees and Subcommittees are apparently too
attractive to decline. But as their portfolio of assignments
expands, Members find themselves increasingly overcommitted and
unable to concentrate time and attention on the substance of
committee and subcommittee work. Scheduling conflicts multiply
and frustration builds. The effect is to marginalize the
member's participation in some or all of the committees and
subcommittees to which he or she is assigned. In turn, this
exacerbates the problems facing committee and subcommittee
chairmen in exercising effective leadership. Of course,
"hypercommitteeism" is not a new problem. The Legislative
Reorganization Act of 1946 reduced the number of standing
committees in the Senate from 33 to 15. But subsequent creation
of more panels — especially the proliferation of subcommittees— and increases in the sizes of committees and subcommittees
have led to a steady increase in the number of seats Senators
must fill and hats that they must wear. Moreover, the lure of
additional committee assignments has proved so great that, at
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the end of the last Congress, nearly half of the Senators held
waivers allowing them to serve on more committees and
subcommittees than Senate Rules otherwise permit.

I understand that this Committee's agenda also includes the
budget and appropriations process. I know this is an area that
attracts a good deal of criticism in the media and is the focus
of some considerable discontent among the members of both
Houses. As Chairman of the Appropriations Committee, I would
urge the Committee to proceed with caution with respect to any-
major revisions in the existing process.

I am not arguing that no changes are desirable or possible.
Some improvements are conceivable. For example, we suffer from
entirely too many non-germane and legislative amendments to
appropriations bills during floor consideration.

But again, there are no obvious and easy solutions. Moreover,
changes in existing procedures could easily produce entirely
unanticipated and undesirable consequences. Our experience
under the Budget Act of 1974 provides any number of instructive
examples in this regard.

In another area of concern, I believe that the current process
for setting and enforcing rules of conduct for Members of both
Houses needs to be reexamined. Clearly, the concept of "ethical
behavior" is being redefined by public expectations rooted in
some of the basic changes that are taking place in our society.

With respect to the Senate, public misgivings about the
fairness, impartiality, and workability of the current ethics
process are understandable. This committee might find it useful
in this regard to consider establishing an Ethics Advisory Board
whose membership would consist of former senators. This
advisory board could be given authority to hear cases and
allegations and to make formal recommendations to the Ethics
Committee. This arrangement would provide the Ethics Committee
with the basis for final actions that have been developed by an
impartial but well-informed external body.

Additionally, President Clinton has established new ethics rules
for the top political appointees in his Administration. His
intention is to ban these appointees from lobbying their former
departments or agencies for a period of five years after leaving,
the Federal government. I know that you, Chairman Boren, have
introduced legislation which would place a similar ban on
members of the House and Senate and on Officers and employees of
the Legislative Branch.
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While the goal of these lobbying restrictions is clear, they
will, in fact, be very difficult to accomplish. I urge you, Mr.
Chairman and members of the committee, to take a hard look at
ways to tighten the holes in our own restriction on lobbying
activities .

Again, I thank you for inviting me to appear before this
distinguished panel. As stewards of our own venerable
institution, and unlike poor Marie Antoinette, we are in a

position to redeem the reputation of the institution that we
love before the blade falls. But as we proceed with this
critical examination of Congress, I hope that we will keep our
eyes on both the baby and the bathwater, and that we will be
able to recognize the one from the other. In our headlong rush
to become more efficient, let us have the wisdom to avoid
further sacrificing the very soul and purpose of the Senate.
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REGULAR ANNUAL. SUPPLEMENTAL, AND DEFICIENCY APPROPRIATION ACTS

COMPARISON OF BUDGET REQUESTS AND ENACTED APPROPRIATIONS

Calenoa/ year Admmelralion requested Enacted appropriations Drlference under {
-

)/over (
+

)

1945 $62,453,310,868
1946 30.051,109.870

1947 33,367,507,923

1948 35,409,550,523

1949 39.545,529.108

1950 54,316.658,423

1951 96,340,781,110

1952 83.964.877,176

1953 66,568,694.353

1954 50,257.490.985

1955 55.044,333.729

1956 60,892.420,237

1957 64,638.110,610

1958 73,272,859.573

1959 74,859,472.045

1960 73,845.974,490

1961 91,597,448.053

1962 96.803,292,115

1963 98.904,155.136

1964 98.297.358.556

1S65 109.448.074,896

1966 131,164.926.586

1967 147,804,557.929

1968 147.908.612.996

1969 142.701.346.215

1970 147,765.358,434

1971 167,874,624.937

1972 185.431.804.552

1973 177.959,504.255

1974 213,667,190,007

1975 267.224,774,434

1976 282.142,432,093

1977 364.867,240,174

1978 348,506,124,701

1979 388,311.676,432

1980 446,690,302,845

1981 541,827.827.909

1982 507,740,133,484

1983 542,956,052,209

1984 576,343,258.980

1985 588.698,503,939

1986 590,345,199,494

1987 618,268,048,956

1988 621,250,663,756

1989 652,138,432,359

1990 704,510,961,506

1991 756.223,264,591

1992 776,072,233,291

Totals 12,486,274,066,843

Source: House Committee on Appropriations.

$61,042,345,331

28,459,502,172

30,130,762,141

32,699,846.731

37,825,026.214

52.427,926,629

91,059,713,307

75,355,434,201

54,539.342,491

47,642,131,205

53,124,821,215

60,647,917,590

59,589,731,631

72,653,476,248

72,977,957.952

73,634,335,992

86,606,487,273

92,260.154,659

92.432.923.132

94,162.916.996

107.037,566,896

130,281,568,480

141,872.346,664

133,339,868.734

134.431,463.135

144.273,528.504

165,225.661.865

176,960,106,864

174,901,434,304

204,012,311,514

259.852,322,212

282,536,694,665

354,025.780,783

337,859,466,730

379,244,865,439

441,290,587,343

544,457,423.541

514,832,375.371

551,620,505,328

559,151,835,986

583.446,885.087

577,279,102,494

614,526,518,150

625,967,372,769

666,211,680,769

697,257,739.756

748,262.835,695

763,993,307,753

-$1,410,965,537

-1,591,607,698

-3,236,745,782

-2,709,703,792

-1,720.502,894

-1,888,731,794

-5.281,067,803

-8,609.442,975

-12,029,351,862

-2,615,359,780

-1,919,512,514

-244,502.647

-5,048,378.979

-619,383.325

-1,881,514,093

-211,638,498

-4,990,960,780

-4,543,137,456

-6,471,232,004
-4,134,439,560

-2.410,508,000

-883,358,106

-5,932,211,265
-14,568.744,262

-8.269.883,080
-3.491,829,930

-2.648,963,072

-6,471,697,688

-3.058.069,951

-9,654,878,493

-7,372,452,222
+ 394,262,572

-10,841,459.391

-10,646,657.971

-9,066,810,993

-5,399,715,502
+ 2,629,595,632
+ 7,092.241,887
+ 8,664,453,119

-17,191,422,994

-5,251,618,852

-13,066,097,000

-3,741,530,806
+ 4,716,709,013

+ 14,073,248,410

-7,253,221,750

-7,960,428,896

-12,078,925,538

12,285,425,911,941 -200,848,154,902
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III. Appropriations bills often contain unauthorized
appropriations .

RESPONSE:

On January 15, 1993, the Congressional Budget Office
issued a report entitled, "Unauthorized Appropriations
and Expiring Authorizations". This annual report is
required under Section 221(b) of the Budget Act and is
intended "to help Congress use the early months of the
year to adopt authorization legislation that must be in
place before the 13 regular appropriation bills can be
considered" .

On page 5 of this CBO report, there is a table with the
heading, "Fiscal year 1993 appropriations that lack
specific authorizations of appropriations, by Senate
authorizing committee". The table lists each
authorizing committee which had jurisdiction over these
Fiscal Year 1993 unauthorized appropriations. The
total of all of the Fiscal Year 1993 unauthorized
appropriations on that table is $31,214,309,000.

Pages 1-23 of appendix A of this CBO report list all of
the Fiscal Year 1993 unauthorized appropriations, and
the list is broken down by the authorizing committee of
jurisdiction. The list also shows the last time each
of these appropriations was authorized. Page 2, for
example, contains a list of unauthorized Fiscal Year
1993 appropriations for programs under the jurisdiction
of the Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs Committee.
The first item listed is an unauthorized appropriation
of $339,083,000 for International Narcotics Control.
The last time this appropriation was authorized,
according to CBO, was Fiscal Year 1991.

The second item under the Banking Committee's
jurisdiction is a Fiscal Year 1993 appropriation of
$127,235,000 for Securities and Exchange Commission
activities. The last time the SEC's budget was
authorized was Fiscal Year 1991.

Continuing on, page 3 of the CBO report lists
unauthorized Fiscal Year 1993 appropriations for
programs under the jurisdiction of the Commerce
Committee. The third item listed is an unauthorized
appropriation of $512,236,000 for Fiscal Year 1993 for
the Federal Maritime Commission's manpower; education
and training; operating programs; national security
support capabilities; and Ready Reserve Force. The
last time this appropriation was authorized was Fiscal
Year 1991.
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2

The following item on page 3 is an unauthorized Fiscal
Year 1993 appropriation of $128,500,000 for the Federal
Communications Commission.

Page 5 of appendix A lists programs under the
jurisdiction of the Energy and National Resources
Committee. The first item is an unauthorized Fiscal
Year 1993 appropriation of $275,071,000 for Nuclear
Waste cleanup. The second item is an appropriation of

$535,415,000 for the salaries and expenses of the
Nuclear Regulatory Commission. The last time the NRC
was authorized was Fiscal Year 1985. These are
followed by unauthorized Fiscal Year 1993
appropriations for:

Jurisdictional
Committee Program

Last FY93 Unauth
Authorized Appropriation

Energy DOE Power Marketing Adm FY84
Energy DOE Naval Petroleum Resv FY84
Energy FERC, DOE Dept Admin FY84
Energy DOE Energy Supply R&D FY84
Energy SPR Storage Facility Const FY82
Energy DOE General Science & Rsch FY84
E&PW EPA Wastewater Treatment

Facility Const Grants FY90
E&PW EDA FY82
E&PW ARC FY82
Finance US Trade Rep FY92
Finance US Customs Salaries and

Air Interdiction Prgm FY92
For Rel International Narcotics

Control FY91
For Rel International Security and

Economic Assistance FY87
Judiciary Dept of Justice Activities FY80
Labor National Cancer, Heart &

Lung Programs, Etc. FY90
Labor Legal Services Corp FY79

! 391,092,000
236,070,000
564,295,000

1,300,000,000
175,099,000

1,417,784,000

441,500,000
217,000,000
190,000,000
64,844,000

1,326,258,000

339,083,000

8,137,746,000
8,630,980,000

3,585,376,000
357,000,000

The point is, Mr. Chairman and Members of the
Committee, that these very vital and important
departments and activities would have had to shut down
if the Appropriations Committee had not included
funding for them despite their lack of authorization.
We had no choice - - surely no Senator would wish to see
the Department of Justice eliminated because of the
lack of an authorization for their programs. Yet, that
is exactly what would have happened in Fiscal Year
1981, and every year thereafter, if the Appropriations
Committee had not continued funding the Department of
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Justice, even without an authorization. The same holds
true for all of the other programs I have enumerated.

Paragraph 7 of Senate Rule XVI requires that Committee
reports on general appropriations bills identify, with
specificity, each Committee amendment to the House bill
"which proposes an item of appropriation which is not
made to carry out the provisions of an existing law, a

treaty stipulation, or an act or resolution previously
passed by the Senate during that session."

Appropriations Committee reports are required to comply
with paragraph 7 of rule XVI. In so doing, Committee
reports on all 13 regular appropriation bills identify
unauthorized appropriations. Members are then able to
determine for themselves whether to offer amendments to
modify or to strike such unauthorized items from each
appropriation bill.

In addition, paragraph 12 of rule XXVI requires that
Committee reports on a bill or joint resolution
repealing or amending any statute or part of any
statute include " (a) the text of the statute or part
thereof which is proposed to be repealed; and (b) a
comparative print of that part of the bill or joint
resolution making the amendment and of the statute or
part thereof proposed to be amended, showing by
stricken- through type and italics, parallel columns, or
other appropriate typographical devices the omissions
and insertions which would be made by the bill or joint
resolution if enacted in the form recommended by the
committee. "

The point I am making is that the Senate Rules
recognize that appropriations bills which come before
the Senate may contain unauthorized items and may
contain provisions which have the effect of repealing
or modifying existing statutes. The Committee reports
accompanying these appropriations bills are required to
set out such provisions for Senators to see. All
Senators have available to them, prior to Senate
consideration, the Committee reports on every
appropriation bill and have an opportunity to offer
amendments to strike the items contained in them.
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TAX EXPENDITURES

There is one area of spending that often escapes our attention
because there is no regular programmatic review and no control
over it, and that is tax expenditures. There are literally
hundreds of billions of dollars in tax expenditures contained in
most major tax bills. In his book. The Triumph of Politics ,

David Stockman (Mr. Reagan's OMB director) gives a blow-by-blow
description of how these tax giveaways occurred in the 1981 Tax
Act.

On page 231 of Mr. Stockman's book is the following statement:

Some championed the utilities industry;
others shilled for smokestack manufacturers.
Still others promoted tax breaks for the
thrift industry; equipment leasing, small
business, cattle feedlots, pharmaceuticals,
waste water recycling plants, and countless
more.

And, on page 263, this statement is made by Mr. Stockman:

If presidential speeches were covered by a
full disclosure law, the true meaning of this
one would have caused an absolute panic.
Conable-Hance II -- 'our bill' -- was going
to reduce the federal revenue base by two
trillion dollars over the course of the
decade.
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CHAPTER 28

Congressional Reform:

The Legislative

Reorganization Act of 1946

June 17, 1985

Mr. President, when we think back to the

nineteenth-century Senate, we can easily

conjure up images of senators who en|oyed
sufficient leisure to do their own research,

draft their own legislation, and write their

own lengthy speeches. Most members had
no other office space than their desks in the

Senate chamber or in their boardinghouse
quarters near the Capitol Building. Today,
the sites of many of those boardinghouses
are covered with House and Senate office

buildings where members have quarters that

only barely seem to accommodate the in-

creasing requirements of their diverse con-

stituencies. In the middle of the last century,
members who required staff assistance pur-
chased it out of their personal funds during
the usually abbreviated legislative year.

After World War I, demands on members'
time and attention escalated rapidly as im-

proved means of transportation and commu-
nication brought the electorate and the elect-

ed into greater proximity. As the national

government assumed a greater role in the

lives of everyday citizens, pressures on Con-

gress multiplied. And, as the 1920's gave way
to the Great Depression and the New Deal

era of the 1930's, Congress demonstrated in-

creasing inability to legislate with the delib-

eration and expertise that had characterized

its course during the seemingly less compli-
cated nineteenth century.

'

Congress had slight opportunity to dwell

on matters of internal organization and sup-

port during the depression and New Deal

years. By 1940, however, many members
were becoming painfully aware of the fate of

representative bodies around the world at

the hands of totalitarian regimes. Many rec-

ognized that a strong, effective Congress was

the best protection against executive tyran-

ny, foreign and domestic. Later that year,

House Speaker Sam Raybum warned that

the ability of our democracy to survive was

directly related to the ability of Congress to

balance demands for adequate discussion

against demands for prompt and effective

action. Raybum stressed the necessity of in-

dependent "technical competence" as the

foundation of a solid legislative program. "A

[
537
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great national legislature cannot safely rely

on the technical assistance and advice which

private interests are willing to provide."
2

Jerry Voorhis, a Democratic representative

from California, was an early and persistent

critic of Congress inability to maintain a

strong and coequal role in the federal system.
He warned that the future of constitutional

government would be in jeopardy unless

Congress insisted on exercising its

traditional responsibilities with a force and

vigor equal to that of the Franklin Roosevelt

administration. 3

CongTess, in 1941, was ill-equipped to

accept the Voorhis and Rayburn challenges.
At that time, of every seven dollars it au-

thorized the federal government to spend,

Congress spent only one cent on itself. Its

thirty-two-hundred-member staff was pre-

dominantly clerical and custodial, with not

more than two hundred persons who could

be considered legislative professionals. Sena-

tors were often required to use their office

clerks as the principal staff of any committee

they chaired, thus ignoring professional

competence as the foundation for committee

staffing.
4 This situation encouraged the tra-

ditional practice of creating additional com-
mittees as sources of prestige, office space,
and extra staff for their chairmen.

On the eve of Pearl Harbor, Congress re-

mained reluctant to supply itself with inde-

pendent sources of expertise. Librarian of

Congress Archibald MacLeish argued in vain

for increased funding of his Legislative Ref-

erence Service. He justified his request on
the assumption that the Congress had the

right to "scholarly research and counsel in

law, and history and economics at least equal
to that of people who come before commit-

tees" from the executive branch and private

interest groups.
5

Strong opposition in the House of Repre-
sentatives killed MacLeish's hopes of revital-

izing his understaffed and obscure reference

service. In the Senate, in June 1941, a similar

fate awaited a measure introduced by Sena-
tor A.B. "Happy" Chandler of Kentucky.
Chandler proposed that the Senate allow

each member to hire one research expert at a

competitive salary. His proposal died be-

cause many senators apparently believed it

would establish a cadre of political assistants

who would eventually be in a position to

compete for their jobs.
6 The opposition had

deep roots in the members' self-image. Con-

gressmen feared the public would view the

appropriation of tax dollars for staff experts
as an open confession of members' inability

to carry traditional legislative burdens.

American entry into World War II escalat-

ed the already severe pressures on Congress.

During Roosevelt's first two administrations.

Congress alternated between the roles of ac-

quiescent provider and stubborn critic. Its ef-

fectiveness varied inversely with the intensi-

ty of a particular crisis. In the months after

the attack on Pearl Harbor, observers became

increasingly critical of what appeared to be

congressional intransigence, tolerable during

peacetime but unforgivable while at war. In

January 1942, a New York Times editorial

greeted a returning Seventy-seventh Con-

gress with the warning that it must "show
itself more alert and efficient" than the pre-

vious session if the United States hopes to

win the war without "needless loss of time

and treasure and lives." 7

Fragmentation of the committee structure

generated particular criticism. Early in 1942,

Arthur Krock, the New York Times columnist,

expressed a common frustration at the

amount of time wasted by executive branch

officials in appearing repeatedly before com-
mittees the jurisdictions of which frequently

overlapped or duplicated those of other com-
mittees. Commerce Secretary Jesse Jones ap-

peared eighteen times before as many differ-

ent committees to deliver his standard two-

hour speech. Krock suggested in vain that

538
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the eight military oversight committees be

merged into a single House-Senate war in-

quiry unit. Senators tended to view these

joint committees as potential threats to the

Senate's "appellate'' role in the legislative

process. House members, too, had been tra-

ditionally wary of joint meetings, fearing

that better-known jnd more politically

secure senators would receive the lion's share

of the credit while representatives would do

the lion's share ot the work. 8

Early in 1942, Congress made an ill-starred

effort to assert and strengthen its members'

prerogatives After minimal debate, the

House and Senate passed bills extending
Civil Service pension eligibility to the legis-

lative branch At the same time, they gave
each member the option to buy unlimited

gasoline at a time ot strict rationing. An in-

stant storm of protest arose over the so-

called pension grab and the gasoline x-card

issues Spearheaded by the lunior Chamber
of Commerce, Americans responded angrily
to what they saw as a brazen act of self-

aggrandizement by their elected representa-
tives The Jaycees instituted a Bundles for

Congress program to collect old clothes, dis-

carded shoes, and assorted trash for the ap-

parently destitute and avaracious members.
Sensitive to criticism in an election year,

members quickly reversed themselves rather

than argue that these "privileges'' did not

exceed those that executive branch employ-
ees already enjoyed.

9

By mid-1942. Congress was in what one
national magazine called a "touchy mood
. . . more angry and disturbed than at any
time in modern political history."

10 Mem-
bers lashed out with defensive statements

showing their frustration at being the pub-
lic's whipping boy for wartime controls and

regulations imposed by executive branch au-

thority Speaker Rayburn thundered that he

was "damned tired of having Congress made
the goat for everything"

" Senator Joseph

O'Mahoney demanded that the executive

branch stop expanding its powers by "inter-

pretation.''
12 Senator Walter George of

Georgia observed that "castigating Congress
seems to have developed, of late, into a per-

nicious national pastime." Taking exception

to "indiscriminate sniping and yowling,"
Senator George called for an end to such

"thoughtless disparagement." He reminded

critics that the executive, rather than Con-

gress, had the sole responsibility for the con-

duct of the war. When faced with requests

for huge appropriations, "all we can do is to

ask, 'Do you really need all that?' Then we

grant the funds." 13

Up to this point, however, proposed reme-

dies to these frustrations had lacked focus

and detailed analysis. Early in 1941, the

American Political Science Association,

under pressure from its Washington mem-
bers, had abandoned its traditional detach-

ment from reform issues and established a

Committee on Congress to study the oper-

ation of the legislative branch. The associa-

tion appointed ten prominent political scien-

tists and public administrators, and named

Dr. George B. Galloway chairman. 14 Sixteen

months later, the committee released a pre-

liminary report, signaling a new campaign in

the war for legislative reform. ' 5

At the age of forty-three, George Gallo-

way had established a solid reputation as a

gifted scholar and political analyst. In 1926,

he had received his doctorate from the

Robert Brookings Graduate School of Eco-

nomics and Government in Washington. The

Brookings School was noted for its emphasis

on training for research in the "practical

problems of government policy." Its curricu-

lum stressed close personal contact with fed-

eral officials.

As chairman of the Committee on Con-

gress, Galloway set out to identify members

who were sympathetic to legislative reform.

In a series of off-the-record monthly din-
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ligence." Concluding with an assessment

that no incumbent congressman wanted to

hear, the article labeled members "comer
store wise-acres in an age of calculating-ma-

chine-trained researchers." 21

On election day, congressional Democrats

suffered badly Republicans gained 47 seats

in the House and 10 in the Senate. A number
of members had decided to retire, so the net

membership turnover within both parties

was 106 in the House and 13 in the Senate. 22

Democrats retained narrow control in both

Houses. It was clear to the leadership, how-

ever, that legislative retorm would have a

higher priority among a larger number in the

new Congress.
In 1943, members introduced an unprece-

dented number of reform-oriented resolu-

tions, ranging from a frivolous measure to

create a Committee to Protect the Integrity of

Congress to Dirksen's constructive Select

Committee on Congressional Reorganiza-
tion. 23 These resolutions varied, but most
called for an improved method of liaison be-

tween Congress and the executive, reorgani-
zation of the committee system, legislative

scrutiny of executive action, and increased

use of experts.
24

During 1943, six congressmen emerged as

leaders in the movement to strengthen Con-

gress. The most active advocates in the

House were Estes Kefauver of Tennessee,

A.S. "Mike" Monroney of Oklahoma, Dirk-

sen, and Voorhis. Francis Maloney of Con-
necticut and Robert La Follette, Jr., of Wis-

consin led the way in the Senate.

Kefauver spent most of his energy on a

proposal to improve communications with

the executive. His measure would have es-

tablished a biweekly "report and question

period" during which heads of executive

agencies would appear voluntarily before

Congress to report on their activities and

answer members' questions. Kefauver be-

lieved that this procedure, modeled on Brit-

George B Galloway served as the principal staff

architect of congressional reform. Eilent Calloway

ish parliamentary practice, would promote
more effective legislative oversight and do

away with "cumbersome and irksome" spe-

cial investigating committees. 25

Like Kefauver, Voorhis was concerned

with improving legislative oversight; he di-

rected his attention, however, to strengthen-

ing staff resources. Based on his service on

the Select Committee to Investigate Acts of

Executive Branch Agencies, he concluded

that executive agencies exceeded their au-

thority because Congress often failed to

define their specific powers and limitations.

Voorhis believed that "better sources of in-

formation, better staff, and a better direction
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of the work of its members" would ease this

situation. 26

During 1943, Dirksen and Monroney in

the House joined the Senate's La Follette and

Maloney to sponsor a series of identical bills

to create a Joint Committee on the Organiza-
tion of Congress.

27 This legislation revealed

the clear imprint of Galloway's Committee
on Congress. It called for study of the orga-
nization, operation, and staffing of each

house, the relations between the Senate and

House, the relations of Congress to the other

two branches of government, and the rela-

tions among committees.

In July 1943, Senator La Follette published
an article that quickly rallied broad popular

support to the less well -publicized reform

proposals of the Galloway committee. La

Follette cited the frustration surrounding the

just-concluded Seventy-seventh Congress,

noting that "probably no Congress in recent

history suffered so much abuse and public

derogation ." Referring to the president's
1942 Labor Day ultimatum to Congress, La

Follette suggested that it was "time for the

American people to take stock of the situa-

tion, war or no war.
" 28 He singled out for

special attention the excessive number of

committee assignments for members and the

problem of poor budget control. He noted

that more than half of the Senate's members
served on at least six committees, while some
served on as many as ten. Finally, he ob-

served that the president's budget bureau re-

ceived funding three times greater than the

combined staffs of the House and Senate's

Appropriations committees. His solution,

suggestive of the Galloway committee's

finding, was to reduce drastically the

number of committees and the size of each

and to create more joint committees with

expert staff. His ob]ective was to allow more
time for members to be legislators.

29

In November 1943, the chances for an ef-

fective reorganization appeared better than

A. S. Mike Monroney led reform initiatives from the

House in the 1940s and the Senate in the 1960's.

Library of Congress

ever. The New York Times carried a front page
account of a news conference called by Dr.

George Calver, the congressional physician.
Calver announced that he would prescribe a

"long period of rest and relaxation for an

overworked, nervous, and underpaid Con-

gress." The physician, perhaps influenced by
those close to the Galloway committee, pro-
claimed that "a $10,000 salary looks good
until after [the member] has paid his taxes,

his Washington living expenses, his cam-

paign expenses, and his bills for maintaining
a house back home." 30

By early 1944, the Maloney-Monroney
bill, as the press called it, had become the re-

formers' principal vehicle. Congressional Re-
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publicans joined the bandwagon, believing

that, if the reform issue worked as well in the

1944 elections as it had in those of 1942, they
stood a good chance to take control of Con-

gress. Republican Senator Robert Taft specu-
lated publicly that a GOP victory would in-

crease the chances tor legislative reform, and

that Senate Republicans, out of power for

nearly fifteen years, would be willing to

reduce the number of committees since they
had no chairmanships to give up.

31

The League of Women Voters also recog-

nized the suitability ot congressional reform

as an election issue. Galloway assisted the

league in preparing a roundtable discussion

on the organization ot Congress for its 1944

national convention The panelists included

Representatives Kefauver. Dirksen, and

Monroney.
32

In June 1944, while the nation's attention

was focused on post-D-day European mili-

tary operations, the Senate Rules Committee
recommended favorable consideration of the

Maloney-Monroney resolution Committee

chairman Harry F Byrd, Sr , stressed the im-

portance of a permanent modernization pro-

gram, noting that postwar demands would

likely be more severe than those of the war

years for a Congress geared to a prewar pace.

The joint study committee was to have

twelve members, six from each house,

evenly divided by party The Senate Rules

Committee, sensitive to the prerogatives of

each body, stipulated that the panel's recom-

mendations must have the support of at least

four members from each chamber. 33

Preoccupied with demobilization, recon-

version, and the summer recess. Congress

appeared to be allowing the reform issue to

slip away under the pressures of fall election

campaigns. In September, Representative

Monroney made a radio address to plead for

action. He spoke of the crippling effect that

Congress' limited resources had over its ef-

forts to oversee the activities of three million

executive branch employees. He claimed that

Congress was trying to supervise the oper-
ation of a $78 billion government with tools

fashioned fifty years earlier for a budget less

than a half of 1 percent of that size. Mon-

roney compared Congress' Legislative Draft-

ing Service, with its eight employees and

$83,000 budget, to the Agriculture Depart-
ment's legislative section, which, he report-

ed, employed six hundred persons at a cost

of more than $1.6 million. The House and

Senate Appropriations committees had

twelve clerks to examine the entire national

budget. Monroney argued that the increased

cost of a larger congressional staff could

easily be made up by carefully pruning exec-

utive budgets. He concluded his address

with a plea for quick action on his resolution,

noting that, of all the pending reform-related

measures, only his was designed to study all

of the suggestions.
34

Representative Monroney got his wish,

but not until after the November elections.

In mid-December, with four days remaining

in the life of the lame-duck Seventy-eighth

Congress, the House briefly debated and

passed the Maloney-Monroney resolution.

The Senate quickly concurred. On the last

day of the session, members of the newly

established joint study committee readily

elected Senator Maloney and Representative

Monroney chairman and vice-chairman,

respectively.
35

At the beginning of the Seventy-ninth

Congress in January 1945, Francis Maloney's

Senate colleagues had come to regard him as

a senator's senator—a hard-working, soft-

spoken, and nonpartisan mediator of internal

Senate disputes. He chaired one of the five

standing committees to which he was as-

signed and served on three other special

committees as well as several commis-

sions. 36 He looked on his new chairmanship

as a golden opportunity to make inroads

against Congress' killing workload.
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Death denied Francis Maloney the chance

to engage that opportunity. On January 16,

1945, he died of a heart ailment, complicated

by influenza and exhaustion. 37 Later that

same day, the National Planning Association

released yet another survey that documented

congressional shortcomings and gave par-

ticular poignancy to Maloney's passing.
38

The association, cotounded by George Gal-

loway, had selected Robert Heller, a Cleve-

land engineer and management analyst, to

study Congress from a practical engineering

angle." The Heller report, drafted in part by
Gallowav, ^included that Congress would

lose the public confidence essential to its

functioning unless it was strengthened.
39

The report urged Congress to place greater

emphasis on maior policy issues and less on

such details as running the District of Co-

lumbia government or dealing with private

claims legislation Observing that Congress
was operating with hand tools in a mecha-
nized age," the report offered fourteen rec-

ommendations They included a 150-percent

pay raise for members, a majority and mi-

nority legislative policy committee for each

house, expansion of staff resources, a report-

and-question period, and basic procedural
reforms related to the selection of committee

chairmen and Senate cloture. 40 Congression-
al reformers were pleased to have the addi-

tional ammunition that the report provided
but concluded that it displayed little famili-

arity with the day-to-day operations and

traditions of CongTess
4 '

At the start of 1945, the strongest impedi-
ments to legislative reform were preoccupa-
tion with the final military operations in

Europe and the suspicion by senior House

members that they had little to gain and

much to lose from a change in the status quo.
Few could argue in principle with the study
committee's concept, but reformers were ap-

prehensive that congressional elders would

kill the infant at the hour of its birth. Ac-

ln 1946, Robert M La Follette. Jr., won passage of

his reform bill and lost his reelection bid.

Library of Congress

cordingly, George Galloway pressed his

American Political Science Association Com-
mittee on Congress to issue its final report

with appropriate fanfare in order to push

Congress to reauthorize the joint committee

for the new session. Early in February, as

Allied forces began their final drive on

Berlin, the Galloway committee released a

refined version of the 1942 preliminary

study.

It asserted that Congress needed to "mod-

ernize its machinery and methods to fit

modem conditions if it is to keep pace with a

greatly enlarged and active executive

branch." The committee observed that "this

is a better approach than that which seeks to

meet the problem by reducing and ham-

stringing the executive. A stronger and more

representative legislature, in closer touch
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with, and better informed about, the admin-

istration, is the antidote to bureaucracy."
42

Several days later, alter explicitly removing
the joint committee s authority to study

matters of rules and procedure, the Senate

joined the House in renewing the panel's life.

Robert La Follette succeeded Francis Ma-

loney as chairman 43

The |Oint committee quickly named

George Galloway as its director and sole staff

member. 44 Gallowav was well aware of the

distinction between getting Congress to

study an issue and moving it to effective leg-

islative action. 45 The first of these tasks had

consumed four years of his life. He realized

that the second would require equal amounts

of careful planning jnd good fortune. The

composition of the |oint committee gave

Galloway reason for encouragement La Fol-

lette, Monroney. and Dirksen offered out-

standing reform credentials Senator Elbert

Thomas of Utah, holding a doctorate in Chi-

nese political thought, epitomized the schol-

ar-in-politics. In the late 1930's, he had

worked effectively with La Follette on the

latter's civil liberties committee Observers

of that earlier body noted that La Follette's

style was to probe for facts, grilling wit-

nesses "sharply, steadilv, and coldly, work-

ing with the . precision and power of a

steel riveter." Thomas, on the other hand,

"genially encouraged witnesses to relax and

unbend. He probed for attitudes rather than

details, setting witnesses up while La Follette

knocked them down.
" 46 The average length

of the joint committee members' congres-

sional service was fourteen years. Four of

them had served at least twenty years.
47

Galloway moved quickly Several days
after his appointment, the joint committee

held the first of thirty-nine public hearings.

In less than four months, the |oint committee

heard 102 witnesses, and produced a printed

record exceeding fifteen hundred pages.
48

Due to schedule conflicts and the largely

record-building nature of the hearings,

members' attendance was generally poor.
49

Consequently, Galloway had the responsi-

bility of developing, with little guidance
from committee members, recommendations

that would survive severe congressional and

public scrutiny. One observer noted that

Galloway moved into this assignment with

"great tact and distinction" and that the

"rapport between the dynamic and thought-
ful co-chairmen and Dr. Galloway was vir-

tually perfect."
50 Without the creative and

wholehearted support of these three men,
the joint committee's report would have

joined in oblivion scores of other soon-for-

gotten advisory committee documents.

At the end of the first month of hearings,

the nation got a new president. Harry
Truman had risen from obscurity to distinc-

tion due largely to his role as chairman of an

important Senate investigating committee. 51

In April 1945, few knew better than Truman

the frustrations of an over-worked, under-

staffed, and poorly paid Congress. During
his Senate years, he had found it necessary to

supplement his income by placing his wife

on his office payroll.
52

On the surface, the joint committee could

hardly have asked for a better climate in

which to work. A new chief executive, the

winding down of a long war, and the intro-

duction of the atomic bomb all pointed to a

new and uncertain era. Clearly, the times re-

quired a stronger and more responsive Con-

gress to check the all too familiar independ-

ence of the executive; yet, an overly sympa-
thetic executive might remove much of the

force from the reformers' arguments.

Galloway moved quickly to exploit the

strategic possibilities of the newly dawning

age. He organized an extensive program of

public education to generate grassroots sup-

port.
53 To civic groups, magazines, radio

networks, and film makers Galloway provid-

ed arguments, reports, testimonials, and vast
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amounts of his time. Appreciating the value

of the Heller report's brevity and popular

focus, he sent eighty thousand copies to

newsstands. The League of Women Voters,

as a consequence of Galloway's success in

providing three key congressmen as speakers
for its 1944 convention, placed congressional

reform at the top of its priorities list.

Galloway capped his publicity efforts

when he engineered a major cover story in a

June 1945 issue of Life magazine. Entitled

"U.S. Congress: It Faces Great New Tasks

With Outworn Tools,'' the article focused on
the overburdened congressman "too busy to

do the job right." Life informed the nation

that "with few important exceptions, con-

gressional procedure is the same as it was in

1789." 54

Galloway did not overlook the educational

needs of those in Congress who would even-

tually vote on the ]oint committee's recom-

mendations. He compiled and distributed

copies of articles and lists of bills related to

strengthening Congress.
55 With great tact,

he prodded his panel's members to use their

influence on other congressmen.
In October 1945, as the joint committee's

members struggled over tentative recom-

mendations, Mississippi's Theodore Bilbo,

Life magazine's candidate for the "worst man
in the Senate," conducted a personal three-

day filibuster against a bill to repeal land

grant railroad rates. 56 Another magazine

quoted a nervous representative as fearing
that "unless we straighten it [the congres-
sional system] out, the American people are

going to straighten us out . . . the people

might get too mad and go too far for the

public good."
57

Late in 1945, the Truman honeymoon
ended. Congress struggled with issues asso-

ciated with the United Nations Charter, tax

reduction, international monetary reform,

and executive reorganization.
58 The con-

gressional physician suggested that each

house convene at 1:00 p.m., instead of noon,
so that members could "eat a decent

lunch." 59

On March 4, 1946, after nearly a year of

study, the joint committee submitted thirty-
seven recommendations to Congress.

80 The
first category of proposals sought to reorga-
nize the committee structure and improve
legislative coordination and accountability.
The committee recommended that Congress
consolidate its eighty-one standing commit-
tees into thirty-four. Each committee would
have fewer members, more carefully defined

jurisdiction, stronger executive oversight,
and four additional staff experts.

81 Addi-

tionally, each house was urged to create leg-

islative policy committees. Members of the

majority policy committees would serve as a

formal council, meeting regularly with the

president "to facilitate the formulation and

carrying out of national policy."
82

The second group of recommendations

sought to provide improved support facilities

for members. They included a major expan-
sion of the Legislative Reference Service, an

administrative assistant for each member,
and the establishment of a Congressional
Personnel Office. The office would reduce

the prevailing chaos surrounding employ-
ment standards, pay scales, and tenure

rights. This category also included a pro-

posed 50-percent pay raise for members, im-

proved legislative budget surveillance, regis-

tration of lobbyists, home rule for the Dis-

trict of Columbia, and transfer of noncurrent

official records to the National Archives. 83

Press reaction was generally favorable, al-

though some commentators took the joint

committee to task for dodging the "hard

questions" of rules and procedure.
64 One

noted that even these "mild" recommenda-

tions were "being welcomed with less than

whole-hearted approval by Congress," and

that the joint committee lacked the authority
to convert its proposals into legislation.

85
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At this point. La Follette and Monroney
effectively took the reins of leadership from

Galloway and began the task of salvaging

the joint committee's proposals. In the

Senate, existing procedure dictated splitting

the recommendations and sending them to

committees according to subject. La Follette

realized that several hostile committee chair-

men were prepared to bottle up the proposals

indefinitely. Accordingly, he offered a reso-

lution that would convert the Senate mem-
bers of the joint panel into a temporary legis-

lative committee. 65
Ironically, this was in

direct opposition to the joint committee's

recommendation to rely on established

standing committees rather than limited-

tenure special committees. 67 La Follette's

promise that the special committee would
submit no proposal to change Senate rules

convinced the Senate to grant his request. In

mid-May, sensing growing support for

action in the face of continued legislative

chaos and the 1946 elections. La Follette suc-

ceeded in placing the bill directly before the

Senate for action. 68

On June 6, 1946, the Senate began debate.

One newspaper noted that the legislation

faced a triple threat of "pride, patronage,
and politics."

69 By approving the bill,

members would acknowledge that they
could not do it all by themselves; they
would stand to lose treasured patronage
positions; and many of them remained
reluctant to be in the position of voting
themselves increased benefits in an election

year.

Debate centered primarily on the patron-
age threat and the pay raise. La Follette

gradually yielded on both issues. On June 10,

1946, he broke an impasse by dropping the

proposal to set up a personnel "czar" and by
cutting in half the amount of the salary in-

crease. He held fast, however, on the reduc-
tion of committees, the "keystone of the arch
of this whole plan."

70 The Senate then

quickly passed the bill by a margin of 49

tol6. 71

The bill moved to the House. There it

rested for six weeks on the Speaker's desk.

Monroney and Dirksen used their consider-

able skills in attempting to negotiate the con-

ditions of its movement to the House floor

where it enjoyed majority support. Speaker

Rayburn, despite earlier support for reform,

recognized in the bill extensive challenges to

his autonomy. Policy committees would ra-

tionalize the murky decision-making process
and fix accountability.

72 The House of that

day, far more than the Senate, was controlled

by its leadership. Rayburn realized that pro-
cedural uncertainty worked to his advantage.
Establishment of party policy committees

would undermine that advantage and strike

at his power to resolve difficulties by ap-

pointing special committees or deciding

among various disputants.
The bill's managers reluctantly agreed to

the Speaker's condition that the policy com-
mittee provision must be dropped. They ex-

ercised a bit of political legerdemain by cut-

ting in half the five-thousand-dollar salary

increase and then granting each member a

tax-free twenty-five-hundred-dollar "ex-

pense allowance." Galloway called Ray-
burn's eleventh hour maneuvers "an aston-

ishing piece of political piracy ... a traves-

ty on the democratic process."
73

On Thursday, July 25, 1946, as a second

atomic test took place at Bikini, Monroney
and Dirksen resisted a hailstorm of floor

amendments to secure House passage by a

vote of 229 to 61. 74 Senator La Follette was
then faced with a major tactical decision. If

he tried to reconcile the Senate bill with the

weaker House version, it would have spelled

certain defeat for the entire program. He had

simply run out of time. The following day,
members were beginning to drift away from

the sweltering capital. Soon, Congress would

probably lack the necessary quorum to con-
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At the White House, members or Congress watched as President Truman signed the Legislative Reorganization
Act on August 2. 1°46 Silent Galloway

tinue its work. La Follette, therefore, pre-
sented the weaker bill on July 26, and the

Senate readily agreed to it. Several days later,

on August 2, President Truman signed the

measure, calling it "one of the most signifi-

cant advances in the organization of Con-

gress" since its establishment. 75

Mr. President, 1 shall now turn briefly to a

discussion of the short-term accomplish-
ments of this landmark piece of legislation.

Its framers had, as I have indicated, three

basic objectives. These included a funda-

mental streamlining of the committee struc-

ture, development of a professional staff,

and greater legislative control of the federal

budget process. The reorganization act suc-

ceeded for the most part in the first two areas

and failed in the latter. The measure, despite

its supporters' earlier hopes, did not address

matters of floor procedure or structural

changes in relations between the legislative

and executive branches. 76

The act sought to reduce the jurisdictional

confusion that resulted from a proliferation

of committees. It did so in two ways. First, it

eliminated obsolete committees and consoli-

dated others. This reduced the number in the

Senate from thirty-three to fifteen, and in

the House from forty-eight to nineteen.

Under the act, senators were assigned two

committees instead of as many as nine. Rep-
resentatives served on one instead of five. Of
course, the reduction in the number of

standing committees was offset by an expan-
sion in the number of subcommittees, but

the reformers contended, with some merit,
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that members would be able to concentrate

their energies in more carefully focused sub-

ject areas. The Senate sought to prohibit es-

tablishment of special committees, but the

House successfully fought that provision in

the act's final version; nonetheless, both

chambers severely limited the creation of

special committees In 1946, there were

twelve such panels in Congress. Three years

later, only one existed. The reorganization

act also sought to reduce ]unsdictional con-

fusion by carefullv defining each commit-

tee's legislative responsibilities. For the

Senate, these definitions were incorporated

into Rule 25 of the Senate's rules.

In a move to restrain autocratic chairmen,

the act required committees to set regular

meeting days, to open a majority of sessions

to the public, and to keep transcripts of hear-

ings. Committee chairmen were obligated to

bring bills to a final vote, and to ensure that

measures approved with a majority of com-
mittee members present be reported prompt-

ly to their respective houses. Witnesses were

directed to submit written testimony in ad-

vance of their appearance before committees,

thereby allowing members sufficient time to

prepare questions.

The act's second major contribution was to

expand and improve the quality of commit-

tee professional staff. It authorized each

standing committee to appoint four profes-
sional and six clerical staff members. Previ-

ously, committee staffs had divided their

labors between committee work and con-

stituency services for individual members.

The change promoted growth of technical

expertise that reinforced Congress' investi-

gatory role in the years following World
War II. To further strengthen congressional
staff resources, the act upgraded the Legisla-

tive Reference Service to a separate depart-

ment within the Library of Congress, dou-

bled its appropriation, and provided for cre-

ation of a staff of senior specialists in subject

fields roughly equivalent to those of the

standing committees. Significantly, these

specialists were to be paid at a rate compara-
ble to that of their counterparts in the execu-

tive branch. Finally, the act expanded the bill

drafting service available through the office

of Legislative Counsel. It is important to note

here the indispensability of such a facility

for ensuring Congress' independence of ex-

ecutive dictation. 77

The principal failing of the 1946 Legisla-

tive Reorganization Act came in its efforts to

provide more effective control of the federal

budget process. The measure established a

Joint Budget Committee, consisting of the

members of the Senate and House Appro-

priations committees and the Senate Finance

and House Ways and Means committees.

That panel was given responsibility for pre-

paring annual estimates of federal receipts

and expenditures. These estimates were to be

tied to a concurrent resolution placing a limit

on annual appropriations. Unfortunately, the

joint committee, with more than one hun-

dred members, proved too unwieldly to op-
erate effectively. It was unable to obtain ac-

curate spending estimates early enough in

each fiscal year to apply them to specific

agency funding requests. Consequently, this

procedure was abandoned after 1949. In the

decade that followed, the Senate, on five dif-

ferent occasions, passed legislation to

reestablish the joint committee, but, each

time, the House defeated the measure as a

threat to the prerogatives of its Appropria-
tions Committee. 78

The Legislative Reorganization Act of

1946 contained a number of other important

reforms, including a pay increase for mem-
bers, bringing their salaries from $10,000 to

$12,500 per year, and a $2,500 tax-free ex-

pense allowance. It also finally brought
members under the provisions of the Civil

Service Retirement Act; it created the Daily

Digest section of the Congressional Record; and
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it established a procedure for the registration

of lobbyists, requinng them to file quarterly

spending reports with the secretary of the

Senate and the clerk of the House.

There were several reforms, desired by the

Senate and opposed by the House, that were

dropped from the final version but immedi-

ately embodied in subsequent legislation.

The first was a provision for establishing

Senate maionty and minonty policy com-

mittees. 79 A second important reform per-

mitted senators, tor the first time, to hire ad-

ministrative assistants

Mr. President, the significance of the Leg-

islative Reorganization Act of 1946 is that it

began, rather than completed, a process of

institutional self-evaluation that continues

today. The process it set in motion led to the

establishment in 1965 of another Joint Com-
mittee on the Organization of Congress,
chaired by Mike Monroney who, by then,

had moved to the Senate. The work of that

body came to fruition with the passage of the

Legislative Reorganization Act of 1970 and

other reforms that I shall discuss at another

time.
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Committees, 1946-1989

February 23. 1987*

The subject of the modem Senate commit-
tee system is as rich and complex as that of

the Senate itself. Although political scientists

have written extensively about the develop-
ment of House committees in the years since

World War II, there are few genuinely his-

torical accounts of Senate committees. This

is surprising, for never has so much informa-

tion about the operations of individual com-

mittees been as readily available.

Since 1946, committees have kept full

transcripts of their deliberations, and the

National Archives is virtually bursting with

their records. In 1980, the Senate adopted a

resolution, which I introduced, that opened
to researchers the majority of the Senate's

records at the Archives twenty years after

their creation. This access policy is the most
liberal of any branch of the government. An-

ticipating the bicentennial of the Senate, the

National Archives prepared the first full in-

ventory of these valuable unpublished mate-

rials. In recent years, the Congressional In-

formation Service, a commercial publisher,
has issued comprehensive indexes to com-
mittee records, providing efficient access to a

vast body of documentation. 1

As a senator who, for more than three dec-

ades, has been a close observer of the oper-
ation of the Senate committee system, I shall

focus my remarks today on its recent history.
In making these observations, I shall devote

particular attention to two major reform ef-

forts in 1946 and 1977.

The natural starting point for consider-

ation of the modem Senate committee

system is the 1946 Legislative Reorganiza-
tion Act. As I explained in an earlier address

on congressional reform, that act laid the

foundation for the operations of Congress as

we know it today.
2 Based on the assumption

that Congress should have access to inde-

pendent expertise of a quality equal to that

of the executive branch, the 1946 law au-

thorized nonpartisan, permanent profession-

al staff for all committees. It consolidated

overlapping and conflicting committee juris-

dictions and reduced the number of Senate

committees from thirty-three to fifteen. Each

of these committees was to have thirteen

members with the exception of Appropria-

tions, which was given twenty-one. The

number of assignments to major committees

per senator dropped from six to two. The act

also spelled out in the Senate rules, for the

first time, each committee's jurisdictional

responsibilities.
3

Framers of the Legislative Reorganization

Act sought, in particular, to curb the power
of autocratic chairmen. They did this in a

number of ways: by including provisions for

regular committee meeting dates, public dis-

closure of committee action, and the require-

ment that a majority of members be phys-

ically present before a committee could vote

to report measures to the full Senate. Once a

measure had been approved, it was the duty

of the committee chairman to report it

promptly. In the interest of public disclosure,

the act specified that committee hearings

would be open unless the panel took specific

action to close them. Markup sessions, how-

ever, were to remain closed. Witnesses were

required to file advance written statements

to enable committee staff to prepare digests,

so that even the most junior minority

member would have the opportunity to for-

mulate appropriate questions.

*

Updilfd Mjrch 1980
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The Reorganization Act also underscored

the need for more effective legislative over-

sight of executive agencies. The law directed

that committees shall

exercise continuous watchfulness of the execution by

the administrative agencies concerned of any laws, the

subject matter of which is within the jurisdiction of

such committee; and, for that purpose, shall study all

pertinent reports and data submitted to the Congress

by the agencies in the executive branch of the

Government
'

The operation of the Senate committee

system in the years following 1946 is distin-

guished by two structural developments: the

explosive growth of staff and the prolifera-

tion of subcommittees. The size and role of

committee staffs had changed very little be-

tween the appointment of the first commit-

tee clerks in the 1850's and the passage of the

Reorganization Act nearly a century later.

The responsibilities of these small staffs

were limited to handling correspondence,

overseeing the printing of committee docu-

ments, and setting up hearings. Generally,

they relied on executive agencies to generate

information, reports, and even drafts of

speeches on proposed legislation.
5

The 1946 statute provided that each stand-

ing committee of the House and Senate

(other than the Appropriations committees)
could appoint up to four professional staff

members, at annual salaries ranging from

five thousand to eight thousand dollajs, and

up to six clerical aides, who would earn from

two thousand to eight thousand dollars.

These individuals were to be recruited

"without regard to political affiliations and

solely on the basis of fitness to perform the

duties of the office." They were to work
under the supervision of the chairman and

ranking minority member and could only be

discharged by a majority vote of committee
members. Professional staff members were
forbidden to accept any executive branch ap-

pointment for the period of one year after

leaving congressional employment. The Ap-

propriations committees of the two houses

were "authorized to appoint such staff . . .

as each such committee, by a majority vote,

shall determine to be necessary."
8

Democrats controlled the Congress that

passed the Legislative Reorganization Act,

but Republicans controlled the Congress

that, in 1947, had to implement its lofty ob-

jectives. As a result, the goal of hiring inde-

pendent professional staffs was taken seri-

ously, for Republican congressional leaders

otherwise would have had to rely on techni-

cal data and policy information supplied by
executive agencies within the Democratic

administration of Harry Truman. The adver-

sarial nature of relations between President

Truman and the Republican Eightieth Con-

gress made such an arrangement unlikely.

When Senate committees began building

professional staffs in 1947, there were a total

of 232 committee employees. Of this

number, 46 worked for the Post Office and

Civil Service Committee and 41 for the Rules

Committee. In both committees, most staff

members were found in the clerical and pa-

tronage ranks. Among the committees with

fewer than 10 staff members were Banking
with 9; Labor, 9; Commerce, 8; Foreign Rela-

tions, 8; Interior, 7; Finance, 6; District of

Columbia, 4; and Agriculture, 3. To get

ahead of my story a bit, I should add here

that, within thirteen years, by 1960, the total

number of committee staff members would

double, rising to 470. During that same

period, the ratio of professional to clerical

staff increased at an even greater rate. Be-

tween 1960 and 1974, the number of staff

had again doubled to 948. The peak was

reached in 1979 with 1,269.
7

Mr. President, the second major change in

the operation of Senate committees after

1946 was the dramatic growth in the number

of subcommittees. In 1945, there were just 34
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Secretary of State Dean Acheson. nghl, testified before the Foreign Relations Committee US Smalt Historical Offia

subcommittees for thirty-three standing
committees Immediately following imple-
mentation of the Reorganization Act, the fif-

teen Senate committees gave birth to 44 sub-

committees. Several years later, in 1950, the

family of subcommittees had grown to 66,

and, by 1976, nearly 140 subcommittees

competed for the attention of the Senate's

increasingly harried members. 8

To personalize the growth reflected in

these statistics and to capture the thorough-

going transformation that took place in the

years immediately following World War II,

one could read with profit the memoirs of

the late Dr. Francis O. Wilcox, first chief of

staff of the Senate Foreign Relations Com-
mittee. Dr. Wilcox epitomized the kind of

professional civil servant that the framers of

the 1946 Reorganization Act had in mind.

When he came to the Senate in 1946 from

the Library of Congress' Legislative Refer-

ence Service, the Foreign Relations Commit-

tee staff consisted of a full-time clerk, a half-

time clerk, and a half-time secretary.

Dr. Wilcox entered his new position with

the committee under political circumstances

that many staff aides would have found

ideal. In 1947, both the chairman of the com-

mittee, Republican Arthur Vandenberg of

Michigan, and the ranking Democrat, Tom

Connally of Texas, believed they had indi-

vidually talked him into taking the job! As

he recounted the story:

Senator Connally said to me one day: "Would you

like to be the committee staff director? We're going to

set up a new staff Under the Legislative Reorganiza-

tion Act of 1946, as you know, we're entitled to set up
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j professional
staff

"
I replied that 1 hadn't thought

jbout it. but it would be interesting and I would be

clad to consider that He said, I think 1 can talk Old

v, an
"

that's the way he referred to Senator Vanden-

^fg—'l think I can talk Old Van mto it I'll see what I

can do
"
Well, the next day. before Senator Connally

had a chance to talk to Senator Vandenberg about me,

the Senator from Michigan called me m and asked me

,t I would like to become the director of his new staff I

immediately accepted the invitation This meant, in

effect, that Senator Connally was under the impression

that he had gotten me the |ob. and I was therefore his

man. and Senator Vandenberg had asked me. regard-

less of what Senator Connally had said or done after

the event So. in effect. I was more or less welcomed by

both the Senate committee leaders, which put me in a

\er\ good position, because 1 was a good fnend of Sen-

jtor Connally and also of Senator Vandenberg There's

nothing more helpful to a Senate staff member than to

ck1 rcrsna grata to both ma)onty and minority leaders 9

Under the Legislative Reorganization Act,

os I have noted, each committee was entitled

to hire four professional staff aides Wilcox

explained that, for the Foreign Relations

Committee, this authorization came not a

moment too soon; otherwise, the committee

would have been completely flooded with

work "We had," he later recalled, "the

United Nations Charter, the peace treaties

with the satellite countries, the peace treaty

with Japan, the program of aid to Greece and

Turkey, the interim aid program, the Mar-

shall Plan, the NATO Treaty, and a whole

host of important issues, including the spe-

cialized agencies of the UN." The committee
was helping to create the framework of the

country's postwar foreign policy.
10

Chairman Vandenberg gave Wilcox a free

hand in staff recruitment, with the clear im-

pression that he would hold him totally re-

sponsible both for the staff's successes and
for its shortcomings The chairman insisted

that Wilcox take the title of chief of staff.

When Wilcox suggested that staff director or

executive director would be sufficient, Van-

denberg countered: "It's got to be more im-

portant than that I want to make an impres-

sion on the State Department. . . . [Chief of

staff] sounds bigger and better and strong-

er. ... I want you to be an important

figure."
' ' Thus began a whole new genera-

tion of Senate committee staff aides. Many
of these professionals rose to positions of

great responsibility within their committees,

and a good number of them remained

through the mid-to-late 1970's.

As the figures I cited earlier demonstrate,

the proliferation of subcommittees sharply

distinguished this period of Senate commit-

tee history. Early in his tenure, Francis

Wilcox recommended to his chairman that

subcommittees might make the committee's

operation more efficient. He believed they
would relieve the full committee of consider-

able detail and would channel many requests

from the executive branch directly to sub-

committee chairmen, relieving the burden on

the full committee chairman. Consequently,
from 1950 to 1975, the Foreign Relations

Committee maintained a series of ad hoc

consultative subcommittees, one covering

each area for which the State Department
had designated an assistant secretary.

These subcommittees would meet periodi-

cally with the assistant secretaries for off-

the-record discussions of key issues in the

respective geographic or functional areas.

The discussions were designed to reduce the

need for extensive full committee meetings.

On balance, the idea of consultative subcom-

mittees—the term investigative was considered

too adversarial—produced indifferent re-

sults. Their successful operation depended

largely on the interests of the particular sub-

committee chairmen, as well as on the prom-
inence and urgency of the issues within their

jurisdictions.
12

Mr. President, although the Legislative

Reorganization Act of 1946 was intended to

reform Senate committee structures for all

time, it merely began the process. Early in

1948, the Committee on Expenditures in the
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Former Senator Robert La Follette, Jr , testified in

1948 that subcommittees performed a useful service

in the work of the Senate Library of Congress

Executive Departments, the forerunner of

our Governmental Affairs Committee, held

hearings to see how weli the year-and-a-
half-old act was working Senate Republican

Policy Committee Chairman Robert Taft of

Ohio believed the act had functioned quite
well and said, "I think it has improved the

character of the work done by committees

[and] certainly the character of the experts

employed by committees." He added,
however:

I don't feel that it has particularly succeeded in re-

lieving Senators of multifarious duties, because there

ire |ust so many sub|ects. and if you don't consider

them in different committees you consider them in

subcommittees 1 am afraid there is no way in which
Senators may be able to do less work, but certainly

with the expert assistance which has been given, they
have been able to do very much better work ' 3

Former Wisconsin Senator Robert La Fol-

lette, Jr., one of the Reorganization Act's ar-

chitects, told the committee that he saw

nothing wrong with the trend toward a

larger number of subcommittees. Many of

them merely substituted for ad hoc subcom-

mittees that had been called to consider par-

ticular bills and then disbanded. By creating

standing subcommittees, most of which

served as issue-oriented study groups, the

Senate was assuring itself that a reservoir of

expertise would be available for efficient use

as related issues presented themselves. By
the same token, La Follette strongly opposed
creation of special investigating committees

on the grounds that standing committees

possessed sufficient expertise to oversee the

executive agencies within their jurisdiction.

La Follette concluded,

The essential and important difference between a

hodgepodge committee system and an integrated

scheme is not in the relative number of subcommittees,

but rather in the formalization of fixed channels and

definite jurisdictions so that each new piece of legisla-

tion in any given field can have the benefit of the staff

work and specialized expenence of Members of

Congress.

Trie former senator continued:

As I see it, there is much less likelihood of wasteful

duplication in legislative studies, or of uncorrelated ac-

tivities, under the present committee structure. I ven-

ture the prediction that it will work even better as the

professional staff members, many of whom are rela-

tively new, gain additional experience in their special-

ized fields of legislation
' *

To this observation, Representative Mike

Monroney added, "One difficulty Congress
has found is that, never having worked with

well- trained staff members, they do not

know how to use them for maximum
benefit." 15

Three years later, in June 1951, the Com-
mittee on Expenditures in the Executive De-

partments held a second hearing to evaluate

further the act's effectiveness. Again, mem-
bers focused on intended reforms of commit-
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tee operations. Senators agreed that these re-

forms were far from complete. They felt that

committee work loads continued to be dis-

tributed inequitably Some proposed to

exempt members of the Appropriations and

Foreign Relations committees from service

on any other committees. Most realized,

however, that this arrangement would elimi-

nate the coordination that occurred by
having members of those key committees sit

on related committees ' 6

Despite the reformers desire in 1947 for

committees to hire nonpartisan staff experts.

Republican chairmen, with a few exceptions,

hired Republican staff. When the Democrats

regained control of Congress two years later,

they kept approximately two-thirds of these

individuals. At the time. Professor Gladys
Kammerer contended that "many commit-
tees were headed in 1949 by conservative

southern Democrats who maintain policy
stands identical to those of their Republican

predecessors." She concluded that the low
staff turnover might be "linked to the se-

niority system for selection of committee
chairmen which frees them from any feeling
of party responsibility."

17 This situation

dissatisfied Democratic Senator J Howard
McGrath of Rhode Island, who commented
that it just might be necessary to find some
more Democratic experts Ernest Griffith, di-

rector of the Legislative Reference Service,

reported: "Some committees have survived

changes in party control without impair-
ment, largely in instances in which party
considerations did not influence the original

appointments. In other instances, a reason-

able stability has been secured by the divi-

sion of appointments between the parties.

Others have been partisan."
"

The framers of the 1946 Reorganization
Act placed great faith in the usefulness of

joint committee action. The plan was to es-

tablish joint panels or to have the corre-

sponding committees of each chamber meet

jointly, whenever possible, to reduce dupli-
cation of effort by members, staff, and wit-

nesses. Creation of roughly parallel commit-

tee systems, with similar jurisdictions in

both houses, stimulated occasional joint

hearings and staff collaboration. This was

particularly the case for committees con-

cerned with foreign economic policy, mili-

tary aid, public housing, and the District of

Columbia. Hopes for more creative uses of

the joint panels that had been established ul-

timately died, however, as members of both

houses sought to preserve the prerogatives of

their individual chambers and to set their in-

dependent agendas.
19 Most formal collabo-

ration was limited, therefore, to the eight

joint standing committees. 20 Until 1953,

senators generally chaired joint committees.

Growing irritation among House members
led to the practice, after that time, of alter-

nating chairmanships between the bodies

from one Congress to the next.

There were a number of other deficiencies

in the operation of the 1946 act. Combining
committees with overlapping jurisdictions

did little to eliminate conflict on major issues

related to defense, the economy, and social

welfare. Two-thirds of the Senate's fifteen

committees claimed an interest in national

security affairs. The committees on Finance

and Labor fought over control of veterans'

legislation, while others quarreled over aid to

small business. 21 The Senate began routine-

ly to waive the act's prohibition on holding
committee meetings during full legislative

sessions—a provision designed to ensure

maximum attendance on the Senate floor.

Hearings were frequently called without suf-

ficient notice, so that the provision requiring

submission of written testimony in advance

often went unheeded. Committee chairmen,

in general, paid little attention to the require-

ment for regular meeting dates.

In Citadel, his classic study of the Senate,

New York Times correspondent William S.
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mark up bills or to vote. All committee

record votes were to be publicly reported.

The act permitted elimination of general

proxies for absent members in committee

voting and allowed committees to ban prox-

ies altogether on a vote to report a measure.

It placed no limits on the use of proxies in

subcommittees

The 1970 Legislative Reorganization Act

limited newly elected senators to member-

ship on two major committees and one minor

one, with no member serving on more than

one of the committees on Appropriations,

Armed Services, Finance, and Foreign Rela-

tions. No senator could chair more than one

full committee. The 1970 act required Senate

committees to adopt and publish rules of

procedure and to issue annual reports of

their accomplishments. It mandated that a

committee report on a bill must be available

at least three days—excluding Saturdays,

Sundays, and holidays—before the full

Senate could consider the measure. This pro-
vision did not apply to certain urgent catego-

ries of legislation, and it could be waived, in

any case, by agreement between the two
floor leaders. Committees were required to

announce hearings at least one week in ad-

vance, except in unusual circumstances.

The 1970 act is best remembered for the

changes in committee practices that I have

just described. It accomplished little by way
of structural reform, except to establish the

Senate Committee on Veterans' Affairs and

to permit each standing committee to in-

crease from four to six the authorized

number of permanent professional staff. 25

On March 11, 1975, intensifying pressures
for further significant committee reform

compelled fifty-seven senators to cosponsor
a resolution establishing a Temporary Select

Committee to Study the Senate Committee

System. Although the Rules Committee de-

ferred action for a year, the Senate accepted
other committee-related changes during that

time. Senate Democrats agreed to permit use

of a secret ballot in selecting committee

chairmen if one-fifth of the party conference

called for it. Two years earlier, Republicans
had decided to select their senior committee

members by vote of their party conference.

For the first time, the Senate permitted

public access to committee meetings in addi-

tion to hearings. This included markup ses-

sions and joint House-Senate conference

committees, although either chamber could

vote to close specific conference sessions.

In a move that had major significance for

the operation of its committees, the Senate,

in 1975, provided junior senators with up to

three personal staff members to assist with

their committee work. This was in addition

to the requirement of the 1970 statute that

two of the six committee professional staff

be assigned to the minority. The net effect of

these two changes was to limit the power of

committee chairmen, who previously had

the final word on staff selection. That power
flowed increasingly to members of both par-

ties with less seniority.

In 1975, major reform activity centered

around the special Commission on the Oper-
ation of the Senate. Chaired by former Sena-

tor Harold Hughes and composed of nine

private citizens, one Senate officer, and one

Senate employee, this panel carried a man-

date to examine every area of Senate activity

except the jurisdictional responsibilities of

committees. At the end of 1976, the Hughes
commission submitted its report, addressed

principally to the modernization of Senate

administrative practices. With regard to

committee operations, the commission rec-

ommended that major committees be

charged with the responsibility for conduct-

ing long-range analyses of pressing national

issues. It also urged the Senate to centralize

executive agency oversight responsibility

within the then Government Operations
Committee. 28
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As is often the case with advisory commis-

sions that take on highly complex issues, the

recommendations of the Hughes commission

met with mixed success. The Senate subse-

quently adopted two of the commission's

proposals related to committee operations.

One was a plan to consolidate the budget re-

quests of all Senate committees (with the ex-

ception of the Ethics Committee) into a

single funding resolution. The other was a

recommendation to set up a computerized

clearinghouse for scheduling committee

meetings.

Early in 1976, the Subcommittee on the

Standing Rules of the Senate, which I

chaired (and which I later moved to abolish),

held a hearing on the 1975 proposal to estab-

lish a temporary select committee on the

committee system Part of my overall strate-

gy, as majority whip, was to facilitate the

business and improve the image of the

Senate, and I was determined to see the work
of the temporary committee succeed. Conse-

quently, the Committee on Rules and Ad-

ministration approved that measure, and the

full Senate adopted it on March 31, 1976. As

the principal sponsor of the authorizing reso-

lution, Illinois Senator Adlai E. Stevenson III

was appointed chairman, and Senator Wil-

liam Brock of Tennessee served as cochair-

man of the Temporary Select Committee
to Study the Senate Committee System,
more commonly known as the Stevenson

committee.

Senator Stevenson eloquently described

the difficulties arising from the committee

system's antiquated jurisdictional assign-

ments. He noted that they had remained rel-

atively unchanged since the 1946 Legislative

Reorganization Act despite major changes in

executive branch structure. With the prolif-

eration of subcommittees and the lack of ju-

risdictional realignment, Stevenson ob-

served: "We sometimes end up reinventing
the wheel simultaneously in different sub-

committees. And we often end up dealing

with parts of an issue with no mechanism to

put the parts together."
2T

The six Democratic and six Republican
senators on the Stevenson committee were

relatively junior and reform-oriented, and

none chaired major Senate committees. The

panel included no members from the Rules

Committee or from the powerful committees

on Foreign Relations and Judiciary. During
the remainder of 1976, the panel examined

proposals for restructuring and reducing the

number of committees, rotating chairman-

ships and memberships, and creating major
new committees on science and technology,

energy, and national security.
28

Following extensive hearings and an ex-

haustive series of interviews, the temporary

committee, in September 1976, produced a

set of recommendations. Picking up a famil-

iar theme of congressional reformers, its

members urged the abolition of all select,

special, and joint committees, with the ex-

ception of the newly created Intelligence

Committee. It advised eliminating four com-

mittees: District of Columbia; Post Office

and Civil Service; Aeronautical and Space

Sciences; and Veterans' Affairs. The tempo-

rary committee further recommended re-

structuring the panels that had responsibility

for issues related to energy, environment,

and transportation. This recommendation

led to creation of the Committee on Energy
and Natural Resources—from the old Interi-

or Committee—and the Committee on Envi-

ronment and Public Works. The panel also

advocated placing strict limits on the number

of chairmanships and committee assign-

ments for each member, and it sought to im-

prove scheduling of committee meetings.
29

Prospects for passage of this reform meas-

ure brightened with the election, in Novem-
ber 1976, of eighteen new senators. Shortly

after the election, I met with Senator Steven-

son and Oregon Senator Bob Packwood,
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Senator Adlaj E Stevenson III headed an effort in

1976 to reorganize Senate committees
US Senatt Historical Office

who had replaced Senator Brock as cochair-

man Along with Rules Committee Chair-

man Howard Cannon of Nevada, we agreed
that a resolution incorporating the tempo-
rary committee's recommendations would be
referred to the Rules Committee for hearings
and reported out to the full Senate not later

than January 19, 1977.

In a major step to protect the reform pro-

posals, we decided that no new permanent
assignments to committees would be made
until after reorganization was completed. On
the first day of the Ninety-fifth Congress, as

1 began my service as Senate majority leader,

Senator Stevenson introduced a resolution

embodying the reform proposals. Newly
elected senators were decidedly unhappy

that they would have to wait for permanent

assignments. To expedite committee busi-

ness, the Democratic Conference decided to

assign new senators of the majority party to

committees by lot. These assignments would

expire on the day the Senate completed
action on reorganization.

The hearings before the Rules Committee

proved to be stormy.
30 Many senators and

others who testified agreed, in general, with

the need for reform but feared the impact on
their own committee assignments. I realized

that this entire effort might collapse unless

senior chairmen relaxed some of their oppo-
sition. Accordingly, I arranged two lengthy

private meetings with committee chairmen

so that Senator Stevenson and those of us

with overall leadership responsibilities could

work out a solution acceptable to the majori-

ty. This approach resulted in a series of

agreements that preserved the major provi-

sions of the reform package.
The agreements cleared the way for adop-

tion of Senator Stevenson's resolution early

in February 1977, by a vote of 89 to 1. In the

process, the Senate modified the Stevenson

committee's proposals in several respects. It

retained the Joint Economic Committee and

the Joint Committee on Internal Revenue

Taxation but withdrew the Senate's mem-
bers from the Joint Committees on Atomic

Energy, Defense Production, and Congres-
sional Operations. The Senate also estab-

lished the Special Committee on Aging,
while abolishing the Committees on the Dis-

trict of Columbia, Post Office and Civil

Service, and Aeronautical and Space Sci-

ences. The Committee on Standards and

Conduct was renamed the Select Committee
on Ethics. 31

The structural accomplishments of the

1977 committee reform effort are impressive

by any standard. The number of standing

committees was reduced by 23 percent from

thirty-one to twenty-four. Subcommittees

[
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Members of the joint Committee on Atomic Energy celebrated the committee's twentieth anniversary in 1966.

US Senate Historical Office

were cut 33 percent, from 174 to 117. Each

senator was limited to service on two major
committees and one minor one. Senators

were permitted to serve on not more than

three subcommittees for each major commit-
tee (other than the Committee on Appro-
priations) and two for each minor committee
to which they were assigned.

32

Although it might seem that service on a

total of eleven committees and subcommit-
tees is excessive, that number compared
favorably with the previous volume of com-
mittee and subcommittee assignments,
which had often exceeded twenty and occa-

sionally even exceeded thirty. In a move to

spread leadership responsibility among a

committee's majority party members, the

Senate agreed to permit full committee
chairmen to chair only one subcommittee
within the parent committee. Committees
were also required to obtain approval of

the full Senate before setting up new
subcommittees.

Restriction on subcommittee membership
served to reduce the number of subcommit-
tees. During 1976, for example, the Judiciary

Committee, composed of fifteen members,

had fifteen subcommittees. Senator John

McClellan of Arkansas served on eleven of

these subcommittees and chaired two.

Chairman James O. Eastland of Mississippi

chaired three subcommittees. Under the re-

organization, with each majority member
limited to one subcommittee chairmanship,

the Judiciary Committee, in 1977, abolished

five subcommittees, merged two and created

one, for a total of ten subcommittees. Among
that committee's eleven-member majority, I,

because of my duties as Senate majority

leader, chose to chair no subcommittee.

In a major step in the direction of partisan

staffing, the Senate agreed that staff ratios

should reflect the relative size of the majori-

ty and minority party assignments to indi-

vidual committees. Committee minorities

were permitted to have at least one-third of a

committee's funds, beyond those used for

clerical staff and central resources, placed

under their control.

For the first time in three decades, the

Senate had succeeded in bringing about an

internal reorganization of its committee
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In 1976, Senator John McClellan, let/, chaired two of the Judiciary Committee's fifteen subcommittees, while
Committee Chairman James Eastland, nght, chaired three subcommittees. U.S. Senate Historical Office

system. "Widespread skepticism about pros-

pects for reorganization persisted almost

until the eve of approval," wrote Judith H.

Parris, a member of the staff of the Tempo-
rary Select Committee and, later, an adjunct

professor of government at American Uni-

versity.
33

Although there had long been

inner rumblings of frustration about the

committee system, the chances for effective

change appeared slim. Institutional inertia

and the entrenched positions of senior mem-
bers, chairmen, and ranking members of

committees and subcommittees constituted a

formidable roadblock to any major structural

alterations in the system. That several major
changes did indeed occur was due, in great

measure, to the dedication, persistence, and
hard work of Senator Stevenson, who stated,

on behalf of supporters of reorganization,
"We're not asking, we're demanding."

34

"Undoubtedly," said Parris, "winds had
been blowing in the direction of institutional

change." For several years, the country
had been moving toward governmental
reform. Nonetheless, such internal reform

as the Stevenson committee recommend-

ed faced more than the usual odds

against changing the status quo. Except for

Common Cause and editorial writers for the

Washington Post, the Washington Star, and a few

other publications which "solidly supported
the Stevenson Committee's efforts, other

public interest forces were either equivo-
cal or silent." 35

"The most important constituency for

change," declared Parris, "was the Senators

themselves." Restructuring the system was

favored by a "heterogeneous coalition" of

members for various reasons, among which,

according to Parris, were "modernization, ef-

ficiency, rationalization, benefits to junior

senators, benefits to the minority, respon-

siveness, more limited government, a better

public image, and making their own work

more convenient and productive." More-

over, and very importantly, "few senators

(or groups . . .

) perceived themselves as se-

riously affected adversely" by the legislation

as ultimately enacted. "Provisions that dam-

aged vital interests of preeminent actors in

particular subsystems," as Parris correctly

observed, "had been deleted." 36
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ate's entire two-hundred-year history. The
committee reforms of 1977, as with those of

1946, were undertaken with an appreciation

of the need for continuity, and a deep respect

for institutional tradition and the rights of

individual senators. They were also con-

ceived in the need to constantly adapt to

modem challenges. None of these efforts

settled all of the problems they set out to ad-

dress. In the intervening years, there have

been additional study groups dedicated to

improving the operation of the Senate and its

committee system. As the United States

Senate enters its third century, its leadership

and members must continue to struggle for a

creative balance between tradition and inno-

vation. There is no better example of the

Senate's fundamental ability to strike that

balance than that provided by the steady
evolution of its modem committee system.

[
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STATEMENT BEFORE COMMITTEE TO REFORM CONGRESS
SENATOR CHRISTOPHER S. BOND

FEBRUARY 2, 1993

MR. CHAIRMAN AND MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE I APPRECIATE VERY

MUCH THIS OPPORTUNITY TO TESTIFY BEFORE YOU TODAY. EARLIER THIS

YEAR I SENT LETTERS TO SENATORS BOREN AND DOMENICI OUTLINING MY

IDEAS ON A WIDE RANGE OF POTENTIAL REFORMS -- FOR THE SAKE OF THE

COMMITTEE '

S TIME I WOULD ASK THAT LETTER BE PLACED IN THE HEARING

RECORD AND I WILL DISCUSS ONLY TWO OF THE SPECIFIC IDEAS I HAVE.

FIRST, I BELIEVE WE MUST REFORM THE ETHICS COMMITTEE. MEMBERS

OF CONGRESS SHOULD BE HELD TO THE HIGHEST STANDARDS, BUT LIKE ANY

INDIVIDUAL IN OUR SOCIETY, SHOULD HAVE THE RIGHT TO DEFEND

THEMSELVES AGAINST ANY CHARGES. I BELIEVE OUR CURRENT SYSTEM —
WITH MEMBERS ACTING AS THE DEFENSE, THE PROSECUTION, THE JUDGE AND

THE JURY IS NO LONGER WORKABLE OR FAIR.

I HAVE COME TO THIS CONCLUSION ONLY GRADUALLY OVER THE PAST

FEW YEARS, BUT I NOW BELIEVE WE MUST TAKE THIS OPPORTUNITY TO WIPE

THE SLATE CLEAN AND START OVER.

THUS I PROPOSE TO REPLACE THE ETHICS COMMITTEE'S FINDER OF

FACT FUNCTION AND GIVE IT TO A PANEL OF RETIRED STATE OR FEDERAL

JUDGES. THIS PANEL — THE "INDEPENDENT ETHICS COMMISSION" — WOULD

BE MADE UP OF THREE RETIRED STATE OR FEDERAL JUDGES, ONE APPOINTED

BY THE MAJORITY LEADER, ONE APPOINTED BY THE MINORITY LEADER AND

THE FINAL ONE APPOINTED JOINTLY BE THE MAJORITY AND MINORITY LEADER
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UPON THE RECOMMENDATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE PANEL ALREADY

APPOINTED.

THEY WOULD HANDLE ALL REQUESTS FOR REVIEW OF ALLEGATIONS, MAKE

INFORMAL PRELIMINARY INQUIRIES AS APPROPRIATE, AND IF AS A RESULT

THEY DETERMINE A FORMAL INVESTIGATION IS WARRANTED; THEN HAVE THE

AUTHORITY TO PROCEED.

IF A FORMAL INQUIRY IS REQUIRED, THE ETHICS COMMISSION COULD

HOLD HEARINGS, ISSUE SUBPOENAS, TAKE TESTIMONY UNDER OATH OR HIRE

OUTSIDE COUNSEL AS NEEDED. IN ADDITION THEY WOULD HAVE THE

AUTHORITY TO APPOINT A SPECIAL COUNSEL, BUT WOULD BE REQUIRED TO

SPECIFICALLY STATE THE SCOPE OF THE INQUIRY.

AT THE CONCLUSION OF THIS EFFORT THE COMMISSION WOULD BE

REQUIRED TO SUBMIT TO THE SENATE A REPORT ON FINDINGS OF FACT,

THEIR CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ON ANY APPROPRIATE

SANCTIONS. AFTER SUBMISSION OF THEIR REPORT TO THE FULL SENATE,

ANY MEMBER COULD INTRODUCE A RESOLUTION PROPOSING THE SENATE ADOPT

THE REPORT — WITH OR WITHOUT MODIFICATION.

THIS STRUCTURE WOULD RETAIN THE POWER OF THE SENATE TO

DISCIPLINE A MEMBER, BUT WOULD TAKE AWAY THE POLITICAL PRESSURES

FROM THE PRELIMINARY INQUIRIES AND ACTUAL PROCEEDINGS.
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BUT PERHAPS EVEN MORE IMPORTANTLY, IT WOULD PROTECT THE

LEGITIMACY OF ALL DECISIONS — PARTICULARY THOSE WHICH STATE NO

VIOLATIONS OCCURED.

TODAY, IF THE ETHICS COMMITTEE RETURNS WITH A DECISION TO NOT

PURSUE A CASE, OR THAT NO SANCTIONS ARE WARRANTED, THE CRY OF

"WHITEWASH" IS HEARD — EVEN IF THE DECISION IS CORRECT. THIS THEN

LEADS TO PRESSURE FOR "ACTION" ON THE NEXT CASE, WITH POLITICAL

MANUEVERING AND POSTURING TO "LOOK TOUGH".

THUS JUSTICE IN ONE CASE CAN LEAD TO AN INJUSTICE IN A FUTURE

CASE.

AND BECAUSE THE NUMBER OF COMPLAINTS FILED ARE INCREASING —
MANY OF WHICH MAY BE POLITICALLY MOTIVATED -- DIVORCING THE

POLITICS FROM THE CHARGES, AND THE INQUIRY AND INVESTIGAION CAN

ONLY HELP THE PROCESS BE FAIRER TO ALL.

I BELIEVE VERY STRONGLY THAT THE INNOCENT SHOULD NOT BE HELD

HOSTAGE TO THE GUILTY, BUT THAT THE GUILTY SHOULD RECEIVE THEIR

JUST PUINISHMENT.

MR. CHAIRMAN AND MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE, HAVING SERVED ON

THE JUDGE HASTINGS IMPEACHMENT PANEL I HAVE SOME APPRECIATION OF

HOW DIFFICULT IT IS TO DEVOTE THE TIME AND ENERGY TO HEAR THE

FACTS, PORE OVER THE DOCUMENTS AND RENDER A DECISION.
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AND WHILE THE CASE WAS VERY COMPLEX, WITH AN EXTRAORDINARY

CONVOLUTED PAPER TRAIL, THE OTHER BUSINESS OF THE SENATE DID NOT

SLOW DOWN OR PAUSE AS THIS WORK WENT ON -- THUS THE PRESSURE WE

DID FACE WAS TO HURRY ALONG.

BUT IN OUR CASE WE WERE NOT ATTEMPTING TO JUDGE A COLLEAGUE

WHO WE WORK WITH EVERY DAY. WE WERE NOT SUBJECT TO PRESSURES OF

PARTISANSHIP OR LEADERSHIP. WE WERE NOT LOBBIED BY OUTSIDE GROUPS

TRYING TO INFLUENCE THE DECISION. THUS WHILE IT WAS DIFFICULT, IT

WAS NOT IMPOSSIBLE.

IMPOSSIBLE, LIKE IT OR NOT, IS ABOUT WHAT THE TASKS OF THE

MEMBERS OF THE ETHICS COMMITTEE ARE TODAY. WITHOUT REFLECTING ON

ANY CASE, PAST OR PRESENT, I BELIEVE AS A MATTER OF PRACTICAL

COMMON SENSE IT IS VERY DIFFICUT, IF NOT IMPOSSIBLE, FOR MEMBERS OF

THE COMMITTEE TO HEAR CHARGES AND JUDGE FAIRLY THE EVIDENCE AGAINST

A COLLEAGUE, WITH WHOM WE MUST WORK, COLLABORATE, AND COMPROMISE

EVERY DAY.

AND LIKE IT OR NOT, FOR THE JUDGEMENTS OF THE SENATE TO BE

SEEN AS LEGITIMATE IN ANY FUTURE CASE — WHETHER THOSE JUDGEMENTS

BE PUNISHMENT OR NO ACTION — THE ETHICS PROCESS MUST BE REFORMED.

THUS I URGE THIS COMMITTEE TO LOOK AT THIS REFORM.
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MY SECOND PROPOSAL IS VERY SIMPLE AND STRAIGHTFORWARD — I

SUGGEST WE ADOPT A MANDATORY ADJOURNMENT DATE, AND ENFORCE IT BY

WITHHOLDING PAY FOR DAYS IN SESSION PAST THE DATE.

I WOULD OFFER OCTOBER 15TH AS THE APPROPRIATE DAY, AND WOULD

GIVE THE PRESIDENT THE POWER TO KEEP THE CONGRESS IN PAST THAT

DATE, OR CALL A SPECIAL SESSION IF EVENTS WARRANT.

MANY STATE LEGISLATURES HAVE THIS AS IT PROVIDES A DISICIPLINE

AND STRUCTURE TO THE LEGISLATIVE PROCESS. IF EVEN A SMALL AMOUNT

OF DISCIPLINE WERE FORCED INTO THE SCHEDULING OF BILLS AND THE

HANDLING OF BUDGET AND APPROPRIATIONS I BELIEVE THE CONGRESS AND

COUNTRY WOULD BENEFIT.

IT SHOULD GIVE CONGRESS AN OPPORTUNITY TO SPEND MORE TIME ON

OVERSIGHT OF THE PROGRAMS WE FUND, AS WELL AS ADDITIONAL TIME FOR

IN-STATE HEARINGS AND MEETINGS. I WOULD HOPE THE COMMITTEE WOULD

REVIEW THIS IDEA SERIOUSLY.

MR. CHAIRMAN, MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE, I THANK YOU FOR THIS

OPPORTUNITY, AND WISH YOU THE BEST OF LUCK!
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STATEMENT OF SENATOR CHARLES E. GRASSLEY
JOINT COMMITTEE ON CONGRESSIONAL REFORM

FEBRUARY 2, 1993

THANK YOU FOR THE OPPORTUNITY TO APPEAR BEFORE THE JOINT
COMMITTEE TODAY. THE ISSUE OF CONGRESSIONAL REFORM IS, IN MY
OPINION, OF THE HIGHEST IMPORTANCE TO MAINTAIN THE INTEGRITY OF
OUR DEMOCRACY. CONGRESS IS THE PEOPLE'S BRANCH OF GOVERNMENT.
YET, THE AMERICAN PEOPLE HOLD OUR INSTITUTION IN THE LOWEST
REGARD OF ANY PART OF OUR GOVERNMENT. IT IS OUR RESPONSIBILITY
TO PUT OUR HOUSES — BOTH CHAMBERS — IN ORDER, TO RESTORE THE
CONFIDENCE AND TRUST OF OUR CITIZENS IN THEIR GOVERNMENT. OUR
WORK MUST NOT ONLY BE COMPREHENSIBLE TO THE PUBLIC, BUT OUR WORK
MUST ALSO DEMONSTRATE ACCOUNTABILITY TO THE PEOPLE — THEIR
PRIORITIES MUST BE OUR PRIORITIES; THEIR GOALS AND ASPIRATIONS
FOR THEIR GOVERNMENT MUST BE OUR GOALS AND ASPIRATIONS. WE MUST
USE OUR POWERS WISELY AND USE THEM ON BEHALF OF THE PUBLIC. WE
MUST CONSTANTLY REMIND OURSELVES THAT WE DERIVE ALL OF OUR
AUTHORITY FROM THE AMERICAN PEOPLE. THAT IS THE GENIUS OF OUR
CONSTITUTIONAL SYSTEM.

I AM PARTICULARLY PLEASED THAT MY COLLEAGUES ARE SOLICITING
MY VIEWS ON CONGRESSIONAL REFORM, BECAUSE, LET ME TELL YOU, I

:-iAVEN'T MADE ANY CONGRESSIONAL FRIENDS WITH MY EFFORTS TO GET
CONGRESS TO FOLLOW THE LAWS WE PASS FOR ALL OTHER AMERICANS. THE
3EST THING I CAN SAY ABOUT THE ANNOYED REACTION OF MANY
COLLEAGUES, SUCH AS THE SENATOR WHO TOLD ME HE HOPED I WOULD BE
THE FIRST SENATOR SUED FOR A CIVIL RIGHTS LAW VIOLATION, IS THAT
IT WAS BIPARTISAN.

THAT'S APPROPRIATE, BECAUSE THE ISSUE IS NOT A PARTISAN ONE,
ESPECIALLY NOT WITH THE AMERICAN PEOPLE WHO ARE OUTRAGED WHEN
THEY LEARN THAT CONGRESS EXEMPTS ITSELF FROM THE LAWS IT EXPECTS
EVERYONE ELSE TO LIVE BY. THE NEED FOR FULL CONGRESS IONAL
COVERAGE WAS ONE OF THE VERY FEW ISSUES PRESIDENT CLINTON,
PRESIDENT BUSH, AND ROSS PEROT AGREED ON DURING THE CAMPAIGN. I

THINK PRESIDENT CLINTON SUMMED UP THE PROBLEM QUITE NICELY IN AN
INTERVIEW LAST JULY. PRESIDENT CLINTON SAID:

"IT'S WRONG FOR CONGRESS TO BE ABLE TO PUT NEW REQUIREMENTS
ON AMERICAN BUSINESS AS EMPLOYERS AND THEN NOT FOLLOW THAT
RULE AS EMPLOYERS THEMSELVES. THEY EXEMPT THEMSELVES,
HISTORICALLY, FROM ALL KINDS OF RULES THAT PRIVATE SECTOR
EMPLOYERS HAVE TO FOLLOW. AND I THINK THAT ONE OF THE
THINGS THAT HAPPENS TO PEOPLE IN GOVERNMENT IS THEY FORGET
WHAT IT'S LIKE TO BE GOVERNED. THEY DON'T HAVE ANY IDEA
WHAT IT'S LIKE TO BE ON THE RECEIVING END OF A LOT OF THESE
RULES AND REGULATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS .

"
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I WAS SO PLEASED TO HEAR THIS THAT I WROTE THEN-GOVERNOR
CLINTON AND ASKED FOR HIS SUPPORT IN GETTING CONGRESSIONAL
COVERAGE. I HAVE NOT HEARD BACK FROM HIM, BUT I AM CONFIDENT HE
WILL STICK TO HIS POSITION ON THIS IMPORTANT MATTER. THE
PRESIDENT IS RIGHT THAT WE EXEMPT OURSELVES FROM ALL KINDS OF
RULES. UNDER MY AMENDMENT TO THE 1991 CIVIL RIGHTS ACT, THE
SENATE IS NOW COVERED UNDER CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS, BUT WE STILL
EXEMPT OURSELVES FROM:

THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT,
THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS ACT,
THE SOCIAL SECURITY ACT,
THE EQUAL PAY ACT,
THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT,
THE OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY ACT,
THE PRIVACY ACT;
AND MANY OTHER GENERALLY APPLICABLE LAWS.

CONGRESS' UNWILLINGNESS TO TASTE ITS OWN LEGISLATIVE
MEDICINE, LET ALONE SWALLOW IT, IS CERTAINLY NOT WHAT THE FRAMERS
HAD IN MIND. IN FEDERALIST 57, JAMES MADISON WROTE THAT THE
MEMBERS OF CONGRESS:

CAN MAKE NO LAW WHICH WILL NOT HAVE ITS FULL OPERATION ON
THEMSELVES AND THEIR FRIENDS, AS WELL AS ON THE GREAT MASS
OF SOCIETY. THIS HAS ALWAYS BEEN DEEMED ONE OF THE
STRONGEST BONDS BY WHICH HUMAN POLICY CAN CONNECT THE RULERS
AND THE PEOPLE TOGETHER. IT CREATES BETWEEN THEM THAT
COMMUNION OF INTERESTS AND SYMPATHY OF SENTIMENTS OF WHICH
FEW GOVERNMENTS HAVE FURNISHED EXAMPLES, BUT WITHOUT WHICH
EVERY GOVERNMENT DEGENERATES INTO TYRANNY. ... IF THE
[AMERICAN CONSTITUTIONAL] SPIRIT EVER BE SO FAR DEBASED AS
TO TOLERATE A LAW NOT OBLIGATORY ON THE LEGISLATURE AS WELL
AS ON THE PEOPLE, THE PEOPLE WILL BE PREPARED TO TOLERATE
ANYTHING BUT LIBERTY.

MADISON WAS RIGHT. THE CITIZENS OF OUR REPUBLIC ARE NOT
WILLING TO TOLERATE CONGRESS REFUSING TO LIVE BY THE LAWS IT
PASSES. THAT IS WHY IN 1991, IN THE FACE OF STRONG PUBLIC
SCRUTINY IN THE WAKE OF THE HOUSE BANKING SCANDAL, AS WELL AS
ANOTHER CONTROVERSIAL SUPREME COURT CONFIRMATION, THE SENATE WAS
FINALLY WILLING TO PASS MY AMENDMENT REQUIRING SENATORIAL
ADHERENCE TO THE CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS — INCLUDING THE LAWS
PROHIBITING SEXUAL HARASSMENT. PRIOR TO THAT DATE, MY EFFORTS IN
THIS AREA HAD BEEN STERNLY REBUKED. MY AMENDMENT TO AN EARLIER
CIVIL RIGHTS BILL FAILED, MY AMENDMENT TO THE AMERICANS WITH
DISABILITIES ACT WAS DROPPED IN CONFERENCE, AND I WASN'T EVEN
ALLOWED TO OFFER MY AMENDMENT TO THE FAMILY LEAVE BILL WHEN THE
SENATE DEBATED IT IN 1991 (I AM PLEASED, HOWEVER, THAT THIS
YEAR'S FAMILY LEAVE BILL, NOW UNDER CONSIDERATION IN THE SENATE,
CONTAINS SENATE COVERAGE).
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BUT THE CONGRESSIONAL COVERAGE AMENDMENT I WON IN 1951 DOES
NOT MEAN THE JOB IS DONE. UNDER CURRENT COVERAGE AND DESPITE THE
SPOTLIGHT ON IT, THE SENATE STILL DOESN'T SUBJECT ITSELF TZ THE
SAME ENFORCEMENT MECHANISMS THE PRIVATE SECTOR MUST FOLLOW. IN
LIEU OF A JURY TRIAL, IT SUBSTITUTED AN EFFICIENT OFFICE C7 FAIR
EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES, WITH REVIEW BY THE ETHICS COMMITTEE AND
THEN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE FEDERAL CIRCUIT. I WAS INLY
WILLING TO ACCEPT THIS COMPROMISE BECAUSE IT PROVIDED AT 1IAST
SOME JUDICIAL REVIEW.

AS THIS JOINT COMMITTEE EXAMINES THESE ISSUES, ALONG VITH
THE SENATE TASK FORCE ON CONGRESSIONAL COVERAGE, I WOULD AiX THIS
QUESTION FOR CONSIDERATION: WHY SHOULDN'T CONGRESS BE SUBJECT TO
THE SAME PROCESSES — A LENGTHY, EXPENSIVE JURY TRIAL IN 7IDERAL
COURT — AS PRIVATE SECTOR EMPLOYERS? SURELY THE ANSWER I; NOT
THAT CONGRESS STILL THINKS IT IS ABOVE THE LAW.

COULD IT BE THAT AN INDEPENDENT IN-HOUSE ARBITRATOR, SUBJECT
TO IN HOUSE REVIEW AND ONLY LIMITED JUDICIAL REVIEW, IS A HORE
EFFICIENT, REASONABLE, INTELLIGENT WAY TO RESOLVE EMPLOYER-
EMPLOYEE DISPUTES? IF IT IS, THEN WE SHOULD ALTER THE CIVIL
RIGHTS LAWS AND THE LABOR LAWS TO IMPOSE ON THE REST OF THZ
COUNTRY THE SAME PROCEDURES CONGRESS IS WILLING TO SUBJEC1 ITSELF
TO. IF CONGRESSIONAL OFFICES ARE ROUTINELY IN VIOLATION C7 OSHA,
WHAT CREDIBILITY CAN WE HAVE MANDATING ONEROUS ADMINISTRATIVE AND
OTHER PENALTIES FOR PRIVATE SECTOR EMPLOYERS WHO HAVE OFFIIES AS
CROWDED AS OURS ARE?

THE WILLINGNESS OF CONGRESS TO FOLLOW THE LAWS IT PASSES
WILL BE EVIDENCE OF OUR RESPECT FOR AND CONNECTION TO THE
AMERICAN PEOPLE. CONGRESS SHOULD NOT BE A PRIVILEGED ELITI WHICH
FOLLOWS ITS OWN SET OF RULES. THE PEOPLE WILL CONTINUE TC SEE US
AS OUT OF TOUCH IF THAT'S THE ROUTE CONGRESS CHOOSES.

WE NEED TO SWALLOW OUR OWN MEDICINE — LONG LAWSUITS "TTH
EXPENSIVE LAWYERS' METERS RUNNING AND THE UNFRIENDLY ATMOSPHERE
OF THE WITNESS STAND, AND ONEROUS ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTIES AND
PROCEEDINGS — OTHERWISE, STOP PRESCRIBING IT.

I WOULD LIKE TO SPEND A FEW MOMENTS ON ANOTHER SUBJECT. ONE
THAT WILL BE ADDRESSED IN MORE DETAIL WHEN THE JOINT COMMITTEE
CONSIDERS THE COMMITTEE SYSTEM. AS MEMBERS OF CONGRESS, WE ARE
CAUGHT ON THE HORNS OF A DILEMMA. ON ONE HAND, WE ARE EXPECTED
TO BE GENERALISTS, VOTING ON LEGISLATION RANGING FROM TAX LAWS TO
FOREIGN AFFAIRS TO AGRICULTURE POLICY. ON THE OTHER HAND, "«7E ARE
SUPPOSED TO GAIN EXPERTISE IN CERTAIN AREAS TO ENSURE
MANAGEABILITY OF THE LEGISLATIVE PROCESS AND TO MATCH THE LEVEL
OF EXPERTISE OF THE EXECUTIVE BRANCH AND THE INDEPENDENT AGENCIES
ON PARTICULAR ISSUES. WE ACHIEVE OUR EXPERTISE IN PARTICULAR
AREAS PRIMARILY THROUGH OUR SERVICE ON LEGISLATIVE COMMITTEES .

UNDER OUR CURRENT COMMITTEE SYSTEM, WITH A FEW NOTABLI
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EXCEPTIONS SUCH AS THE INTELLIGENCE COMMITTEES AND THE HOUSE
BUDGET COMMITTEE, MEMBERS GENERALLY SERVE FOR AS LONG AS THEY
WANT. THE COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS FREQUENTLY ALIGN WITH THE
ORGANIZATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES BY FEDERAL AGENCIES. AS A
RESULT OF FULFILLING THEIR OVERSIGHT RESPONSIBILITY, MEMBERS
BECOME INTIMATELY INVOLVED WITH OUTSIDE GROUPS WHOSE INTEREST IN
THE REGULATORY AGENCIES' TREATMENT OF OFTEN TECHNICAL SUBJECTS
GREATLY EXCEEDS THE GENERAL PUBLIC'S INTEREST. AGENCIES THEN
MAKE DECISIONS WITH A WATCHFUL EYE ON THE MEMBERSHIP OF THE
CONGRESSIONAL COMMITTEE, WHICH IS IN TURN AFFECTED BY THE
INTEREST GROUPS. THIS THREE-LEGGED GRIP ON POWER HAS BECOME
KNOWN AS THE IRON TRIANGLE.

TO ADDRESS THESE PROBLEMS, I INTRODUCED IN THE 102ND
CONGRESS A PROPOSAL TO LIMIT A MEMBER'S SERVICE ON COMMITTEES TO
EIGHT YEARS. THEY WOULD BE ELIGIBLE TO RETURN TO THAT COMMITTEE
AFTER SERVING ELSEWHERE FOR FOUR YEARS. ROTATION WOULD BE PHASED
IN SO AS TO PRESERVE A LEVEL OF CONTINUITY AND EXPERIENCE AMONG
MEMBERS. ADDITIONALLY, THE SERVICE OF COMMITTEE CHAIRMEN WOULD
BE LIMITED. I HAVE NOT YET RE-INTRODUCED THIS PROPOSAL IN THE
10 3RD CONGRESS BECAUSE I SEEK TO WORK WITH THIS IMPORTANT
COMMITTEE IN OUR MUTUAL ENDEAVOR TO REFORM CONGRESS. HOWEVER, I

MAY RE- INTRODUCE THE COMMITTEE TERM LIMIT PROPOSAL AT A LATER
DATE IF NECESSARY.

THERE ARE OTHER BENEFITS TO LIMITING COMMITTEE SERVICE AS
WELL. FIRST, WE COULD MORE EFFECTIVELY CONTROL WASTEFUL
SPENDING. TODAY, MANY MEMBERS SEEK COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS WHERE
THEY CAN INFLUENCE POLICY AREAS OF PARTICULAR IMPORTANCE TO THEIR
HOME STATES. IN THIS WAY, THEY CAN STEER FUNDING TO THEIR
CONSTITUENTS. IF MEMBERS HAD TO ROTATE THEIR SERVICE, IT WOULD
LIKELY IMPEDE THEIR ABILITY TO SHIFT PORK BARREL SPENDING TO
THEIR OWN STATES. INSTEAD, SPENDING WOULD BE BASED ON THE
NATIONAL INTEREST, RATHER THAN THE CLOUT OR LONGEVITY OF A
PARTICULAR MEMBER.

SECOND, BY MOVING TO DIFFERENT COMMITTEES, MEMBERS WOULD
GAIN EXPERTISE IN MANY DIFFERENT AREAS OF POLICY, RATHER THAN
ONLY A FEW. THIS WOULD ALLOW MEMBERS TO APPROACH PROBLEMS WITH
INSIGHTS FROM OTHER AREAS THAT THEY CAN SHARE IN A VARIETY OF
ASSIGNMENTS. AND BY HAVING KNOWLEDGE REGARDING A LARGER NUMBER
OF PUBLIC POLICY AREAS, MEMBERS WILL BECOME BETTER LEGISLATORS.
A MEMBER KNOWS LITTLE MORE ABOUT A COMMITTEE'S DOMAIN AFTER 20

YEARS ON A COMMITTEE THAN HE OR SHE KNEW AFTER EIGHT.

IN THE ATMOSPHERE OF DISTRUST, DISILLUSIONMENT, AND DISGUST
THAT THE PUBLIC TODAY FEELS TOWARD CONGRESS, MANY CITIZENS HAVE
DECIDED THAT THEY FAVOR TERM LIMITS ON CONGRESSIONAL SERVICE. I

BELIEVE THAT TERM LIMITS ON COMMITTEE SERVICE WILL GO A LONG WAY
TOWARD MEETING THE CONCERNS THAT LED TO THE TERM LIMITATION
MOVEMENT .
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THE RELATIONSHIPS AMONG COMMITTEES, AGENCIES, AND SPECIAL
INTEREST 3ROUPS IS ONE OF THE MOST EFFECTIVE WAYS INCUMBENTS CAN
ENTRENCH THEMSELVES IN CONGRESS. IN THAT WAY, LEGISLATORS OFTEN
COME TO REPRESENT SPECIAL INTERESTS MORE AND MORE, AND THE PUBLIC
INTEREST LESS AND LESS. TERM LIMITS ON COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS
WILL HELP INSURE THE PUBLIC INTEREST IS BETTER SERVED.

AGAIN, MR. CHAIRMAN, I APPRECIATE THE OPPORTUNITY TO OFFER
MY VIEWS, AND I WOULD WELCOME ANY FUTURE OPPORTUNITY TO TESTIFY
ON OTHER SPECIFIC SUBJECT AREAS YOU WILL BE TACKLING, SUCH AS THE
BUDGET PROCESS, THE COMMITTEE SYSTEM, ENHANCING PUBLIC
UNDERSTANDING, AND STAFFING. I WILL BE PLEASED TO ANSWER ANY
QUESTIONS.
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STATEMENT OF SENATOR DAN COATS

BEFORE THE JOINT COMMITTEE ON THE

ORGANIZATION OF CONGRESS

MR. CHAIRMAN. I APPRECIATE THE OPPORTUNITY TO TESTIFY BEFORE

THIS COMMITTEE ON THE ISSUE OF REFORMING CONGRESS. I BELIEVE IT

IS ESSENTIAL THAT WE IDENTIFY THE PROBLEMS THAT MAKE CONGRESS

LESS EFFECTIVE THAN IT SHOULD BE AND TARGET OUR EFFORTS AT THOSE

AREAS WHERE REFORM WILL BE MOST MEANINGFUL.

DURING THE LAST CONGRESS, I INTRODUCED A REFORM PACKAGE

WHICH I BELIEVE ADDRESSED SEVERAL OF THE MORE PRESSING PROBLEMS

FACING CONGRESS — PROBLEMS THAT HAVE CULMINATED IN THE AMERICAN

PUBLIC'S LACK OF TRUST IN ITS INSTITUTIONS OF GOVERNMENT. ONE OF

THE BILLS INCLUDED IN THIS PACKAGE WOULD HAVE RESTRICTED

CONGRESS'S ABILITY TO RAISE ITS OWN PAY. THE 27TH AMENDMENT TO

THE CONSTITUTION, ALSO KNOWN AS THE MADISON AMENDMENT, WAS

FINALLY RATIFIED LAST YEAR — MORE THAN 200 YEARS AFTER PASSING

CONGRESS. AS YOU KNOW, THE AMENDMENT BARS A CONGRESSIONAL PAY

INCREASE FROM TAKING EFFECT UNTIL AFTER AN INTERVENING ELECTION,

THUS ENDING THE MIDNIGHT PAY RAISES AND LACK OF ACCOUNTABILITY TO

THE AMERICAN PEOPLE.

ANOTHER ELEMENT OF MY REFORM PACKAGE INCLUDED A MEASURE TO

APPLY THE LAWS OF THE LAND TO CONGRESS. AS LEGISLATORS, WE

CANNOT EXPECT AMERICANS TO RESPECT AND ABIDE BY THE LAW WHEN WE

PLACE OURSELVES BEYOND ITS SCOPE.
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IN THE COURSE OF LAST WEEK'S HEARINGS, SENATOR BOREN,

CHAIRMAN OF THIS COMMITTEE, RAISED THE ISSUE OF REFORMING THE

SENATE SELECT COMMITTEE ON ETHICS. MY BILL WOULD ABOLISH THE

ETHICS COMMITTEE AND ESTABLISH AN INDEPENDENT COMMISSION. THIS

COMMISSION WOULD HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO APPOINT AN INDEPENDENT

COUNSEL TO INVESTIGATE ALLEGATIONS OF MISCONDUCT AGAINST MEMBERS

OF THE SENATE. I HAVE REINTRODUCED THIS LEGISLATION BECAUSE I

BELIEVE IT SHOULD BE CLEAR TO ALL OF US, AS IT IS TO THE AMERICAN

PEOPLE, THAT CONGRESS IS INCAPABLE OF POLICING ITSELF. ONLY A

NON-PARTISAN OUTSIDER CAN CREDIBLY ENFORCE THE ETHICAL AND LEGAL

STANDARDS THAT AMERICANS EXPECT.

FINALLY, THE FOURTH ELEMENT OF MY REFORM PACKAGE WAS A

MEASURE CALLING FOR A CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENT TO LIMIT THE

NUMBER OF TERMS A MEMBER OF CONGRESS MAY SERVE. I HAVE

REINTRODUCED THIS LEGISLATION, AS WELL. TERM LIMITS IS THE HEART

OF TRUE CONGRESSIONAL REFORM. AMERICANS NOT ONLY WANT THEIR

REPRESENTATIVES TO BE MORE ACCOUNTABLE TO THE LAW, THEY WANT THEM

TO BE MORE ACCOUNTABLE TO THE PEOPLE. THE OVERWHELMING PASSAGE

OF TERM LIMIT INITIATIVES IN THE FOURTEEN STATES IN WHICH THEY

WERE ON THE BALLOT IN NOVEMBER IS A CLEAR INDICATION OF A GROWING

NATIONAL MOVEMENT. INDEED, AMERICANS FAVOR LIMITING THE TERMS OF

THEIR ELECTED OFFICIALS BY A MARGIN OF TWO TO ONE.

I BELIEVE THAT REAL CONGRESSIONAL REFORM WILL ENABLE US AS

LEGISLATORS TO CONCENTRATE ON MATTERS OF NATIONAL IMPORTANCE

INSTEAD OF REBUILDING THE IMAGE OF CONGRESS, AND I LOOK FORWARD

TO WORKING WITH THE JOINT COMMITTEE IN IMPLEMENTING SUCH REFORM

AND RESTORING THE PUBLIC TRUST IN GOVERNMENT.
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STATEMENT OF SENATOR DON NICKLES
The Joint Committee on the Organization of Congress

February 2, 1 993

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to present my views

to the Joint Commitee on the Organization of Congress on a matter I

believe should be a component of any reform efforts proposed by

this committee. Last year, I along with several of my colleagues

introduced legislation intended to eliminate the double standard

which presently exists for the Congress and the Executive Branch in

certain labor, civil rights and health and safety laws it has passed in

the last fifty years.

Traditionally, Congress has exempted itself from civil rights,

health, safety and many other labor laws which have been applied to

the private sector as well as the Federal executive and judicial

branch. This idea that Congress should not impose laws on the

Nation that it will not live under itself is not a new one. A quote by

James Madison in the Federalist Papers clearly states this:

"Congress can make no law which will not have its full operation on

themselves and their friends, as well as on the great mass of

society."

During consideration of the Civil Rights Act of 1 991 ,
I offered an

amendment which would have made Congress and its

instrumentalities subject to all regulations and remedies contained in

the following laws: the National Labor Relations Act of 1935, Fair

Labor Standards Act of 1938, Equal Pay Act of 1963, Civil Rights Act
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of 1964, Age Discrimination Act of 1967 and amendments of 1975,

Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, Equal Employment

Opportunity Act of 1972, Rehabilitation Act of 1973, American with

Disabilities Act of 1 990. In amendment form, this legislation received

thirty-eight votes last Congress and I believe with the influx of new

members calling for change, this legislation can pass. Later, I

introduced the amendment as a free-standing bill, the Congressional

and Presidential Accountability Act.

Since my first efforts on the Civil Rights Act of 1991 and the

efforts of those before me on this issue, we have made some

progress. With the adoption of the Civil Rights Act of 1991 and the

establishment of a bi-partisan task force to study the problem of

Congress living under the laws it enacts, we have taken a step in the

right direction. However, I simply do not believe Congress has gone

far enough in making sure Congress lives under the same laws as

everyone else. I want to ensure that the task force is not just window

dressing.

My colleagues and I recognize that this legislation is not perfect.

This legislation represents a starting point for the task force to begin

its deliberations. I introduced this legislation hoping that the task

force and this committee on congressional reform can use it to reach

a consensus on our ultimate objective
- Congress living under the

laws it enacts for the rest of the American people.

A clear ultimatum was issued in the general election ...Congress
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must lead by example and not by exemption. If we are going to

impose these standards, remedies, and procedures on Federal

agencies, State and local governments and the private sector, we

must impose them on ourselves.

If business or private individuals runs afoul of any of the laws

listed in my bill, they face endless bureaucratic headaches and

federal court litigation. Congress has exempted itself from the above

mentioned laws completely or has limited redress to be determined

by only an internal mechanism with no right to judicial appeal. Would

we allow major corporations to set up their own rules for dealing with

complaints under these laws? The answer is obviously, NO.

Congress must no longer tell the American public that we are

exempt from the laws which we pass in this chamber everyday.

Therefore, i encourage my this committee to consider this important

piece of legislation as a component of a comprehensive

Congressional reform package.

I ask that a copy of my legislation S. 1 03, The Congressional

and Presidential Accountability Act, introduced by myself and Senator

Kassebaum be inserted into the record at this point.
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February 3, 1993

The Honorable Pete Domenici
, -. t-tti -a r^

joint Committee on the Organization
of Congress

427 Dirksen Senate Office Building

Washington, D.C. 20510

Dear Senator Domenici:

xn testimony before the Joint Committee yesterday -Senator Brown

stated that Sente rules prohibit the inclusion ui a ^
actional, or minority views in reports accompanying

appropriations bills.

The provisions of Senate rule XXVI, P^agraph 10, subparagraph

(c) do not require that the Committee on Appropr"t ions allow to

supplemental, additional, or minority views, but there is no

prohibition against the Committee doingso_
while the pract

is not encouraged, on occasion such
y
iew*J^ been inc ludea.

For example, you asked for additional ^ .

el v ^ / CTS
fiscal year 1986 Interior appropriations bill, and tnose vie

were included in Senate report 99-141.

I respectfully request that the Joint Committee's record relative

to this matter be corrected.

Keith Kennedy
Minority Staff Director
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